

## Annu Näkki

# Search for Susceptibility Genes in Osteoarthritis



#### Annu Näkki

## SEARCH FOR SUSCEPTIBILITY GENES IN OSTEOARTHRITIS

#### ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be presented with the permission of the Medical Faculty, University of Helsinki, for public examination in Lecture Hall 3, Biomedicum Helsinki, on March 23, 2012, at 12.00.

Institute for Molecular Medicine Finland FIMM, University of Helsinki

Department of Public Health, University of Helsinki

Department of Medical Genetics, University of Helsinki

Public Health Genomics Unit, National Institute for Health and Welfare

Helsinki 2012



© Annu Näkki and National Institute for Health and Welfare

Cover image modified from "Old friends" by Kevin Dooley under Creative Commons license: http://www.flickr.com/photos/pagedooley/3631795699/

ISBN 978-952-245-614-4 (printed), ISBN 978-952-245-615-1 (pdf) ISSN 1798-0054 (printed), ISSN 1798-0062 (pdf)

Juvenes print - Tampereen Yliopistopaino Oy Tampere, Finland 2012

#### Supervised by

Docent Janna Saarela Institute for Molecular Medicine Finland FIMM University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

and

Professor Urho Kujala Department of Health Sciences University of Jyväskylä Jyväskylä, Finland

Reviewed by

Professor Yrjö T. Konttinen Institute of Clinical Medicine University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

and

Docent Maija Wessman Folkhälsan Institute of Genetics Folkhälsan Research Center Helsinki, Finland

Opponent Professor Jaro Karppinen Department of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine Institute of Clinical Medicine University of Oulu Oulu, Finland and Health and Work Ability, and Disability Prevention Centre Finnish Institute of Occupational Health Oulu, Finland

"It's not that I'm so smart, it's just that I stay with problems longer." - Albert Einstein –

Omistettu Papalle

Annu Näkki, Search for Susceptibility Genes in Osteoarthritis. National Institute for Health and Welfare, Research 77/2012, 143 pages. Helsinki Finland 2012. ISBN 978-952-245-614-4 (printed), ISBN 978-952-245-615-1 (pdf)

## ABSTRACT

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a complex disease characterized by the destruction of the articular cartilage of the joints. The main symptoms are pain and disability, caused most probably by secondary synovitis. Secondary manifestations of OA are considered to be bone changes, osteophytes, subchondral sclerosis, and bone cysts. The suspected risk factors for OA include genetic predisposition, gender (greater in females), old age, obesity (also in non-weight-bearing joints), previous injury and various physical loading conditions. Prevalence of the disease varies between approximately 8 % and 60 %, dependent on the joint, but also largely on the age of study subjects, the population and OA definition. The disease affects the cartilage, bone, and synovium, but the etiology is still mainly unknown. Even the initiating events and tissue are unknown, but mechanical wear and tear is considered as the prime candidate for the root cause of the disease.

The role of the genetic component in common skeletal diseases is well established but remains poorly understood. Heritability of hand and knee OA in women has been shown to range from 39 % to 65 %. Previous association studies have provided some evidence for genes affecting bone density, inflammation, composition and break down of the extracellular matrix. However, these results have been inconsistent.

The objective of the present study was to identify predisposing genes for OA using single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) markers. The study consisted of hand, knee and hip OA cases (n = 1466) and controls (n = 4475). A set of 25 candidate genes were studied in carefully selected case-control, family and twin settings.

The objective of Study I was to pinpoint an OA-predisposing gene at the 2q11.2 region, which has previously been linked with hand OA using partially the same study sample (Leppävuori *et al.* 1999). In total 32 SNPs were genotyped in this region comprising 6 genes belonging to the interleukin 1 super-family. *IL1R1* was associated with hand OA (p = 0.00091, with a significance threshold of p = 0.0021).

The aim of Study II was to identify genetic variants in *MMP8* and *MMP9* genes that predispose to OA. Five different study cohorts including 1369 OA cases and 4445 controls were studied. Evidence for the role of *MMP8* in knee OA was observed in one study sample (p = 0.0049, with a significance threshold of 0.0057) without statistically significant replication. The main association finding was found in the

Finnish study sample for knee OA, while a similar tendency was observed in both the knee OA study sample of Spanish origin, and the hand OA sample of Finnish origin.

The aim of Study III was to identify variants predisposing to hip OA from a preselected set of 25 biologically interesting candidate genes. Hips of the study subjects had been analyzed using magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Variants in the *COL9A2* and *COL10A1* genes showed suggestive association (p = 0.0021 and p = 0.0015, with significance threshold of 0.00073). The change in the same codon of the *COL9A2* has previously been shown to associate with a disc degeneration phenotype (Videman *et al.* 2009).

In conclusion, the results of this thesis support the theory that inflammatory factors, cartilage breaking factors and originally poor quality of collagen associate with OA. Validation of all these results in larger study populations with more accurate genetic analysis are still needed for any further conclusions.

Key words: osteoarthritis, gene, association, matrix metalloproteinase 8, interleukin 1 receptor 1, type IX collagen alpha 2

Annu Näkki, Search for Susceptibility Genes in Osteoarthritis [Väitöstutkimus nivelrikolle altistavista geeneistä]. Terveyden ja hyvinvoinnin laitos (THL) Tutkimus 77/2012, 143 sivua. Helsinki 2012. ISBN 978-952-245-614-4 (painettu), ISBN 978-952-245-615-1 (pdf)

## TIIVISTELMÄ

Nivelrikko on monitekijäinen nivelruston rappeumasairaus. Sen pääasialliset oireet ovat todennäköisesti sekundaarisen synoviitin aiheuttamat kipu ja toiminnalliset nivelvaivat. Luunmuutoksia, osteofyyttejä, rustonalaisen luun skleroosia ja kystia pidetään sekundaarisina muutoksina. Perintötekijät, naissukupuoli, ikä, lihavuus (myös nivelissä, jotka eivät kuormitu painon vuoksi), aiemmat nivelvammat ja erilaiset fyysiset kuormitukset ovat nivelrikon riskitekijöitä. Taudin yleisyys vaihtelee 8 ja 60 %:n välillä riippuen tutkittavasta nivelestä, ikäryhmästä, väestöstä ja nivelrikon määritelmästä. Tauti vaikuttaa rustoon, luuhun ja nivelkalvoon, mutta taudin etiologia on vielä tuntematon. Jopa taudin alulle panevia tapahtumia tai varhaisia kudosmuutoksia ei vielä tunneta, mutta mekaanista kulutusta pidetään yhtenä tärkeimpänä tekijänä taudin synnyssä.

Geneettisten tekijöiden merkitys tuki- ja liikuntaelinsairauksissa on yleisesti tunnustettu, mutta huonosti ymmärretty. Geneettiset tekijät selittävät käsi- ja polvinivelrikosta 39 - 65 %. Aiemmat assosiaatiotutkimukset ovat osoittaneet luun tiheyteen, tulehdukseen, ruston koostumukseen ja hajotukseen liittyvien geenien vaikuttavan nivelrikkoon, mutta useat tulokset ovat edelleen ristiriitaisia.

Tämän väitöskirjatyön tavoitteena oli tunnistaa nivelrikolle altistavia geenejä. Tutkimus koostui käden, polven ja lonkan nivelrikkoa sairastavista henkilöistä (n = 1466) sekä näiden verrokkihenkilöistä (n = 4475). Yhteensä 25 ennalta valittua ehdokasgeeniä tutkittiin tarkoin valituissa tapaus-verrokki-, perhe- sekä kaksosasetelmissa.

Ensimmäisen tutkimuksen tavoitteena oli osoittaa kromosomialueelta 2q11.2 nivelrikolle altistava geeni. Alueen oli aiemmassa suomalaistutkimuksessa havaittu kytkeytyvän käden nivelrikkoon aineistossa, joka oli osittain päällekkäinen tämän tutkimuksen aineiston kanssa (Leppävuori *et al.* 1999). Yhteensä 32 SNPiä (yhden emäksen polymorfioita) analysoitiin tältä kuusi interleukiiniperheen geeniä sisältävältä alueelta. *IL1R1*-geenin todettiin assosioituvan käden nivelrikkoon (p = 0.00091, kun merkitsevyysraja oli p = 0.0021).

Toisessa tutkimuksessa syvennyttiin matriksi metalloproteinaasi 8 (*MMP8*) ja matriksi metalloproteinaasi 9 (*MMP9*) -geeneihin polven nivelrikossa. Tutkimuksessa käytettiin viittä eri tutkimusaineistoa, jotka sisälsivät 1369 nivelrikkoa sairastavaa and 4445 tervettä verrokkia. Näiden avulla löydettiin assosiaatio *MMP8*-geeniin (p = 0.0049, kun merkitsevyysraja oli 0.0057), mutta löydös ei toistunut muissa aineistoissa tilastollisesti merkittävällä tasolla. Päälöydös

tehtiin suomalaisessa polven nivelrikkoaineistossa, mutta myös suomalainen käden nivelrikkoaineisto ja espanjalainen polven nivelrikkoaineisto näyttivät samansuuntaista tulosta.

Kolmannen osatyön tavoitteena oli tutkia nivelrikolle altistavia variantteja 25:stä biologisen merkityksensä vuoksi valitusta ehdokasgeenistä. ennalta Tutkimushenkilöiden lonkkanivelet magneettisella oli analysoitu resonanssikuvantamisella (MRI). Kaksi varianttia, geeneissä kollageeni 9 alfa 2 sekä kollageeni 10 alfa 1 (COL10A1), näyttivät altistavan lonkan (COL9A2)nivelrikolle (p = 0.0021 and p = 0.0015, kun merkitsevyysraja oli 0.00073). Tulos ei ollut tilastollisesti merkitsevä. Saman kodonin muutoksen COL9A2-geenissä on aiemmin todettu altistavan selän välilevyrappeumalle (Videman et al. 2009).

Yhteenvetona voidaan todeta, että tämän väitöskirjatyön tulokset tukevat aiempaa teoriaa siitä, että tulehdukselliset ja rustoa hajottavat tekijät sekä jo alun alkaen huonolaatuinen kollageeni altistavat nivelrikolle. Nämä tulokset on kuitenkin validoitava laajemmissa aineistoissa ja geneettisiä analyysejä on tarkennettava varmempien johtopäätösten tekemiseksi.

Asiasanat: nivelrikko, geeni, assosiaatio, matriksi metalloproteinaasi 8, interleukiini 1 reseptori 1, tyypin IX kollageeni alfa 2

## **CONTENTS**

ABBREVIATIONS1				
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS4				
1	INTROD	DUCTION	.5	
2	REVIEV	V OF THE LITERATURE	.7	
	2.1 Gen	e mapping of complex diseases	.7	
	2.1.1	Variation in the genome	7	
	2.1.2	Heritability	7	
	2.1.3	Linkage disequilibrium between markers and the HapMap project	8	
	2.1.4	The 1000 Genomes Project	8	
	2.1.5	Association analysis	9	
	2.1.6	Linkage analysis	9	
	2.1.7	Linkage vs. association	10	
	2.1.8	Genome-wide strategy	10	
	2.1.9	Challenges in gene mapping	12	
	2.2 Ost	eoarthritis	19	
	2.2.1	Symptoms	20	
	2.2.2	Kellgren and Lawrence classification	20	
	2.2.3	Heritability and prevalence	21	
	2.2.4	Risk factors predisposing to osteoarthritis	21	
	2.2.5	Joint and cartilage	23	
	2.2.6	Osteoarthritic changes in the joint	26	
	2.2.7	Medical treatment	31	
	2.2.8	Physical activity	32	
	2.3 Gen	etic studies of OA	33	
	2.3.1	Genome-wide association studies in OA	34	
	2.3.2	Genome-wide linkage studies in OA	37	
	2.3.3	Candidate gene studies in OA	40	
	2.3.4	Biomarkers and expression studies	44	
3	AIMS	4	<b>16</b>	
4	MATER	IALS AND METHODS	<b>1</b> 7	
	4.1 Stud	ly samples	47	
	4.1.1	Cases	49	

	4.1.2	Controls	51
	4.2 Marker selection and genotyping		
	4.2.1	Marker selection	
	4.2.2	DNA extraction and genotyping of the study samples	
	4.3 Sta	tistical analyses	56
	4.3.1	Heritability	
	4.3.2	Statistical power	
	4.3.3	Gene tagging	
	4.3.4	Correction for multiple testing	
	4.3.5	Association analysis	
5	RESUL	TS AND DISCUSSION	59
	5.1 <i>IL</i>	IRI associated with hand OA (I)	59
	5.1.1	Significant association with SNP rs2287047	
	5.1.2	Haplotype tagged by rs1465325 associated with hand OA	60
	5.1.3	Power in the knee OA sample	
	5.1.4	The role of <i>IL1R1</i> in OA	
	5.2 MM	MP8 associated with knee OA	66
	5.2.1	Significant SNP association with only one study sample	
	5.2.2	MMP8 region is in one LD block	67
	5.2.3	The role of MMP8 in OA	
	5.3 CO	DL9A2 and COL10A1 in hip OA	
	5.3.1	Suggestive evidence for association	
	5.3.2	The role of COL9A2 and COL10A1 in OA	73
5.4 Limitations of the study			
	5.4.1	Sample size	76
	5.4.2	Phenotyping	76
	5.4.3	Gene coverage	77
	5.4.4	Studied population	77
	5.4.5	Lack of replication	77
	5.4.6	Statistical significance of the findings	
	5.4.7	Biological meaning of the findings	
6	Conci	LUSIONS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS	79
7	ACKNO	OWLEDGEMENTS	82
8	ELECT	RONIC DATABASES	85
9	Refer	ENCES	87
ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS			

## **ABBREVIATIONS**

A2BP1	Ataxin-2 binding protein 1
ACAN AGC1	aggrecan
ADAM	a disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain-containing protein family
ADAM12	ADAM metallopeptidase domain 12
ADAMTS4	ADAM metallopeptidase with thrombospondin type 1 motif 4
ADAMTS5	ADAM metallopeptidase with thrombospondin type 1 motif 5
ANP32A	acidic (leucine-rich) nuclear phosphoprotein 32 family, member A
Arg	arginine
ARHGAP25	Rho GTPase activating protein 25 isoform a
ASPN	asporin
BCAP29	B-cell receptor-associated protein 29
BMI	body mass index
BMPs	bone morphogenetic proteins
bp	base pair
BTNL2	butyrophilin-like 2 (MHC class II associated)
CALM1	calmodulin 1
CAPN7	calpain 7
CEP250	centrosomal protein 250 kDa
CEU	Utah residents with Northern and Western European ancestry from the
	CEPH collection
CI	confidence interval
CILP	cartilage intermediate layer protein
CMC	carpometacarpal
CNV	copy number variations
CNTNAP2	"contactin associated protein-like 2 gene
COG5	component of oligomeric golgi complex 5
COL1A1	type I collagen α1 chain
COL1A2	type I collagen α2 chain
COL2A1	type II collagen α1 chain
COL3A1	type III collagen α1 chain
COL5A1	type IV collagen α1 chain
COL6A4P1	collagen, type VI, alpha 4 pseudogene
COL9A1	type IX collagen α1 chain
COL9A2	type IX collagen α2 chain
COL9A3	type IX collagen α3 chain
COMP	cartilage oligomeric matrix protein
COX-2	cyclo-oxygenase-2
CPNE1	copine I
CRP	C-reactive protein
DD	disc degeneration
DIP	distal interphalangeal
DIO2	deiodinase, iodothyronine, type II
DIO3	deiodinase, iodothyronine, type III
DUS4L	dihydrouridine synthase 4-like (S. cerevisiae)
DVWA	double von Willebrand factor A domains
DZ	dizygote
ECM	extra cellular matrix

EDG2	endothelial differentiation gene 2
FRZB	frizzled-related protein
GDF5	growth and differentiation factor 5
GIST	genotype-IBD Sharing Test
Gln	glutamine
GOA	generalized OA
GPR22	G protein-coupled receptor 22
GWA	genome-wide association
GWL	genome-wide linkage
HA	hyaluronic acid, hyaluronan
HLA	human leukocyte antigen
HLA-DRA	major histocompatibility complex, class II, DR alpha
HLA-DRB1	major histocompatibility complex, class II, DR beta 1
HLA-DRB3	major histocompatibility complex, class II, DR beta 3
HLA-DRB4	major histocompatibility complex, class II, DR beta 4
HLA-DRB5	major histocompatibility complex, class II, DR beta 5
HLA-DOA1	major histocompatibility complex, class II, DQ alpha 1
HLA-DÕB1	major histocompatibility complex, class II. DO beta 1
hME	homogeneous MassEXTEND <sup>TM</sup>
HPB1	official name <i>PBRM1</i> , polybromo 1
hs-CRP	high sensitive C-reactive protein
HW	Hardy-Weinberg
HWE	Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium
IBD	identity by descent
IBS	identity by state
IGF1	insulin-like growth factor 1
IDH1	isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 (NADP+), soluble
<i>IL1A</i> , IL-1α,	interleukin 1a
IL1RAcP, IL1RAF	Pinterleukin 1 receptor accessory protein
<i>IL1B</i> , IL-1β,	interleukin 1ß
<i>IL1</i> , IL-1,	interleukin 1
IL6, IL-6	interleukin 6
IL8, IL-8	interleukin 8
ILIRI	interleukin 1 receptor 1
IL1RL1	interleukin 1 receptor-like 1
IL1RL2	interleukin 1 receptor-like 2
IL1RN	interleukin 1 receptor antagonist (corresponding protein IL-1ra)
IL4R	interleukin 4 receptor
iNOS, NOS2,	nitric oxide synthase cytokine-inducible
JNK	c-Jun N-terminal kinase, formed by JNK1 aka MAPK8, JNK2 and JNK3
JSN	ioint space narrowing
KL	Kellgren and Lawrence
LD	linkage disequilibrium
LOD	logarithm of odds
LRCH1	leucine-rich repeats and calponin homology (CH) domain containing 1
MAF	minor allele frequency
MALDI-TOF	matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight
MATN3	matrilin 3
Mb	mega base
MCF	mitochondrial carrier family
MCF2L	MCF.2 cell line derived transforming sequence-like

MCP	metacarpophalangeal joints
MMP1 MMP-1	matrix metalloproteinase 1
<i>MMP3</i> MMP-3	matrix metalloproteinase 3
MMP8 MMP-8	matrix metalloproteinase 8
MMP9 MMP-9	matrix metalloproteinase 9
MMP13 MMP-13	matrix metalloproteinase 13
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
MZ	monozygote
ΝFκB	nuclear factor kappa beta
NGF	nerve growth factor family
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
NRP2	neuropilin 2 gene
NSAIDs	non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
NTF3	neurotrophin 3
OA	osteoarthritis
OP	osteoporosis
OR	odds ratio
p38 MAPK	p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PGE2	prostaglandin E2
PIIANP	N-propeptide of collagen IIA
PIP	proximal interphalangeal
PLA2G4A	phospholipase A2, group IVA
PTGS2	prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2
PRKAR2B	protein kinase, cAMP-dependent, regulatory, type II, beta
RA	rheumatoid arthritis
RBFOX1	RNA binding protein, fox-1 homolog
SD	standard deviation
SLRP	small leucine-rich proteoglycan
SMAD	(combination of SMA and mothers against decapentaplegic)
SMAD3	SMAD family member 3
Smurf2	SMAD specific E3 ubiquitin protein ligase 2
SNP	single nucleotide polymorphism
SNPSpD	Single Nucleotide Polymorphism Spectral Decomposition
TDT	transmission disequilibrium test
TFAP2B	transcription factor AP-2 beta
<i>TGFB1</i> , TGF- β1	transforming growth factor beta 1
TIMP	tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase
TIP	thumb interphalangeal
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNFA, TNF-α	tumor necrosis factor $\alpha$
Trp	tryptophan
UOCC	ubiquinol-cytochrome c reductase complex chaperone
VDR	vitamin D receptor
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor
VNTR	variable number of tandem repeat
	1 L

## LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original articles referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I Näkki A\*, Kouhia S\*, Saarela J, Harilainen A, Tallroth K, Videman T, Battié MC, Kaprio J, Peltonen L, Kujala UM: Allelic variants of IL1R1 gene associate with severe hand osteoarthritis. *BMC Med Gen* 2010, 11:50.
- II Näkki A, Rodriguez-Fontela C, A Gonzalez, Harilainen A, Leino-Arjas P, Heliövaara M, Tallroth K, Videman T, Kaprio J, Peltonen L, Saarela J, Kujala UM: MMP8 gene implies a role in osteoarthritis. *Manuscript soon* to be submitted.
- III Näkki A, Videman T, Kujala UM, Suhonen M, Peltonen L, Battié MC, Kaprio J, Saarela J: Candidate gene association study of magnetic resonance imaging-based hip osteoarthritis (OA): Evidence for COL9A2 gene as a common predisposing factor for hip OA and lumbar disc degeneration. J Rheumatol 2011 38:747-52.
- \* These authors have contributed equally

The original publications have been reproduced with the kind permission of their copyright holders.

This doctoral thesis includes components from the author's Master's thesis (Näkki 2009).

# **1 INTRODUCTION**

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a degenerative joint disease with pain and disability as the main symptoms. The disease is common in the elderly, in fact it is so common that there seems to be a tendency towards thinking that aching joints are a part of normal aging, which to some extent may be true. However, OA changes in the joints represent wear and tear as a pathological process with heritable input. One theory behind the disease is that for some reason the cartilage of joints breaks down, and that the structural components of the cartilage initiate an auto-inflammatory reaction. This leads to a vicious circle of further degradation of the cartilage.

Even today the etiology of OA is mainly unknown. Researchers do not agree over where the disease originates; e.g. does it start from the cartilage of joints and progress to bone or vice versa. The complexity of the disease, with genetic and environmental factors acting together, the lack of knowledge on its etiology, and the usually slow disease progression, have made it difficult to develop diseasemodifying medication. Analgetics and anti-inflammatory drugs are the main treatment in this disease. A true knowledge of the biological mechanisms behind OA is needed for further drug development.

Based on twin studies, it seems that about half of the variation in the occurrence of OA is due to genetics and half is caused by environmental factors (Spector *et al.* 1996; Neame *et al.* 2004). Previous genetic studies have concentrated on collagens and cartilage matrix degrading factors, since the main visual change in OA is the breakdown of joint cartilage. This is composed, to a large extent, of collagens that are maintained by cycles of breaking down and repair by chondrocytes, the main cell type of cartilage. Lately it has become clearer that cell signalling and inflammation additionally play a role in the pathomechanisms.

One reason for this lack of understanding, is that studies of musculoskeletal diseases are not as well financed in many countries, as studies of life-threatening diseases. However, the societal costs for musculoskeletal diseases are high. In Finland, OA causes more than 600,000 doctor visits per year (Häkkinen *et al.* 2006) with OA surgery causing costs of 84 Million  $\in$  per year (Remes *et al.* 2007). Based on earlier studies (Mäkelä *et al.* 1993; Kiiskinen *et al.* 2005; Kaila-Kangas 2007), Heliövaara (2008) estimated the yearly costs of OA in Finland to be about 1000 Million  $\in$ , including the direct costs of hospitalization and indirect costs such as working disability. Medical studies of OA are therefore an important investment that could decrease the cost this disease causes to society. The final aim of the studies is to stop the irreversible destruction of joints, or more importantly prevent the chain of destructive events in the first place. Thus increase the quality of life of the patients, by lessening the pain this common disease causes to many of the elderly.

Exercise is one key element to keep the joints and the musculoskeletal system in good condition. This also affects the other way around, as functional joints are necessary for exercise, which in turn is vital to the prevention of many other common conditions, such as obesity, type II diabetes, and cardiovascular disease. A study by Nüesch *et al.* (2011) concluded that OA patients are at higher risk of death compared to the general population (standardized mortality ratio after 14 years of follow-up 1.55, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.41 - 1.70). This effect was not due to factors like obesity or joint surgery, but the major risk factor for health was walking disability combined with the history of diabetes, cancer, or cardiovascular disease.

Lately, increasing knowledge of the human genome, improvements of genotyping technologies, and reduced genotyping costs, have made it possible to perform high throughput gene mapping studies. It is already possible to sequence the whole human genome, and soon such protocol will be achievable in a reasonable cost and time frame. Unfortunately, the complexity of many diseases makes it difficult to solve the entire underlying genetic background. In many diseases even the largest genome-wide studies, with tens of thousands of individuals and well defined family samples, have left a large part of the known disease heritability as a mystery. In OA, many study samples still wait to be analyzed with the genome-wide platforms, and many new causative gene variants are waiting to be found.

The aim of this thesis work was to investigate the role of several candidate genes in different types of OA, using twin, family and case-control settings. The study was initiated before the understanding of what is now fundamental knowledge. For example, the segmented structure of DNA was only detailed later through the HapMap project. Additionally, since this field evolves fast, the study designs used changed during the study.

## **2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

## 2.1 Gene mapping of complex diseases

#### 2.1.1 Variation in the genome

Nearly the entire human genome,  $3.2x10^9$  base pairs, is similar in all humans. Only approximately 0.1 % of it differs between individuals. For the survival of a species living in a changing environment, the ability to develop changes in DNA over time is essential. Mutations can be advantageous, neutral or disease predisposing. Variation such as deletion, insertion, or substitution can occur in a single base pair or to larger segments of DNA. A single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) is a sequence variation affecting only one base pair. Microsatellite markers (short tandem repeats, short sequence repeat) are repeat sequences of a few bases per repeat ([CCA]n), while minisatellites consist of dozens of base pairs, and copy number variations (CNVs) up to thousands of base pairs. In the repeat sequences, the amounts of repeats can differ between individuals (Lander *et al.* 2001; Venter *et al.* 2001; The International HapMap Consortium 2005).

#### 2.1.2 Heritability

Heritability is defined as the proportion of phenotypic variability between individuals that is caused by genetic variance. Heritability is dependent on the population studied (Kempthorne *et al.* 1961). A trait with a high heritability, for example height, with a heritability of roughly 80 % indicates that 20 % can be attributed to environmental factors such as nutrition. (Silventoinen *et al.* 2003). Twins are usually studied for heritability estimates: on average monozygotic twins share 100 % and dizygotic twins 50 % of their genome. If both types of twins share their environmental factors, the monozygotic twins are more similar than dizygotic twins purely due to genetic factors (Kempthorne *et al.* 1961).

# 2.1.3 Linkage disequilibrium between markers and the HapMap project

Without the shuffling of recombination, all chromosomes would be inherited as a whole. Even if the chromosomes are under the mixing force of crossing over, markers close to each other are still more likely to be inherited together, and are therefore said to be in linkage disequilibrium (LD) with each other. An LD block can be considered as a region of low recombination, and the boundaries for these blocks have been shown to be similar across populations (Gabriel et al. 2002). The HapMap project was launched to determine the LD structure of the human genome. The idea was that an LD map of the whole genome would help geneticists to select relatively few informative tag SNPs for genotyping. A tag SNP would represent the surrounding region that is in high LD with it, and this SNP would therefore be the only one that needs to be genotyped in that specific region. All known variants in the region need not be genotyped in order to fully capture an LD block. In phase 1 of HapMap there were altogether 270 individuals with European, Nigerian, Japanese and Chinese backgrounds genotyped. The original goal was to genotype more than one million SNPs in these samples (The International HapMap Consortium 2003; 2005).

The LD blocks harbor different haplotypes, which are allele combinations of SNPs. Only about 3-5 common (> 5 %) haplotypes explain about 90 % of one LD block. Thus, it seems that only about 6-8 tag SNPs are needed to identify these different common haplotypes in one LD block (Gabriel *et al.* 2002).

The HapMap tag SNP method has been criticized over its ability to fully cover areas studied in the chromosomes. Some SNPs could be missed even when genotyping tag markers in high LD with them. Additionally, the LD structure might not be identical between case and control groups if one is looking at a functional SNP (Terwilliger *et al.* 2006).

#### 2.1.4 The 1000 Genomes Project

The aim of the 1000 Genomes Project, launched in 2008, was to sequence the genomes of 2,500 study subjects. Individuals of European, American, East Asian, South Asian and West African ancestry have been sequenced as part of the project (1000 Genomes, http://www.1000genomes.org/). The purpose is to gain deeper understanding of the human genome, especially the LD structure. The idea is to be able, in the future, to genotype one set of variants and impute the missing genotypes. Some basic information of the genome variation learned so far is that an individual differs from the reference sequence by 10,000-11,000 non-synonymous sites and by

10,000-12,000 synonymous sites. Each genome is heterozygous for 50-100 variants that cause inherited disorders. While new mutations occur in each individual with the rate of about  $1.0 \times 10^{-8}$  per base pair per generation (The 1000 Genomes Project Consortium 2010)

#### 2.1.5 Association analysis

Association analysis is a statistical test of the co-occurrence of an allele with a phenotype. Association is commonly studied in a case-control setting of unrelated subjects (Ott et al. 2011). Association analysis is usually performed with SNP markers since they are more common than any other variation type. On average, there is 1 SNPs per 1 kb in the human genome. SNPs are also favorable markers because new mutations are rarer than in the mutation-susceptible repeat sequences (The International HapMap Consortium 2003; 2005). In addition to the case-control setting association can be studied using the transmission disequilibrium test (TDT). This tests if heterozygous parents transmit a certain allele to diseased offspring more often than the other allele. However, it uses only heterozygous parental genotypes, and it only detects linkage in the presence of population level association (Spielman et al. 1993). Additionally, programs that are able to analyze sib-pairs, families, cases and controls jointly have been developed. The analysis is more powerful with family-based data, and one can utilize all possible samples with a program combining different data sets than with programs only utilizing specific family structures or only the case-control setting (Hiekkalinna et al. 2011a; Hiekkalinna et al. 2011b). Haplotypes can also be used in the association analysis. However in haplotype association tests, estimations of the haplotypes have to be made (Ott et al. 2011).

#### 2.1.6 Linkage analysis

Microsatellite markers have traditionally been used in linkage studies. They are more informative than SNPs since there are more alleles in microsatellite markers: Microsatellite markers are repeat sequences of different lengths whereas SNPs have typically only two alleles. Microsatellite markers are, however, rarer (Chapman *et al.* 1998). In linkage analysis it is possible to test if a chromosomal region cosegregates with the studied trait. Linkage analysis is based on the calculation of the recombination fraction ( $\theta$ , theta), which is the proportion of meiotic events in which two loci are separated by recombination. Two loci close together are unlikely to have been separated from each other by crossing over and their recombination fraction is usually close to 0 (complete linkage). Two loci physically far apart are more likely to have been separated from each other, and therefore their recombination fraction will be closer to 0.5 (no linkage). The  $\theta$  can be calculated by dividing the number of recombinant progeny by the total number progeny. In computerized analysis, the likelihood of the two loci being linked ( $\theta = 0$ ) and the likelihood that the two loci are not linked ( $\theta = 0.5$ ) is calculated. The ratio of these likelihoods is called the odds of linkage and its logarithm is called the logarithm of odds of linkage (LOD score). The LOD scores are estimated for different values of  $\theta$ , with the most likely value for  $\theta$  being the one that gives the highest LOD score. When many families are used, the LOD scores of all the families are summed, with the LOD scores of 3 and -2 being used as criteria for the presence or exclusion of linkage, respectively (Morton 1955; Ott 1991).

Linkage analysis can be non-parametric (model free analysis) or parametric. Parametric analysis is a powerful analysis method when the inheritance model of a disease is known. Unfortunately, the inheritance model in complex diseases is often unknown (Morton 1955; Ott 1991).

#### 2.1.7 Linkage vs. association

Linkage is a phenomenon of long chromosomal range whereas association has previously been used in narrowing a linkage finding to a smaller region. All humans have common ancestors if we go back far enough in time. Recombination over hundreds of years has made the shared chromosomal segments small between two randomly selected individuals. Population isolates are widely used in gene mapping studies with a common feature to them being their low immigration and emigration. Such isolates generally have a distribution over a relatively small area. One example of isolate linkage mapping is a type 2 diabetes study in Finnish population sub-isolate. A variant near the gene MODY3, on chromosome 12q24, was associated with the disease ( $p = 2x10^{-5}$ ) (Mahtani *et al.* 1996) which has previously been associated with early onset monogenic diabetes (Vaxillaire *et al.* 1995)

#### 2.1.8 Genome-wide strategy

Previously in disease mapping, biologically interesting candidate genes were selected as study targets. Today, GWA studies with about 600.000 SNP markers throughout the genome have become the standard way of performing gene mapping studies. Exome sequencing and whole-genome sequencing are now becoming more common. Many genome-wide studies have revealed remarkable results, such as finding of previously unknown gene loci for type 2 diabetes (Saxena *et al.* 2007; Sladek *et al.* 2007; Steinthorsdottir *et al.* 2007) discussed in the following chapter, since no prior knowledge of disease traits is needed opposite to candidate gene

studies. But then again for example, too sparse marker maps are one reason for failure in whole genome-wide studies.

#### Genome-wide linkage

Traditionally, genome-wide linkage analysis has been used to find susceptibility loci for disease. A few hundred microsatellite markers throughout the human genome are chosen, with a spacing of approximately 10 mega bases (Mb). This should cover approximately 50 % of the genetic variance in the genome when assuming that the used markers have a heterozygocity of 75 % (Kruglyak 1997). For population-based association studies the microsatellite marker maps are too sparse. Half of the LD blocks are shown to be 22 kb in length or larger in African and African-American populations, and 44 kb or larger in European populations. Thus only about 1 % of the genome would be covered in population-based studies with the microsatellite markers (Gabriel *et al.* 2002). Since the linked regions are usually large, familial genome-wide linkage analysis is often followed by fine-mapping and candidate gene studies in which biologically relevant genes from the linked regions are selected for denser mapping, as in the study by Leppävuori *et al.* (1999) and Study I of this thesis.

#### Genome-wide association

Improved technologies and statistical analysis methods, combined with decreased costs, have made it possible to conduct extensive genome-wide association (GWA) studies. Illumina, Inc. (2009) sells GWA chips covering over 1.1 million variants including CNVs. Whilst, Affymetrix, Inc. (2009) have a similar product with 1.8 million markers.

One well known success story of GWA is type 2 diabetes. In these studies, the types of genes found and confirmed to affect the disease would not have otherwise been studied, such as the "solute carrier family 30 (zinc transporter), member 8" gene (*SLC30A8*) ( $p = 6x10^{-8}$ ) (Saxena *et al.* 2007; Sladek *et al.* 2007) and the "CDK5 regulatory subunit associated protein 1-like 1" gene (*CDKAL1*) ( $p = 4.1 \times 10^{-11}$ ,  $p = 7.7x10^{-9}$ ) (Saxena *et al.* 2007; Steinthorsdottir *et al.* 2007).

It is accepted that disease predisposing variants found from case-control GWA studies have only low odds ratios for the studied trait, as was the case in the diabetes GWA findings. However, one could still argue that they provide important knowledge of disease etiology. Opponents claim that since the idea of the GWA is

based on the tag SNP method, the genome will not be fully covered and much will be missed in these studies (Terwilliger *et al.* 2006).

In conclusion, with hundreds of thousands of SNPs analyzed throughout the genome, no assumptions need to be made concerning the genomic location of causal variants, giving this method a major advantage over the candidate gene approach.

#### Whole-genome and exome sequencing

As part of the 1000 Genomes project (The 1000 Genomes Project Consortium 2011) whole-genome sequencing in complex diseases will reveal the entire base content of the human genome for the study subjects. The goal will then become the understanding of the role of the variants in humans, how they function in expression modification or even protein structure, which will be achieved with the help of other disciplines. As in other genotyping methods, sequence data quality and genome coverage are still challenges to be solved.

Today, exome-sequencing is in use for disease-mapping. As a proof-of-concept, Ng *et al.* (2009) sequenced four individuals suffering from a rare monogenic disease with a known causative gene (Freeman-Sheldon syndrome (FSS)) and eight HapMap individuals originating from three different population backgrounds as controls. The causative variant was found when the authors excluded all variants seen in the healthy individuals either in the study itself or in pre-existing SNP data bases. Only those genes in which all the affected individuals harbored a base mutation, either as an amino acid-changing or affecting exon-splicing, were included, but not necessarily the same variant in all cases.

Currently, the cost of sequencing one genome is \$ 10,000 but it is expected to decrease to 10 % of the current cost in the near future (Patterson 2011). Private companies already sell exome-sequencing to consumers for less than \$1000 (23andMe, Inc. Mountain View, CA, USA).

#### 2.1.9 Challenges in gene mapping

A positive finding could indicate a true biologically meaningful discovery, e.g. that a disease-causing or predisposing variant has been identified. However, a positive finding could be caused by other factors as well. A variant in high LD with the predisposing one might have been found or the finding could have been made by chance. Similarly, although a negative finding can be caused by lack of relevance of the gene to the studied trait it can also be observed due to factors relating to the research frame, such as a statistically low-powered study, or phenotypic or genotypic heterogeneity.

#### **Population stratification**

One of the challenges is population stratification, which occurs when the study population contains genetically different subsets. For example, if controls are selected from Northern Finland and the cases from Southern Finland, the difference in allele frequencies between cases and controls could be due to normal genetic difference between people from different areas of Finland, and not due to the differing disease status between the people studied (Jakkula *et al.* 2008). The situation may also be problematic if individuals are closely related since the basic  $\chi^2$  association test assumes individuals to be unrelated (Ott 1991).

#### Multiple testing

Type 1 error is typically caused by performing large number of tests, thus increasing the probability of discovering positive results by chance. A Bonferroni correction for multiple testing is the most common and conservative method to account for the number of tests performed. However, the studied gene variants are most often in high LD with each other, and therefore the tests performed with these markers are not independent, as is assumed by the Bonferroni correction. The LD between the markers reduces the number of truly independent tests. One method that takes this LD into consideration is the SNP Spectral Decomposition (SpD) method used also in this thesis work (Nyholt 2004; Li *et al.* 2005). Nowadays, a p-value threshold for genome-wide significance is considered to be  $p < 5x10^{-8}$ , which equals a Bonferroni correction for one million tests.

#### Replications

One of the most important aspects of genetic findings is their reproducibility in other samples and other populations. In the case of familial mutations, such replication in another population will not be possible. However, for common disease-predisposing findings replication is the best way to validate the finding. This was the case in studies of type 2 diabetes, for example the finding in *SLC30A8* was replicated, which confirmed that the finding is real and not caused by chance after multiple tests or population stratification (Saxena *et al.* 2007; Sladek *et al.* 2007).

#### Power

The power to detect an association depends on the methods used, the type of markers, population history, the age of the mutation, the sample size, mode of inheritance, and the phenotypic heterogeneity of the study sample (Chapman *et al.* 1998). According to the GWA study by The Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium (2007) of seven common diseases in 14,000 cases and 3,000 shared controls, the odds ratios (OR) usually seen in common variants predisposing to complex diseases are between 1.2 - 1.5. This means that large sample sizes are needed to detect any effect and thus in many cases a negative finding does not exclude the role of a variant for a disease.

#### Gene coverage

When studying candidate genes, it is important to take into consideration how well all the genetic variance in a gene region is caught by the SNP panel genotyped. Even with statistically powerful sample sizes, negative findings cannot exclude the role of a gene if only a portion of the gene has been studied. The HapMap genotyping database is one tool for selecting tag SNPs for both candidate gene studies, as discussed earlier, (The International HapMap Consortium *et al.* 2003) and for GWA platforms. However, this has been criticized, since disease causing SNPs could be missed when only genotyping a tag marker in high LD with it (Terwilliger *et al.* 2006). This matter might be solved soon when whole-genome sequencing becomes more common.

#### Phenotyping

Besides careful planning of genotyping, one important aspect when planning, or interpreting, a study is the phenotyping. In many cases the studied trait is quantitative. Height is a good example of such a phenotype, and with a heritability of 80 % (Silventoinen *et al.* 2003) GWA studies have revealed several pathways affecting the trait, including genes in extracellular matrix and cancer traits ( $p < 5x10^{-5}$ ) (Weedon *et al.* 2008). Many complex diseases are spectrums of quantitative traits (**Figure 1**). When dividing a population into cases and controls, one cut-off makes some of the cases to be phenotypically close to controls, as shown in part "a" of **Figure 1**. This would be the case if height phenotype would be divided into two groups: short and non-short. For rare diseases the use of population controls does not seem to prevent the association finding, as was stated by the The Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium (2007).



**Figure 1.** *Many quantitative traits are dichotomized in genetic studies. a)* A cut-off between cases and controls lowers the statistical power. b) When selecting extreme phenotypes, the sample set can be used for only one study. *c)* Study of quantitative traits has statistically more power than dichotomous traits and one study sample can be used for studies of different phenotypes. Adapted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: Nature Reviews Genetics copyright 2009 (Plomin et al. 2009).

When using quantitative measurements, the phenotype will correspond to biology as closely as possible, and therefore the power to detect, for example linkage, has been shown to be superior when compared to dichotomized traits (Duggirala *et al.* 1997). With a population-based sample of quantitative traits, one can use the same cohort for studies of different phenotypes, which can point to a network of related quantitative traits.

Based on the discussed studies on phenotyping, it is obvious that there is a need for quantitative phenotyping in OA. In OA, the diagnosis is made by a clinician and is therefore qualitative, since the diagnosis is usually made in order to assess the patient's need for pain medication, surgery, sick leave etc. Biologically this cut-off is not always justified and creates a bias within the study. The disease is more of a progress from mild to a possibly severe stage of OA, including different tissues and different biological events during the progression, discussed later.

#### Common and rare variants behind diseases

Usually the genetic models behind diseases are unknown. A hot topic discussed in gene mapping is whether common variants, that probably only have small effect sizes, or rare variants with larger effect sizes should be studied (**Figure 2**).

In the case of severe, heritable, early-onset diseases, common predisposing variants should not even exist due to evolutionary selection, unless there has been recent strong environmental changes predisposing to the disease. As OA is a late onset disease linked with the immune system, it could be possible that variants predisposing to OA today have been and still are useful, for example in microbial resistance or in bone health, and have thus become common.

One way of looking at the issue is to ask, which way is statistically, technically and financially possible and smart. As discussed previously, in the recent GWA studies performed, most of the common disease susceptibility variants found have only had a small effect on the disease, thus large study samples have been needed. Whereas, variants of low frequency and small effect sizes will not be detectable by population association studies, since only a handful of people will carry the disease predisposing variants. Detecting these rare variants in families is also difficult, since only some of the family members will be affected, even if carrying the rare allele. Finding common disease predisposing variants is dependent on high-throughput genotyping of large sample sets. Finding rare variants requires sequencing of a large number of carefully chosen cases followed by functional studies on the identified candidate variants. This kind of study approach has been shown to work even with a

handful of samples, when the studied trait is severe enough not to be expected to be seen in a population (Ng *et al.* 2009).



**Figure 2.** Effect size vs. allele frequency. Brown color: Common variants are shown to have low effect in complex diseases (Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2007). Blue color: Rare alleles have been shown to cause Mendelian disorders such as the "RNA export mediator homolog (yeast)" gene (GLE1) causing lethal congenital contracture syndrome 1 (Nousiainen et al. 2008). Adapted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: Nature (Manolio et al. 2009) copyright 2009; Original image by McCarthy et al. (2008). Adapted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: Nature discussion from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: Nature Reviews Genetics, copyright 2008.

More importantly we should be asking, which way is biologically sensible to look for variants predisposing to common complex diseases. Based on the initial 1000 Genomes data (The 1000 Genomes Project Consortium 2010), it was concluded that a maximum third of complex trait associations are likely to be caused by common coding variation. Whilst the majority of the contribution of common variants in complex diseases is assumed to be regulatory in nature. Moreover, based on a recent study by Zhu *et al.* (2011) comparing the phenotypic effect of rare and common alleles, it seems that rare variants are more likely to be functional than the common ones. If an allele had a frequency of more than 10 % it was less likely to be located in functional genomic regions, compared to alleles with a frequency of less than 10 %. However, this phenomenon was only seen in the common situation where the

major allele is the ancestral allele and the minor allele is the derived allele. The authors concluded that variants that should be enriched for positive selection are actually common through genetic drift, not through positive selection. The main selective pressure is purifying selection and the main part of the functional variation in our genome is caused by mutation-selection balance.

These findings might lead the geneticists back to studying large families and isolates in which the disease predisposing alleles are more likely shared between phenotypically similar individuals, as opposed to population based cohorts.

#### Missing heritability

Recently, a lot has been discussed about missing heritability. This refers to the issue that so far in studies of complex diseases, even the most extensive GWA studies in several large population have only been able to explain a small proportion of the heritability that have been discovered through twin studies (Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2007). Thus rare, as yet unstudied, variants, rare Mendelian traits and well-genotyped families are promising candidates for future studies. All in all, it seems that different approaches are needed in order to solve the entire genetic background of complex diseases.

#### The complex nature of the challenges

There is a cross-link between the challenges of power and selecting a study population. When increasing the sample size for statistical power, one might also increase the allelic and phenotypic heterogeneity. As described by Terwilliger and Weiss (1998): "If there is substantial allelic heterogeneity then as one increases the sample size, the number of different disease-predisposing alleles (each with their own independent haplotype of nearby marker alleles) may likewise increase, and thus there may never be much power even with complete ascertainment of the entire human population." (Reprinted with permission from Elsevier Ltd, Copyright 1998).

Another cross-link is between power, in terms of selecting common enough markers, and the biological background of complex diseases. Common SNP markers have not fully explained the familiality of many diseases, which could mean that the rare variants play the major role in many diseases (Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2007). If this turns out to be the case, most of the meaningful markers have been selected out of GWA studies in order to gain statistical power.

The reality probably lies somewhere between these scenarios: GWA studies in large cohorts with many different traits have shown that there are common alleles that can be found, and some of the findings would not have been done if we only proceeded in an hypothesis based manner (Saxena *et al.* 2007; Sladek *et al.* 2007; Steinthorsdottir *et al.* 2007; Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2007).

Population sub-isolates will probably be the way to go during the next decade, since in isolates the genetic heterogeneity is smaller and thus it is likely that individuals with similar outcome share the same potentially rare genetic factors.

## 2.2 Osteoarthritis

OA is a degenerative joint disease common in the elderly. The disease affects the bone, cartilage and synovium (**Figure 3**).



**Figure 3.** Normal joint and joint with osteoarthritic changes (Free ClipArt 2009). The OA joint suffers from a loss of cartilage, bone changes, osteophytes, subchondral sclerosis and bone cysts. Synovitis, joint space narrowing and subchondral bone sclerosis are erroneously not shown in the figure. http://cksinfo.com/medicine/page2.html.

The etiology of the disease is, even today, not understood, but it is supposed that some unknown genetic factors play a role in its development. What is also known, is that OA can develop in an anatomically normal joint (primary OA), or in a joint suffering from injury, some other disease, or developmental defect such as congenital dislocation of the joint (secondary OA) (Pearson *et al.* 1962).

Autoimmune factors also play a role, linking the disease to other inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA). The heritability of radiographic hand and knee OA has been estimated to range between 39 % and 65 % (Spector *et al.* 1996; Neame *et al.* 2004).

#### 2.2.1 Symptoms

Based on the criteria set by The American College of Rheumatology, pain, aching, and stiffness are the main symptoms of OA. Stiffness in the morning might occur for 30 minutes and there might be a mild inflammatory swelling. In rheumatoid arthritis the symptoms resemble OA, but for instance, the swelling and morning stiffness are more severe and last longer in RA (Altman *et al.* 1990; Altman *et al.* 1991; Kawasaki *et al.* 1998).

#### 2.2.2 Kellgren and Lawrence classification

Diagnostics for OA have been discussed for a long time. Radiological classification of OA was invented by Kellgren and Lawrance (1957), and has been widely used ever since. The grading is between 0 and 4; 0 corresponding to a healthy joint and 4 corresponding to severe OA. The grading is based on visual x-ray observations of: ostophytes which could be described as formation of bony nodules; periarticular ossicles which are bone formations in an abnormal area of the joint; narrowing of the joint cartilage associated with sclerosis of the subchondral bone; small cystic areas with sclerotic wall situated usually in the subchondral bone; and altered shape of bone.

The controversy surrounding this classification is the relationship between the symptoms and the radiological assessment of this disease. The radiological changes are more common than the symptoms (see next chapter). The radiological changes predispose to the symptoms in the same joint. However, most people with the radiological changes do not have symptoms, such as pain and stiffness, at all. Moreover, patients suffering from pain in their spine can be totally normal in radiological grading (Lawrence *et al.* 1966).

#### 2.2.3 Heritability and prevalence

MacGregor *et al.* (2000) reported heritability of radiographic hip OA to be 58 - 64 % in a UK population cohort of women. Zhai *et al.* (2007) estimated the heritability of radiological knee OA to be 69 - 80 % in a population-based study with twins in the UK. Similar heritability estimates, made based on radiological hand OA examinations in UK women, ranged between 48 - 67 % for radiological phenotype (Livshits *et al.* 2007).

The prevalence of the most common OA types vary approximately between 6 % (Zhang *et al.* 2001) and 48 % (Haara *et al.* 2003) depending mostly on the joint, but also largely on the age of the study subjects, the population, and definition of OA.

Hand and knee OA are common whilst hip OA is rare. The prevalence of radiological hand OA was 44 - 48 % in the Finnish population over the age of 30 years (Haara *et al.* 2003), and 27 % for radiological knee OA in a study of subjects under the age of 70 years (Felson *et al.* 1987). However, the prevalence of radiologic hip OA was 8 %, when standardized for age and sex in an Icelandic population over 35 years of age (Ingvarsson *et al.* 1999).

Women tend to have more OA compared to men. For symptomatic knee OA the prevalence was 6 % in men and 15 % in women (Zhang *et al.* 2001). In the case of hip OA there seems to be little or no difference between the genders, being 12 % for men and 10 % for women, in the Icelandic study (Ingvarsson *et al.* 1999).

Symptomatic OA is rarer than radiographic. The prevalence of radiographic knee OA in a population aged 60 years or over, was 22 - 43 %, whilst for symptomatic knee OA the prevalence was 6 - 15 % (Zhang *et al.* 2001).

Age is a significant factor. The prevalence of radiological hip OA being 2 % among individuals between the ages of 35-39 years and 35 % among individuals over the age of 85 years (Ingvarsson *et al.* 1999).

#### 2.2.4 Risk factors predisposing to osteoarthritis

The most common known risk factors for OA are genetics factors, female sex, obesity, hard physical work, excessive repetitive motions, and previous joint trauma (Haara *et al.* 2003; Recnik *et al.* 2008).

#### Age and sex

Knee and hand OA prevalence is usually somewhat higher in females than in males (Zhang *et al.* 2001; Haara *et al.* 2003; Toivanen *et al.* 2010), which means that being female is a risk factor for OA. In a study by Toivanen *et al.* (2010), the odds ratio (OR) for OA in females was 1.7 (95 % confidence interval (CI) 1.0 - 3.1). OA is more common in older age groups than younger, with, for example, the OR for older age in hand OA being 1.8 (95 % CI 1.4 - 2.3) in the same study.

#### Obesity

One factor predisposing to OA is obesity. The role of obesity in non-weight bearing joints suggests a theory that systemic level pathways are playing a role in the disease. Muthuri *et al.* (2011) conducted a meta-analysis of 47 studies using 446,219 individuals originating from USA, Europe, Australia, North Africa, China, and Thailand, which are not individually discussed in the present thesis work. Obesity predisposed to knee OA with an overall odds ratio (OR) of 3.91 (95 % confidence interval (CI) 3.32 - 4.56), with all individual studies showing the same trend.

Furthermore, not only does obesity predispose to OA in weight bearing joints, but it also affects OA in non weight bearing joints, like the joints of the hands (Bagge *et al.* 1991; Cicuttini *et al.* 1996; Haara *et al.* 2003). A BMI of more than 35 kg/m<sup>2</sup> doubles the risk of hand OA, compaired to people with normal BMI (20.0 - 24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) (Haara *et al.* 2003). The prevalence of hand OA was found to especially increase in the presence of obesity, hypertension, and diabetes, mostly during younger age, in a cross-sectional study of a population based on 3585 individuals over the age of 55 years (Dahaghin *et al.* 2007). Additionally, it seems that the expression and protein levels of leptin produced by osteoblasts are increased in OA (Mutabaruka *et al.* 2010).

#### **Physical loading**

High work-related physical loading seems to have a negative effect on hand OA in women (Haara *et al.* 2003). Further, higher measured grip strength has been shown to predispose to PIP, MCP, and thumb base joint OA in men (Chaisson *et al.* 1999). It has even been shown that paralysis of hands protects from hand OA (Segal *et al.* 1998).

Similarly, many other studies show the unfavorable effect of too heavy loading in different joints. A study by Recnik *et al.* (2008) showed that an unfavorable

biomechanical constitution of the pelvis was associated with hip arthroplasty at younger age. While Toivanen *et al.* (2010) showed that the OR for knee OA, among individuals that are under heavy physical stress in their work, was 18.3 (95% CI 4.2 - 79.4), compared to the lightest physical stress category.

#### Traumatic injuries

Previous physical joint trauma is a well-known risk factor for OA. In the study by Toivanen *et al.* (2010) using the Mini-Finland Health Survey with Finnish participants, the odds ratio for knee OA was 5.1 (95 % CI 1.4 - 19.0) for previous knee trauma compared to a group without trauma. The part of the study examining the knee trauma was based on simple yes or no questionnaire.

#### 2.2.5 Joint and cartilage

In a synovial joint, both endings of the two bones are covered with cartilage, which moderates the effect of weight and impact bearing on the bones. The cartilage neither contains nerves nor blood or lymphatic vessels, consisting mostly of extracellular matrix (ECM). ECM is both generated and broken down by the chondrocytes that constitute 1 - 10 % of the cartilage volume. The area around chondrocytes can be divided into different structural components of proteoglycans, link proteins, and hyaluronic acid (hyaluronan, HA). The matrix is formed by proteoglycans, collagens, and water (Huber *et al.* 2000). Due to the avascular nature of the cartilage, the chondrocytes change their metabolites with the surrounding system through diffusion to and from synovial fluid. Some of the deeper areas can also get nutrients from the subchondral bone (Arkill *et al.* 2008).

Proteoglycans and collagens are responsible for the elasticity of the cartilage. Collagens form a net, which counteracts the swelling pressure of a gel formed by water and proteoglycans (**Figure 4**). Type II collagen is the most abundant collagen in cartilage, but other types of collagens, such as type IX, participate by stabilizing the net (Huber *et al.* 2000).


Figure 4. Type II collagen in different zones of articular cartilage and the organization of type II collagen, proteoglycans and chondrocytes in more detail. The collagen net can be divided into three zones, where the uppermost tangential zone has a horizontal collagen fiber orientation. The transitional zone has more mixed and the radial zone contains mostly vertical collagen fibers. The deepest part of the radial zone is formed by calcified cartilage (Huber et al. 2000). Figure adapted from Knee joint surgery, www.kneejointsurgery.com/html/articular\_cartilage/anatomy.html.

Proteoglycans are formed when glycosaminoglycan chains attached to a protein core. Aggrecans are the most abundant proteoglycans and they can bind to HA in part via a link protein (**Figure 5**) (Heinegård *et al.* 2011). Aggrecans are rich in chondroitin sulfate and keratin sulfate, which comprise both sulfate and carboxyl residues. These residues cause high negative charge density, called the fixed charge density, in the ECM. This negative charge attracts positive mobile  $Na^+$  ions that cause osmotic swelling pressure, and therefore draws water into the ECM. During loading, this balance is shifted, and some water is compressed out of the cartilage until a new balance is reached. When loading stops, the original balance is reached again as the water is absorbed back reinstalling the original water content. The ability of the cartilage to resist pressure is a complex system, which additionally includes characteristics such as electrostatic repulsion forces of the negative



residues, and friction between water and the ECM (Lai *et al.* 1991; Lu *et al.* 2008; Wang *et al.* 2008; Han *et al.* 2011).

**Figure 5.** The different cartilage molecules and chondocyte. Many non-collagenous proteins in cartilage attach, for example chondrocytes to collagen fibrils. Aggrecan is attached to hyaluronan via a link protein. Asporin, decorin, matrilins and cartilage oligomeric matrix protein are non-collagenous structural molecules of the cartilage (Heinegård et al. 2011). Adapted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: Nature Reviews Rheumatology copyright 2011.

Joint space is filled with synovial fluid. This decreases the friction between the moving bones, brings nutrients and oxygen to the cartilage, and transports metabolic waste away from the cartilage. Normally, the amount of synovial fluid in the knee joint is approximately 0.5 - 4.0 ml, under a pressure that is lower than normal atmospheric pressure (Kraus *et al.* 2007). Synovial fluid is produced from plasma by synoviocytes (fibroblast-like type B lining cells) (Wilkinson *et al.* 1992).

This joint structure is surrounded by both a joint capsule, which consists of an inner synovium containing blood vessels, lymphatics and nerves, and an outer fibrous lining and sub-lining membrane. These are then in turn enforced by ligaments and tendons that support the joint in its movements (Huber *et al.* 2000).

# 2.2.6 Osteoarthritic changes in the joint

Originally, OA was simply considered to represent a disease of mechanical joint wear, but nowadays it is known that an additonal complex molecular mechanism plays a role. According to one theory, OA represents an imbalance in the regenerative and degenerative processes of the cartilage. Nonetheless, even today it is not known if the disease starts from the cartilage and progresses to the bones, and other parts of the joint, or if this process occurs the reverse direction. Changes are seen in cartilage, bone, synovium and muscle as well as in motor programs and proprioception.

#### Cartilage

One basic feature of the disease progression is breakage of the cartilage ECM. Chodrocytes, are supposed to, at least in part, repair the damaged cartilage by first breaking down the damaged area, in order to subsequently repair it. At this point the cartilage might get thicker. In later stages, the repairing activity slows down and the volume of the cartilage decreases. The surfaces lose their smoothness, become fibrillated and fissures are formed. The factors that are breaking down the cartilage, e.g. collagenases, aggrecanases and other hydrolytic enzymes, are activated by cytokines, growth factors, inflammatory factors or mechanical factors. There are also factors inhibiting this breakdown. In OA, the subchondral bones of the bone endings get thicker, which might be caused by microfactures, due to excessive motion. The activity of bone forming cells called osteoblasts increases bone thickness. Resorption of the bone occurs as the result of ostephyte formation (Samuels *et al.* 2008; Martel-Pelletier *et al.* 2010).

Cartilage changes have been shown to be the initiating event in joint degeneration (Bennett *et al.* 1942). This finding has been later strengthened by, among others, Watters *et al.* (2007) who reported that mild cartilage damage precedes osteophyte development in the STR/Ort murine model. Meachim *et al.* (1965) concluded that the superficial layer of human articular cartilage is affected in aging, in a study performed using light microscopy. They showed that degenerative changes can occur in areas without fibrillation, changes described as fraying of the cartilage into long strands, causing lesions. They suggested that the other degenerative changes of the matrix precede the fibrillative changes. Later, among others, Kääb *et al.* (2003) showed, using rabbit knee joints, that the chondrocytes of the superficial layer are more affected than chondrocytes of the deeper layers, since their shape seems to change more under loading than the shape of the cells in deeper layers. Similarly, Chen *et al.* (2003) showed that the chondrocytes in the superficial layers of bovine

cartilage are in higher risk to die through necrosis than the ones in deeper zones, when predisposed to pressure. Type II collagen was degraded only in the superficial layer due to the loading and collagenase activity. Hollander *et al.* (1995) showed, similarly, in human articular cartilage samples that damage to the key component in articular cartilage, type II collagen, in aging and in OA joints occurs first in the upper mid zone, proceeding to the lower mid and deep zones with increasing degeneration, always starting around chondrocytes.

According to Lorenzo *et al.* (2004), cartilage goes through metabolic changes in very early stages of OA. The levels of non-collagenous molecules, like oligomeric matrix protein (COMP), fibronectin, and cartilage intermediate layer protein (CILP), were increased in cartilage during early OA when compared to both normal and late OA cartilage.

These findings suggest that the cartilage is affected first, with the bone changes occuring as a secondary phenomenon. However, larger systematic, proteomic, and expression studies at the molecular level are needed to confirm this hypothesis.

#### Inflammation and immune response

Originally, inflammation was thought to be a symptom of other joint diseases like RA. Today it is known that inflammation in synovial membranes is an important part of OA, even in moderate or mild disease stages. C-reactive protein (CRP) is slightly increased in knee OA patients (Spector *et al.* 1997). In patients undergoing joint replacement surgery, the inflammation occasionally even reaches the same level as in RA patients (Smith *et al.* 1997; Haywood *et al.* 2003). Inflammation probably also explains the discrepancy between symptoms and radiological findings.

Inflammation in the osteoarthritic synovium is associated with the production of proinflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin 1 alpha (IL-1 $\alpha$ ), interleukin 1 beta (IL-1 $\beta$ ), and tumor necrosis factor (TNF- $\alpha$ ) (Smith *et al.* 1997), and with the angiogenic growth factor called vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Haywood *et al.* 2003).

One promising theory connecting inflammation, cartilage breakdown and OA, is that the cartilage breakdown products might trigger auto-immune or auto-inflammatory reaction that further enhances the cartilage breakdown. Fibromodulin and other small leucine-rich proteoglycan (SLRP) family members can initiate the complement pathway (Sjöberg *et al.* 2005; Sjöberg *et al.* 2009). Many ECM proteins have been shown to act as antigens and form an immune complex (IC) with IgG in OA and RA joints, with their amount correlating with disease severity. Thus it is possible that the mechanical factors that damage ECM result in a proinflammatory reaction (Monach *et al.* 2009). Moreover, it seems that damaged ECM fragments can trigger inflammatory responses by acting as ligands for Toll-like receptors (TLR) found in chondrocytes. Chondrocytes can, potentially, produce proinflammatory and algogenic molecules, thus they might be the initial source of factors responsible for the secondary inflammatory reaction and pain in the synovium (Konttinen *et al.* 2012).

COMP, found in OA and RA synovial fluid, and suggested to be an OA biomarker (Saxne *et al.* 1992), can initiate the alternative complement pathway (Happonen *et al.* 2010). A recent extensive study by Wang *et al.* (2011) confirmed the role of complement in OA. The gene expression and protein levels of complement proteins were higher in OA than in both normal synovial fluid and synovium. One complement member, membrane attack complex (MAC), was detected in the synovium and around chondrocytes of end-stage OA joints. Knockout mice deficient for C5 and C6 complement members were less prone to develop OA than controls. While knockout mice deficient for complement inhibitor CD59a were more prone to develop the disease. The complement cascade either ends up killing the chondrocytes or stimulates the cells to produce inflammatory and matrix-degrading enzymes (Wang *et al.* 2011).

To conclude, inflammation seems to be an essential element in OA. The complement pathway might be one of the key elements and the TLR-equipped chondrocytes might be the initiating cell-type in this process.

#### Obesity

Obesity is a significant risk factor for all OA types, with inflammation a part of the disease. Adipokines are one of the key regulators in OA (Koskinen *et al.* 2011). Interestingly, the STR/Ort mice that naturally develop OA, also have high serum total cholesterol, high serum triglyceride, hyperinsulinemia, insulin resistance, and low serum adiponectin (Uchida *et al.* 2009).

#### Bone

During progression of OA the shape of the bone ending starts to change, and bone marrow lesions appear. These are increased by physical loading and are associated with OA pain (Bennell *et al.* 2010a). Current knowledge cannot exclude the role of bone as the initiating tissue in OA. If there were any alterations in the bone endings, this would lead to increased pressure and stress in the corresponding area of the

cartilage. There is some evidence that osteoporosis (OP) might protect from OA, but opposing evidence has also been published, with disussicon about the relation of the two traits ongoing (Rechtman *et al.* 1954; Mäkinen *et al.* 2007).

#### Chondrocytes

Chondrocytes and their progenitors are the only cell types in cartilage, thus they are the main cellular elements that maintain the cartilage. Whatever it is that happens in cartilage in OA, it might be initiated by these cells, as mentioned earlier.

Normal adult chondrocytes are not metabolically very active. In OA these cells go through maturation and express type X collagen. Endochondral ossification of growth plate chondrocytes during development resembles the maturation process of chondrocytes in OA. During this stage, chondrocytes proliferate and develop hypertrophy, and express type X collagen, which is typical in bone formation (Aigner *et al.* 1993). In OA, the cartilage ECM is being remodeled and mineralized, and blood vessels from the subchondral bone invade the cartilage (Bohr 1976), all of which are normal phenomenon in bone formation. In normal cartilage aging, the amount of chondrocytes decreases due to the lack of new chondrocytes and the cartilage becomes more fragile. The cells are not anchored as tightly as before to the ECM, and the amount of nutrients is decreased. The rate of maturation slows down and cytokines that are typical enhancers of OA are produced by the chondrocytes and synovial cells (Corvol 2000).

The important role of chondrocytes in OA has been suggested based on a mouse model. Using the STR/Ort mouse strain, it has been shown that chondrocyte cell death correlates with the progression of OA (Mistry *et al.* 2004). Regions of inactive chondrocytes appear in the cartilage, before any major histological evidence of degeneration appears (Altman 1981). Based on gene expression results reported by Watters *et al.* (2007), it seems that the default pathway of the mesenchymal cell differentiation is changing from adipogenesis towards osteogenesis in the OA mouse model. Therefore, as mentioned before, it is possible that chondrocytes are the initiative source for the inflammation and pain in the synovium.

#### Ligaments

All joint tissues seem to play a role, at least at some stage, in OA. Cruciate ligament collagen metabolism is upregulated in the STR/Ort mouse compared to controls. While at the same time, the anterior cruciate ligament is weaker in STR/Ort mice than in controls (Anderson-MacKenzie *et al.* 1999).

#### **Biomechanics and physical stress**

As discussed earlier, excessive physical stress predisposes to OA whilst an appropriate level of exercise can be protective (Haara *et al.* 2003; Hart *et al.* 2008; Recnik *et al.* 2008; Bennell *et al.* 2010a). One possibility, to clarify the beneficial effects of physical activity, could be that the chondrocytes get their nutrients through diffusion and convection from the surrounding synovial fluid more effectively. Increased use of the joint, pumping the fluids in and around cartilage, could improve the nutrition of the cartilage.

It is, however, still not entirely known if the benefits of physical stress are due to the loss of adipose tissue and the increase in cardiovascular health, or if the benefits are gained due to mild loading of the joints. This question is especially important in the case of hand OA, where physical activities like jogging or swimming could be beneficial due to the above mentioned process, whereas exercise loading hand joints could actually be harmful. The study mentioned earlier (Segal *et al.* 1998), in which hand joints unable to move were protected from OA, speaks for the possibility that even mild loading might be harmful and only the other outcomes of physical activity, i.e. weight loss and cardiovascular health, would confer beneficial factors. It is possible that the beneficial effects seen in the study are due to not using the joints, but it is also possible that they are due to not using the hand with too high a loading. These aspects need to be studied more and the results need to be replicated in larger study samples in order to draw further conclusions.

One interesting question about OA is: Why are all joints not affected by some slight OA? The ankle, wrist, elbow, and shoulder are usually unaffected by OA even though degeneration of the articular cartilage occurs. Especially fascinating is why the ankle is not affected by OA, even though it carries the same or even greater body mass than the hip or knee. The answer is not simple or fully known, but it seems to involve the cartilage, subchondral bone and the chondrocytes. First of all, the extracellular matrix of the cartilage in the ankle has been shown to contain more proteoglycan and less water than the cartilage of the knee. This makes the ankle cartilage stiff, and low in hydraulic permeability, thereby allowing the cartilage to endure high compressive forces better than the cartilage in the knee (Treppo *et al.* 2000). Second, the ankle chondrocytes do not seem to respond to catabolic factors as strongly as the chondrocytes of the knee, however, they do respond well to removal of IL-1 (Eger *et al.* 2002). Third, it seems that the degeneration of ankle cartilage does not increase the subchondral bone density, as opposed to what normally occurs in other joints affected by OA (Muehleman *et al.* 2002).

## 2.2.7 Medical treatment

There is no disease preventing treatment for OA. In practice, the first treatment in many cases is exercise and muscle strengthening, with weight loss an important factor in disease control.

Pain killing medicine, such as paracetamol, is the main medical treatment, along with some locally used pain killers. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) are also used to some extent, but long term use is limited by their gastrointestinal adverse effects. Cyclo-oxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitors, that are more specific, are also used as treatment. However, their possible cardiovascular adverse effects have been under debate. A meta-analysis of 145,373 participants using COX-2 inhibitors, NSAIDs or placebo was studied for cardiovascular events (Kearney *et al.* 2006). The authors concluded that COX-2 inhibitors increased the risk for severe vascular events compared to placebo (rate ratio 1.42, 95% CI 1.13 - 1.78; p = 0.003). Further, there seemed to be a similar kind of risk with NSAIDs, like ibuprofen and diclofenac, but a lower risk with naproxen. More studies are still needed for further conclusions.

Surgery can be used in the treatment of OA. The weight-bearing forces can be redirected with osteotomy. Joint replacement surgery is used in a progressed disease, when the pain and loss of function is considered to trouble everyday life. Based on research evaluating a total of 20 studies, there is systematic evidence that in hip OA, total hip replacement surgery remarkably increased the quality of life, usually already within the first 3 - 6 months after surgery (Towheed *et al.* 1996).

#### Future prospects in medical treatment

Currently, some of the molecules and pathways discussed in this thesis work have been under research for drug targets by medical companies (Steinmeyer *et al.* 2006). These targets have been widely studied, and their role in OA appears to be crucial. Inhibitors for catabolic enzymes are one interesting group. MMP inhibitors such as bisphosphanates and tetracycline are under research, since MMPs cleave the collagen network in cartilage. Doxycycline has already been shown to slow joint space narrowing in knee OA (Brandt *et al.* 2005). Inhibitors for "disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin-like repeat" (ADAMTS) family have also been under research since ADAMTS break down aggracan (Yao *et al.* 2002). Cathepsin K is another potential drug target. It cleaves type II collagen at several sites under the acidic conditions that seem to be present in the OA joint. The gene expression of cathepsin K is elevated in OA cartilage, but it is also present in normal subchondral bone, in osteoclastas, and mononuclear cells (Konttinen *et al.* 2002).

Inhibitors for glycosidases are under research, since glycosidases cleave HA and proteoglycan sugar chains (Liu *et al.* 2001). The inflammation pathway is another study target. Recombinant interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1RA protein coded by *IL1RN* gene) which is already in use for RA, has raised interest as a possible treatment for OA, without success yet (Chevalier *et al.* 2005). It decreases OA symptoms in animal model (Bacconnier *et al.* 2009). Inhibiting some intracellular signal transduction pathways is also under investigation. Inhibition of mitogenactivated protein (MAP) kinase is of interest, since it enhances apoptosis and production of catabolic factors (Pelletier *et al.* 2003). While, inhibitors of nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B (NF- $\kappa$ B) are interesting, since it stimulates the production of cytokines chemokines, and proteins involved in the control of cell death (Tegeder *et al.* 2004).

# 2.2.8 Physical activity

It is widely accepted that physical exercise is a key-element in knee and hip OA pain management, and in the maintenance of joint function. In 1975, it was shown in a small study that 74 Finnish championship runners are not predisposed to hip OA compared to the normal population (Puranen *et al.* 1975). Later it has been widely accepted that low-impact physical exercise is beneficial for joints. As Keysor *et al.* (2011) concluded in their systematic study, which included the large collaborative consensus recommendation guidelines (Jordan *et al.* 2003; Roddy *et al.* 2005; Vignon *et al.* 2006; Zhang *et al.* 2008; Chodzko-Zajko *et al.* 2009; Zhang *et al.* 2010), that people with knee OA should perform both moderate low-impact activity and progressive resistive strengthening exercise.

OA patients should be educated about the positive outcomes of exercise (Roddy *et al.* 2005) as long as the activity is not painful and does not predispose to trauma, since they are two risk factors for OA (Vignon *et al.* 2006). Exercise in general and exercise of the hand muscles in hand OA are not widely studied. Therefore the usefulness of these exercises are more unclear than in knee and hip OA, but it is still recommended (Zhang *et al.* 2007).

Based on a study by Bennell *et al.* (2010b), the strengthening of hip muscles improved knee OA symptoms but did not affect medial knee load. Thus it is unlikely to have directly influenced the structural changes in joint tissues suffering from OA.

Based on the presented data, it seems that physical exercise either affects OA through metabolic pathways, possibly by decreasing the amount of adipose tissue and related hormones, or by increasing the exchange of nutrients and harmful metabolites of chondrocytes within the joint cavity. Exercise does not seem to affect the mechanical loading, at least not OA of the knee, but then again the supporting

tissues are probably strengthened. Could the effect of exercise in OA be related to the range of motion during movement? Discussion on the effectiveness of manual physical therapy including manipulation and stretching techniques is ongoing (Rhon 2008). Some evidence for its usefulness, even when added to the exercise therapy, has been shown in a small study of 100 individuals (OR 1.92, 95% CI 1.30 - 2.60) (Hoeksma *et al.* 2004). However, more knowledge is needed about the exact biological mechanism, at the molecular level, of the benefits of exercise in OA patients.

For knee and hip OA the positive effects of exercise is clear, yet the effect on hand OA is less studied, even though it would be biologically more interesting. More studies are needed to address the issue of what type of exercise hand OA patients should do: mainly hand joint exercises or other types of aerobic and strength exercises that are not directly related to the hand joints?

# 2.3 Genetic studies of OA

Previously, candidate gene studies have focused on genes affecting cartilage structure, such as asporin (*ASPN*) (Kizawa *et al.* 2005; Mustafa *et al.* 2005; Jiang *et al.* 2006; Shi *et al.* 2007). However, newer extensive GWA studies have the advantage of not requiring knowledge and hypothesis on the gene functions beforehand, although interpretation of the findings can be complicated afterwards. Recent large GWA studies have revealed entirely new study targets in OA. Next, I will discuss studies that show some of the most promising results in this field so far. I will classify them based on study type since, to some degree, the study approach tells about the reliability and broadness of the study.

It is still difficult to say, if the majority of the OA phenotype is caused by thousands of different familial mutations with large effect, or common population based alleles with small effects. Since OA is a late-onset disease and the phenotype is not life-threatening, even in the early-onset familial cases, evolutionary pressure has probably been very mild against the disease alleles. Since the disease is related to the inflammatory system, the disease-predisposing alleles might even have an advantageous effect in survival through some other trait possibly leading to high allele frequencies of the OA-risk alleles. In the case in the *MCF2L* gene predisposing to OA, the predisposing allele had a frequency over 90 % while the ancestral allele frequency was less than 10 % (Day-Williams *et al.* 2011).

# 2.3.1 Genome-wide association studies in OA

GWA studies do not require pre-formulated hypotheses of the genes or gene networks involved, but rely on systematic statistical assessment throughout the genome. So far eight GWA studies have been conducted in OA (Mototani *et al.* 2005; Miyamoto *et al.* 2008; Zhai *et al.* 2009; Kerkhof *et al.* 2010; Nakajima *et al.* 2010; Day-Williams *et al.* 2011; Evangelou *et al.* 2011; Panoutsopoulou *et al.* 2011). However, the coverage of genetic variation in the genome was low (<100.000 markers) in some of the studies (Mototani *et al.* 2005; Miyamoto *et al.* 2008). Four GWA studies in OA showed genome-wide significant associations ( $p < 5x10^{-8}$ ) and will be discussed in more detail (**Table 1**).

Chr.	Variant	Gene	RAF	p OR (95 % CI)	n (cases) n (controls) Phenotype Population	Ref.	
3p24	rs7639618	DVWA/ COL6A4P1	0.64	7.3x10 <sup>-11</sup> 1.43 (1.28–1.60)	1,399 2,141 Knee OA Asian	Miyamoto et al. 2008	
6p21	rs10947262	BTNL2	0.58	5.1x10 <sup>-9</sup> 1.31 (1.20-1.44)	1,879 4,814 Knee OA Asian, Caucasian	Nakajima <i>et al.</i> 2010	
7q22	rs4730250	DUS4L	0.17	9.2x10 <sup>-9</sup> 1.17 (1.11-1.24)	6,709 44.439 Knee OA Caucasian	Evangelou et al. 2011	
13q34	rs11842874	MCF2L	0.93	2.13x10 <sup>-8</sup> 1.17 1.11-1.23	19,041 24,504 Knee OA Hip OA Caucasian	Day- Williams <i>et al.</i> 2011	

**Table 1.** Genome-wide significant findings ( $p < 5x10^{-8}$ ) in OA. Modified from Näkki *et al.* (In press).

Chr = chromosome, Variant= rs number of the SNP, RAF = risk allele frequency, p = combined p-value of screening and replication; OR = odds ratio; n(cases) = number of cases; n(controls) = number of controls.

Further, there are differences in OA phenotyping between and even within studies. Susceptibility loci for OA seem to differ between populations, e.g. between Asian and European populations. It is possible that a SNP finding in one population does not replicate in another population since it tags different haplotypes in different populations.

#### Finding on chromosome 3p24: DVWA/COL6A4P1

An association between a marker in "double von Willebrand factor domain A" (*DVWA*) ( $p = 7.3 \times 10^{-11}$ ) and knee OA was observed by Miyamoto *et al.* (2008). The finding was later replicated (p = 0.018) by Valdes *et al.* (2009b). However, negative association for the studied variant has been published (Meulenbelt *et al.* 2009; Kerkhof *et al.* 2010). Of interest is that nearby regions on chromosomes 3p21 and 3p24 have shown suggestive evidence of linkage to hand OA in several studies with LOD scores of 2.7 (Hunter *et al.* 2004) and 2.8 (Livshits *et al.* 2007). DVWA interacts with  $\beta$ -tubulin, which has an essential role in protein trafficking and secretion of proteins (Miyamoto *et al.* 2008). The gene has lately been suggested to represent the *COL6A4P1* gene (Wagener *et al.* 2009). The *CAPN* gene is also located in the same LD block making it difficult to pinpoint the contributing gene.

#### Finding on chromosome 6p21: *BTNL2* in the HLA region

A variant in the butyrophilin-like 2 gene (*BTNL2*) in the HLA II locus has been associated with knee OA ( $p = 2.43 \times 10^{-8}$ ) (Nakajima *et al.* 2010), although, negative association in Chinese and Australian study samples have been published for the same variant (Shi *et al.* 2010). The region has shown suggestive evidence for linkage to OA (LOD = 2.1) (Loughlin *et al.* 1999). The region harbors several genes from the HLA class II group that are in high LD with each other, including *BTNL2*, *HLA-DRA*, *HLA-DRB5*, *HLA-DRB1*, *HLA-DQA1*, and *HLA-DQB1* (Nakajima *et al.* 2010). They all are expressed by antigen presenting cells (B lymphocytes, dendritic cells, macrophages) and play an important role by presenting peptides from extracellular proteins. The *BTNL2* gene negatively regulates T-cell activation (Arnett *et al.* 2007). The true causative variant remains unknown due to the LD in the region, but presumably the causative gene is tightly involved in the immune system.

#### Finding on chromosome 7q22: DUS4L

A GWA study by Kerkhof *et al.* (2010) identified a locus on 7q22 to be associated with clinical and/or radiological generalized OA ( $p = 8x10^{-8}$ ). Later meta-analysis on Caucasian subjects, including the previous study sample, revealed association near the original finding, with the "dihydrouridine synthase 4-like" gene (*DUS4L*) ( $p = 9.17 \times 10^{-9}$ ) and with the "B cell receptor associated protein 29" gene (*BCAP29*) ( $p = 3.90 \times 10^{-8}$ ) (Evangelou *et al.* 2011). Although, this finding was not replicated in the Japanese and Chinese cohorts from the same study. The associated region harbors genes *DUS4L*, *COG5*, *BCAP29*, G protein-coupled receptor 22 (*GPR22*), "protein kinase, cAMP-dependent, regulatory, type II,  $\beta$ " (*PRKAR2B*), and "HMG-box transcription factor 1" (*HPB1*). Again due to the high LD in the region, pinpointing the causative variant will be demanding, but some speculation about the eventual roles of these genes are discussed next.

GPR22-positive chondrocytes are present in the upper layers of the articular cartilage of mice knee joints with induced arthritis and absent from controls (Kerkhof *et al.* 2010). *COG5* is involved in formation of the Golgi-localized complex (Ungar *et al.* 2002). *BCAP29* is involved in B-cell signaling with the Bap29/31 complex seeming to play a role in the trafficking of MHC class I molecules (Paquet *et al.* 2004). *PRKAR2B* is a signaling molecule involved in many cellular functions. *HPB1* is involved in cell cycle and the Wnt pathway (Sampson *et al.* 2001).

#### Finding on 13q34: MCF2L

A marker in the "MCF.2 cell-line-derived transforming sequence-like" gene (*MCF2L*) showed association with knee and hip OA ( $p = 2.13 \times 10^{-8}$ ). There was only little LD outside the gene region (Day-Williams *et al.* 2011). The Mcf2l gene is expressed in rat cartilage. It regulates neurotrophin-3 (*NTF3*) -induced cell migration in Schwann cells (Liu *et al.* 2009). The *NTF3* is part of the nerve growth factor family (NGF) that could play a role in OA pain, since inhibiting this family seems to decrease joint pain and increase joint function (Lane *et al.* 2010).

Still only little is known with high certainty about the genetics behind OA. The 3p24, 6p21, 7q22, and 13q34 loci seem to have population level, genome-wide significance in OA. As in so many other complex diseases, the ORs in these findings vary only between 1.2 - 1.8. Proof about true causative genes and variants are in most cases still modest, due to the LD in the regions and the lack of extensive functional studies. However, the HLA region on 6p21 and the *MCF2L* gene are

highly likely candidates, suggesting pathways involved in the immune system and nerve growth.

## 2.3.2 Genome-wide linkage studies in OA

Family-based GWL studies and follow-up fine-mapping studies have discovered many possibly OA-predisposing loci (Leppävuori *et al.* 1999; Loughlin *et al.* 1999; Ingvarsson *et al.* 2001; Demissie *et al.* 2002; Loughlin *et al.* 2002b; Stefansson *et al.* 2003; Forster *et al.* 2004; Hunter *et al.* 2004; Loughlin *et al.* 2004; Southam *et al.* 2004; Greig *et al.* 2006; Lee *et al.* 2006; Mabuchi *et al.* 2006; Meulenbelt *et al.* 2006; Livshits *et al.* 2007; Min *et al.* 2007; Meulenbelt *et al.* 2008). Significant evidence of linkage has been found for thirteen different loci and OA, based on the linkage threshold guidelines of Lander and Kruglyak (1995) (LOD > 3.3). Some of the most significant linkage findings have been on chromosomal regions 2p23.3 (LOD = 4.4) (Stefansson *et al.* 2003), 2q33.3 (LOD = 6.1) (Meulenbelt *et al.* 2006), and 15q25.3 (LOD = 6.3) (Hunter *et al.* 2004). These findings will be discussed in more detail, **Table 2**.

**Table 2.** Results from OA linkage studies. Significant linkage findings are presented (LOD  $\geq$  3.3, bold font). In addition, suggestive linkage findings are presented (LOD  $\geq$  1.9, normal font) if they are on a region showing significant linkage in another study. In sib-pair studies, thresholds of LOD 3.6 and 2.2 are used respectively (Lander *et al.* 1995). Modified from Kämäräinen (2009) and Näkki *et al.* (In press).

Chr	LOD	Family/sibpair Method	Phenotype (details)	Country	Reference		
2р23.3–р24.1	4.4	Families Aff. allele share	Hand (DIP/first CMC)	Iceland	Stefánsson <i>et al.</i> 2003 A		
2p23.3	2.2	Families Multipoint	Hand USA (JSN)		Demissie et al. 2002		
2р12-р13.3	4.0	Twins Multipoint	Hand (TotKL, women)	UK	Livshits <i>et al.</i> 2007		
2q33.3	6.1	Families Two-point	Generalized	Netherlands	Meulenbelt et al. 2006		
4q31.3	3.3	Families Aff. allele share	Hand (DIP)	Iceland	Stefánsson et al. 2003		
4q32.3	3.8	Twins Multipoint	Hand (TotKL)	UK	Livshits <i>et al.</i> 2007		
6p12	4.6	Families Two-point	Hip (THR, female)	UK	Loughlin et al. 2002b		
8p23.2	4.3	Family Multipoint	Biomarker (PIIANP)	Afr.Am / Nat.Am.	Chen <i>et al.</i> 2010		
9q34.2–q34.3	4.5	Twins Multipoint	Hand (DIP)	UK	Livshits <i>et al.</i> 2007		
12q21.33-q22	3.9	Twins Multipoint	Hand (DIP)	UK	Livshits et al. 2007 B		
13q22.1	3.6	Family Multipoint	Hip	Japan	Mabuchi <i>et al.</i> 2006		
15q25.3	6.3	Families Multipoint	Hand (First CMC)	USA	Hunter et al. 2004		
19q13.2	4.3	Twins Multipoint	Hand (TotKL)	UK	Livshits <i>et al.</i> 2007		
20p13	3.7	Families Multipoint	Hand (DIP, women)	USA	Hunter et al. 2004		

In the case that several findings were made in the same region and with overlapping study samples, only one study is presented, the one with the highest logarithm of odds (LOD) score, even if the study was a finemapping study. Family/sibpair = familial or sib-pair study sample; Method = linkage analyses used; Aff. allele share = affected only allele sharing method; Multipoint = multipoint linkage analysis; Two-point = two-point linkage analysis; DIP = distal interphalangeal; CMC = carpometacarpal; JSN = joint space narrowing; generalized = generalized OA; TotKL = Kellgren Lawrence score sum for both hands; OST = osteophyte; PIP = proximal interphalangeal; TIP = thumb interphalangeal; Association finemapping (p < 0.05) in the region: A = *MATN3* (Stefansson *et al.* 2003), B = intergenic (Evangelou *et al.* 2011).

#### Linkage region of 2p23.3-p24.1 harbors MATN3

A chromosomal region on 2p23.3–p24.1 has shown linkage with hand OA in two studies, yielding LOD scores of 4.4 (Stefansson *et al.* 2003) and 2.2 (Demissie *et al.* 2002). A possible disease causing gene *MATN3* was finemapped, but the mutation found did not fully explain the linkage (Stefansson *et al.* 2003). The same variant might also predispose to disc degeneration (p = 0.02) (Min *et al.* 2006). Matrilins are ECM proteins. *MATN3* expression has been shown to be upregulated in the OA cartilage of humans (Pullig *et al.* 2002), and to increase the expression of genes encoding TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, iNOS, and COX-2 in chondrocytes obtained from human OA cartilage (Klatt *et al.* 2009).

#### Linkage region of 2q33.3 harbors FRZB

A locus on 2q33.3 showed significant evidence of linkage to generalized osteoarthritis (LOD = 6.1) (Meulenbelt *et al.* 2006), with similar evidence gained in a meta-analysis (p = 0.03, 10,000 permutations) (Lee et al (2006) involving several other studies (Chapman *et al.* 1999; Stefansson *et al.* 2003; Hunter *et al.* 2004). Frizzled-related protein (*FRZB*) has been suggested to be the predisposing gene in several studies (p = 0.007) (Loughlin *et al.* 2004), (p = 0.02) (Min *et al.* 2005), (p = 0.01) (Lane *et al.* 2006), (p = 0.04) (Valdes *et al.* 2007). The function of *FRZB* in OA might be due to its role in wingless (Wnt) signaling, which is involved in, among others, skeletal metabolism, joint patterning in embryogenesis, and plays a role in apoptosis (James *et al.* 2000).

A larger chromosomal region on 2q12-q34 has been linked to different OA types in several studies (Leppävuori *et al.* 1999; Loughlin *et al.* 2000; Loughlin *et al.* 2002a; Loughlin *et al.* 2002b; Hunter *et al.* 2004; Meulenbelt *et al.* 2006), but the findings have not been statistically significant. An association with interleukin 1 receptor 1 (*IL1R1*) in the same region is shown in Study I of the present thesis.

#### Linkage region of 15q25

Significant evidence for linkage has been found between a region on 15q25 and hand OA (Hunter *et al.* 2004) (LOD = 6.25). Further, a trend was seen in a metaanalysis by Lee et al (2006) (p = 0.04, 10,000 permutations), which included the original study sample (Chapman *et al.* 1999; Stefansson *et al.* 2003; Hunter *et al.* 2004). A predisposing variant is still unknown. For some of the most promising linkage findings presented above, association fine mapping has revealed potential causative candidates, but in most cases the proof is still modest and the linkage regions are large. The candidate genes neither show genome-wide significance ( $p < 5x10^{-8}$ ) nor fully explain the original linkage (Stefansson *et al.* 2003; Loughlin *et al.* 2004; Min *et al.* 2005; Lane *et al.* 2006; Valdes *et al.* 2007). Thus more evidence is needed for any further conclusions.

# 2.3.3 Candidate gene studies in OA

Next I will discuss the variants that have been shown to associate with OA in independent candidate gene studies with replication. Only the finding for the *GDF5* is genome-wide significant ( $p = 1.8 \times 10^{-13}$ ) (Miyamoto *et al.* 2007), however, the other studies are interesting with regards to future efforts to unravel OA genetics. Based on familial studies, it seems that rare, familial mutations might have an important role in the disease, additionally bringing collagens into the picture.

#### GDF5 on 20q11 showed association with OA in several candidate gene studies

One recently found OA gene is growth and differentiation factor 5 (*GDF5*). The SNP rs143383 has been shown to associate with hip and knee OA in Asian populations ( $p = 1.8 \times 10^{-13}$ ) (Miyamoto *et al.* 2007), and with knee OA in a European population ( $p = 9.4 \times 10^{-7}$ ) (Evangelou *et al.* 2009). *GDF5* is a member of the transforming growth factor-  $\beta$  (TGF-  $\beta$ ) superfamily and is related to the bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs) that induce cartilage and bone formation, and stimulate de novo synthesis of ACAN protein (Erlacher *et al.* 1998). Mutations in the *GDF5* gene cause skeletal alterations both in humans (Thomas *et al.* 1996) and mice (Storm *et al.* 1994). TGF- $\beta$  is a pleiotropic cytokine and growth factor that has important anabolic effects on chondrocytes. It can stimulate type II collagen synthesis and down-regulate cartilage-degrading enzymes. It also has a role in decreasing the IL-1 induced suppression of proteoglycan synthesis.

#### ASPN on 9q22 showed association with OA in several candidate gene studies

The association of allele D14 of the asporin gene (*ASPN*) with hand, knee or hip OA has been shown in Japanese, Chinese and Caucasian individuals (0.0008 et al. 2005; Mustafa *et al.* 2005; Jiang *et al.* 2006; Shi *et al.* 2007). *ASPN* is a member of the ECM SLRP family, which is a group of proteins that bind to other proteins in the extra cellular matrix. *ASPN* can inhibit TGF- $\beta$  signaling with the D14 allele showing greater inhibition than the other alleles (Kizawa *et al.* 2005).

#### DIO2, SMAD3 and ANP32A as candidate genes

Some other interesting associations have been seen between *DIO2*, on 14q31, and hip OA ( $p = 2.02 \times 10^{-5}$ ) (Meulenbelt *et al.* 2008), and with the *SMAD3*, 15q22, ( $p < 7.5 \times 10^{-6}$ ) (Valdes *et al.* 2010) and "acidic (leucine-rich) nuclear phosphoprotein 32 family member A14" genes (*ANP32A*) to hip OA ( $p < 3.8 \times 10^{-4}$ ) (Valdes *et al.* 2009a).

#### **Collagens coding genes**

Previously, two biologically interesting and widely studied groups of genes in OA genetics were cartilage genes and cartilage degrading genes. As one hypothesis for OA related to pathogenesis is based on an imbalance between degradation and repair of the cartilage (Ala-Kokko *et al.* 1990; Horton *et al.* 1998; Tetlow *et al.* 2001; Kirk *et al.* 2003; Alizadeh *et al.* 2005; Jakkula *et al.* 2005). Compared with the recent extensive GWA gene mapping studies, the older studies were conducted with smaller sample sizes, fewer markers and candidate genes, and without replication. However, many of the studies were performed in families, identifying family-specific mutations. Many of these studies were used as data sources when candidate genes were selected for the three studies presented in this current thesis work, thus they are now shortly presented.

One important group of structural genes of relevance for joints and joint diseases are the collagens. **Table 3** summarizes the types and locations of some of the collagens most important to the joint and cartilage.

Type II collagen is the most common collagen in articular cartilage, but collagen types III, VI, IX, X, XI, XII and XIV all contribute to the mature matrix. In developing cartilage, the basic collagen network is a composite of collagens II, IX and XI. Many collagen proteins are formed by several alpha chains coded by their own gene (Kuivaniemi *et al.* 1997; Eyre 2002).

**Table 3.** Collagen types, structures of the collagens and collagen expressing tissuesbased on Eyre (2002) and the National Center for Biotechnology Information(NCBI) database.

Туре	Structure	Tissue
Ι	Fibrillar	Connective tissues, bone, cornea, dermis and tendon
II	Fibrillar	Eye, main component of cartilage
III	Fibrillar, associated with type I collagen	Skin, lung, uterus, intestine and the vascular system, smaller amounts in many tissues rich in type I collagen
V	Fibrillar	Low abundance, tissues containing type I collagen; closely related to type XI collagen
VI	Beaded-filament forming collagen	Cartilage, the major structural component of the microfibrils
IX	Fibril associated with interrupted triple helices (FACIT)	Articular cartilage, eye, tissues containing type II collagen; located on the surface of type II collagen containing fibrils
Х	Homotrimer, network- forming collagen	Hypertrophic chondrocytes during endochondral ossification, cartilage
XI	Fibrillar; the $\alpha 3(XI)$ chain is encoded by the gene for type II procollagen	Cartilage
XII	Fibril associated with interrupted triple helices (FACIT)	Cartilage, eye
XIV	Fibril associated with interrupted triple helices (FACIT)	Cartilage

A fibril-forming collagen is a long, thin rod and contains three polypeptide chains called the  $\alpha$  chains. These chains are wrapped into highly ordered triple helixes that are made possible by every third amino acid being glycine, the amino acid with the smallest side chain (Kuivaniemi *et al.* 1997).

Variants in many of the collagen genes have previously been associated with OA, including *COL1A1* (Lian *et al.* 2005), *COL2A1* (Hämäläinen *et al.* 2008), *COL9A1* (Alizadeh *et al.* 2005), and *COL9A3* (Ikeda *et al.* 2002). Rare familial variants in the genes coding for collagens II and XI have been identified to predispose to OA (Ala-

Kokko *et al.* 1990; Jakkula *et al.* 2005) and to a familial OA-like disease spectrum (*COL2A1*) (Su *et al.* 2008). Expression studies have shown that the expression of *COL2A1*, *COL1A2*, *COL3A1* and *COL5A1* increases in OA cartilage in a naturally occurring OA in canines (Clements *et al.* 2006)

#### Aggrecan

One important gene in cartilage structure is aggrecan (*ACAN*). An association between a *VNTR* polymorphism in *ACAN* and OA has been observed (Horton *et al.* 1998; Kirk *et al.* 2003), with the same *VNTR* region in *ACAN* also being associated with disc degeneration (Kawaguchi *et al.* 1999; Solovieva *et al.* 2007). As mentioned earlier, *ACAN* is an important part of cartilage, responsible in part for its elasticity. A functional mouse study with the STR/Ort model showed that aggrecan gene transcription is elevated in early osteoarthritis (Gaffen *et al.* 1997).

#### Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs)

Matrix metalloprotinases (MMP) are a group of extracellular matrix breaking enzymes, neutral endoproteinases. MMP-1, MMP-8 and MMP-13 are the best known enzymes to break down fibrillar collagens. MMP-1 best breaks type III collagen, MMP-8 type I collagen and MMP-13 type II collagen. MMP-3 and MMP-10 break down proteoglycans. MMPs are inhibited by tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs). Factors like the IL-1 $\beta$  pathway (Stern *et al.* 2003; Riyazi *et al.* 2005; Moxley *et al.* 2007; Kanoh *et al.* 2008) have been shown to affect MMP-8 expression. MMP-8 has low expression in normal chondrocytes but is upregulated by IL-1 $\beta$  (Cole *et al.* 1996), and there seems to be co-expression between the two (Tetlow *et al.* 2001).

Macrophages, fibroblasts and chondrocytes synthesize MMP-1 and MMP-13 proteins in the presence of inflammation. The *MMP1*, *MMP3*, *MMP8* and *MMP13* genes are expressed in OA cartilage (Tetlow *et al.* 2001). Additionally, the expression of *MMP13* when stimulated by IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$  has been shown to increase OA of joints in an animal model (Clements *et al.* 2006).

#### Interleukins

Inflammation in OA joints is one widely studied topic, with somewhat consistent results. The role of the interleukin-1 gene family cluster on chromosome 2q12-13 has been suggested in hip, knee, or hand OA in Study I of the present thesis in

addition to other studies (Moos *et al.* 2000; Loughlin *et al.* 2002a; Meulenbelt *et al.* 2004; Solovieva *et al.* 2009). These findings have not been confirmed, including those of Study I in the present thesis work. The evidence is at its most convincing for the widely studied *IL1B* and *IL1RN* genes that cause and inhibits inflammation repectively. These genes show suggestive association with knee and hip OA (p = 0.006 for haplotype; 5000 knee OA cases, 9000 controls) (Kerkhof *et al.* 2011).

IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$  inhibit chondrocyte production of type II collagen – the most important collagen type in cartilage. IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$  are both activators of signaling pathways of c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), p38 MAP kinase (p38 MAPK) and NF- $\kappa$ B. All three lead to the inhibition of the *COL2A1* gene (Robbins *et al.* 2000; Seguin *et al.* 2003). Excessive mechanical stress might activate these pathways. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs 1, 3, 8, and 13), IL-1 $\beta$ , and TNF- $\alpha$  are present in the superficial zone of OA cartilage. This zone also harbors chondrocyte clusters and degenerative matrix changes (Tetlow *et al.* 2001). Cytokines increase the expression of these matrix metalloproteinases, as well as some aggrecanases (Goldring *et al.* 2008). Interleukin 6 (IL-6) is a pleiotropic pro-inflammatory cytokine and its expression is increased by tissue inflammation in OA cartilage, serum and synovial fluid (Kaneko *et al.* 2000). It has been shown through a knockout mouse model that OA is more severe if IL-6 is not present compared to wild-type mice (de Hooge *et al.* 2005). As for many other genes discussed here, strong evidence for disease gene variants is still missing.

# 2.3.4 Biomarkers and expression studies

For a broader view on OA, I will shortly discuss biomarker and gene expression studies. Since OA has an inflammatory feature there are probably molecules affecting OA that could be seen in a systemic level. Biomarkers also form an interesting study subject in scientific studies and potential diagnostic tools. The expression and biomarker studies presented here are all significantly affected either by a small number of studied samples, a small number of studied genes, or a small number of studied biomarkers. Thus either the risk of false positive findings is high or the study has not systematically covered numerous possible factors affecting OA. In many studies both these limitations are present and the results should be interpreted with caution.

Genome-wide expression profiling has been performed by Karlsson *et al.* (2010), among others. This group studied the gene expression profile of healthy (n = 5) and osteoarthritic human cartilage (n = 5), and revealed that expression was significantly changed for many different groups of genes. The study had the capacity to analyze over 47, 000 transcripts. Among many other genes, the expression differed between

the two groups for cytokines (such as tumor necrosis factors, TNFs), chemokines (like IL-8), enzymes (such as MMPs), growth factors (like IGFs), matrix components (like collagen type I), and others (such as HLA-DQA1). In another study based on candidate gene expression analysis, *SOX9* (p < 0.001) and *ACAN* (p < 0.001) seemed to be down-regulated in osteochondral samples of OA patients (n = 20) compared to controls (n = 8) (Brew *et al.* 2010). Additionally, locally expressed glycosidases seem to play a role in OA as well as in RA. These determine the final structures of glycans (Pasztoi *et al.* 2009).

The expression of genes involved in the development and function of connective tissue, and in lipid metabolism has been shown to be most significantly up-regulated during disease progression in the STR/Ort mouse joints (Watters *et al.* 2007).

In a serum-based metabolomic study of OA, the ratio of two branched-chain amino acids, valine, leucine or isoleucine, to histidine was associated with the disease (Zhai *et al.* 2010). Chen *et al.* (2008) performed a candidate biomarker study using human blood samples from an extended family with no known specific disease (n = 287). Three of the studied biomarkers showed some level of heritability (heritability > 43 %) and were also associated with OA (p < 0.05): HA, COMP and type IIA collagen N-propeptide (PIIANP). PIIANP is a marker of a fetal form of collagen II which is also produced in OA cartilage. The COMP molecule binds to the collagenous structure in cartilage and can initiate the alternative complement pathway (Happonen *et al.* 2010). HA has a role in cartilage structure as mentioned earlier and also plays an important role in the synovial fluid.

# 3 AIMS

The aim of this thesis study was to investigate the role of 25 structural, degenerative and inflammatory candidate genes in OA using SNPs. The purpose was to find gene variants that predispose to OA. Three different study settings were used: hand OA families and healthy controls, a case-control setting for knee OA, and a twin pair study with an MRI based hip OA phenotype.

The specific aims of this thesis were:

I) To identify an OA-predisposing gene for hand OA on the 2q11.2 region. In a previous study, the genomic region of 2q11.2 showed linkage to hand OA (Leppävuori *et al.* 1999). The aim was now to identify the OA-predisposing gene variant in that region.

**II**) To study if *MMP8* and *MMP9* genes predispose to OA. Levels of proMMP-8 and proMMP-9 have been shown to be higher in the serum of OA patients than in controls (Tchetverikov *et al.* 2004). The aim was now to analyze the *MMP8* and *MMP9* genes in knee OA study samples, in order to find out if there are genetic variants in these genes that predispose to knee OA.

**III) To study the role of** *ACAN, COL, MMP* and *IL* candidate gene groups in hip OA. In a previous study, 25 candidates from the *ACAN, COL, MMP* and *IL* gene groups which were selected based on their previously identified biological relevance, were studied for disc degeneration traits in a twin study sample (Videman *et al.* 2009). The aim was now to analyze the same SNP panel in the same study population with a hip OA phenotype using MRI-visible bone changes.

# 4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 4.1 Study samples

The study design was approved by the Ethical Committees of the National Public Health Institute, Helsinki, Finland (currently National Institute for Health and Welfare), the Department of Public Health at the University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland, the Hospital District of Helsinki and Uusimaa, Helsinki, Finland, the Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine at the University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada, and the Ethical Committee for Clinical Research of Galicia, Spain. The project numbers for the ethical approvals are 131/2006 (H, N, I); 9/270598 (B, D); 37/96, 2/96 (A); 407/E3/2000 (E, F, K, L); 140/E3/2004, 344/E3/2000 (C,J); 2008/063 (G, M), letters indicate the study sub-sample referred to, see **Table 4**.

The study sample was composed of 5941 subjects (1466 OA cases and 4475 controls) for the study of OA of hand, knee, and hip OA (**Table 4**).

Study samples	vs.	Tot.	Ma	Fe	St	udy	
Cases							
Hand OA cases							
A) Radiological <sup>a</sup>		104	42	62	I	II	
B) Clinical <sup>b</sup>		28	5	23			
C) Clinical [HBCS]		524	169	355		Π	
Knee OA cases							
D) Radiological <sup>b</sup>		113	27	86	Ι	Π	
E) Clinical discovery cases [H2000]		75	25	50		Π	
F) Clinical verification cases [H2000]		302	102	200		II	
G) Joint replacement patient [Spanish]		254	50	204		II	
Hip OA cases							
H) MRI based		94	94	0			ш
Controls							
I) Clin. non-OA	A+B	436	277	159	I	II	
J) Clin. non-hand OA [HBCS]	С	970	490	480			
K) Clin. non knee/hip OA [H2000]	D+E	895	415	480		Π	
L) Clin. non knee/hip OA [H2000]	F	1700	761	939		II	
M) Clinical non-knee OA[Spanish]	G	449	290	159		II	
N) MRI based non-hip OA <sup>c</sup>	Н	251	251	0			III

Table 4. The number of cases and controls in studies I-III.

#### In total

5941

a = Familial study sample, of which 85 were unrelated. In addition, 34 healthy family members were used in the analyses, but are not shown in the table; b = 28 individuals were part of clinical hand osteoarthritis (OA) cases and radiological knee OA cases; c = MRI based hip OA phenotype; 226 individuals from this group were also part of the control group I; A-N = Study samples are referred in the text with the letter; *vs.* indicates which control and case groups were compared with each other; Ma = male, Fe = female; bold font = main analysis; normal font = validation analysis; HBCS = Helsinki Birth Cohort Study; H2000 = Health 2000 study; MRI = magnetic resonance imaging.

## 4.1.1 Cases

#### Radiological familial hand OA study subjects and clinical hand OA subjects

Families and individuals with hand OA were collected from the Mini-Finland Health Survey (Kärkkäinen 1985), the Finnish twin-cohort study (Kujala *et al.* 1999), the Rheumatism Foundation Hospital (Heinola, Finland) (Vikkula *et al.* 1993), and the ORTON Orthopaedic Hospital (Helsinki, Finland). In total 168 study subjects were collected. Altogether, 134 of them were affected, of which 85 were unrelated. DIP OA status was mainly radiologically examined (Studies I and II) (**Table 4**, A).

The DIP OA phenotype studied was based on radiological Kellgren classification (Kellgren 1963) with individuals of stage 3-4/4 DIP OA considered as affected. Subjects were invited to participate in a hand x-ray examination, if they were recorded as having hand OA based on a clinical evaluation as part of the Mini-Finland Health Survey, (Kärkkäinen 1985), if they were recorded as having a physician-diagnosed hand OA based on a questionnaire from the Finnish twin-cohort study in 1995 (Kujala *et al.* 1999), or identified through the Rheumatism Foundation Hospital (Heinola, Finland) (Vikkula *et al.* 1993) and the ORTON Orthopaedic Hospital (Helsinki, Finland). Other family members were included as affected individuals if they had a DIP OA score of 2-4/4. All other family members were classified as unknown. The average age at grading of hand X-rays was 62 years (SD 9 y).

In addition, 28 clinically diagnosed hand OA cases (**Table 4**, B) were included which were also included in the knee OA study group (**Table 4**, D). For clinical diagnostics, see Haara *et al.* (2003). Subjects with clinical or radiological rheumatoid arthritis (RA) were excluded.

#### Verification sample: Clinical hand OA study subjects

Subjects from the Finnish Helsinki Birth Cohort Study were studied to verify any association results in Study II (Barker *et al.* 2005) (**Table 4**, C). They were all above the age of 56 years and their hand joints were visually evaluated for Heberden's nodes. If at least one DIP joint was affect, the individual was ranked as affected.

#### Radiological knee OA study subjects

In total 113 subjects with radiological knee OA were analyzed in Studies I and II (**Table 4**, D). They suffered from primary bilateral knee OA severe enough to fulfill the criteria for knee arthroplasty: pain, walking disability and radiologically stage 3-4/4 osteoarthritic changes according to KL classification (Kellgren *et al.* 1957). OA symptoms began at a mean age of 52 years (SD 12 years), with the mean age at first arthroplasty being 67 years (SD 8 years). The study was initiated by reviewing 852 patient reports of hospital visits for knee OA, between 1994 and 2001, to the ORTON Orthopaedic Hospital (Helsinki, Finland). Of these, 113 subjects had not had a major knee trauma, and volunteered to participate in the study by providing a DNA sample. Of the 113 individuals, 28 had severe physician-diagnosed hand OA and were also included in the hand OA study sample. In total 110 of the 113 patients were used as part of the initial discovery sample in Study II.

#### Clinical discovery and verification knee OA cases

Clinician diagnosed knee OA cases and controls were analyzed in Study II. The cases were from a subset of the Finnish Health 2000 cohort (2118 individuals) ascertained for a matched case–control study for metabolic syndrome (Perttilä *et al.* 2009) and genotyped using the Illumina HumanHap 610 k GWA chip (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). Of the 2118 genotyped individuals, 75 had clinician diagnosed probable or definite knee OA, based on physical status, symptoms, and medical history, and were over the age of 50 years. Radiographic assessment of OA was not included in this study (**Table 4**, E). Individuals suffering from seropositive or -negative RA or having unknown RA status, were excluded. Cases with radiological knee OA (**Table 4**, D) were combined with this group.

For verification of any association finding in Study II, the remaining Finnish Health 2000 study sample was genotyped. This study sample included 302 clinical knee OA cases selected using the same criteria as in the discovery phase (**Table 4**, F).

#### Verification sample: Joint replacement knee OA cases

In total, 254 Spanish knee OA cases were used in a replication analysis of Study II (**Table 4**, G). Cases had undergone knee joint replacement surgery and had severe primary OA based on a rheumatologists evaluation. Exclusion criteria were inflammatory, infectious, traumatic or congenital joint pathology, and lesions due to crystal deposition or osteonecrosis (Rodriguez-Lopez *et al.* 2007).

#### Hip OA cases

The hip OA study sample was part of the Finnish Twin Cohort called the Twin Spine study (Videman *et al.* 1998; Kaprio *et al.* 2002; Battié *et al.* 2007). The original Twin Spine study consisted of 588 Finnish monozygotic or dizygotic male twins aged 35-70 years. The twin pairs were selected for the Twin Spine study based on discordance for specific exposures to low back pain and disc degeneration, such as exercise participation, occupational driving, heavy material handling, and sedentary work. The twins did not necessarily suffer from back problems.

The precise phenotype in the present study was MRI-based calcified structure changes that were also visible in radiographs. Imaging of the hips was performed using a Siemens Vision 1.5 T, scanning both hips at the same time using a body matrix coil. Analysis of the scans was done using a Siemens MRI workstation at the Puijon Magneetti Oy company (Kuopio, Finland). The grading scale was based on Li et al (1988) and Kellgren and Lawrence (1957). The trait was dichotomized so that individuals with both hip joints normal according to a MRI hip image grade of 0 were considered as healthy, while individuals with at least small local osteophytes in caput or acetabulum (grades 1-4) in at least one hip were considered as affected, yielding a phenotype allowing for early-onset OA. One randomly selected individual from each monozygotic pair and both twins from the dizygotic pairs were included in the genetic analyses. Based on the dichotomization criteria, 94 individuals were classified as affected with hip OA (Study III) (**Table 4**, H).

# 4.1.2 Controls

#### **Clinical non-OA controls**

The first set of control subjects (n = 436, aged 35-70) (Studies I and II) (**Table 4**, I) were selected from the Finnish twin cohort (Kaprio *et al.* 2002). Initially, 210 unrelated individuals were selected from the twin sample using the inclusion criteria of being born between 1938 and 1941, responded to a questionnaire during the years 1996-1997, gave DNA samples for analysis, and that both twins reported that neither them nor their mother, father or any other sibling had physician diagnosed OA or RA. Second, 226 individuals were selected from the Twin Spine study that was used in the hip OA study (III). Subjects with physician-diagnosed OA without imaging were excluded, and only one twin from a pair was included.

#### Verification sample: Clinical non-hand OA controls

Controls originating from the Finnish Helsinki Birth Cohort Study were also involved in the study (Barker *et al.* 2005) (**Table 4**, J). They were above the age of 56 years and had visually healthy and symptomless finger joints (n=970).

#### Clinical non-knee/hip OA controls in discovery and verification

From the Health 2000 study, a total of 895 individuals were over 50 years of age and did not have clinically diagnosed probable or definite knee or hip OA. These individuals were used as knee OA controls (Study II) (**Table 4**, K). Individuals suffering from seropositive or -negative RA or having an unknown RA status were excluded.

In total, 1700 controls were selected using exclusion of the criteria used for the clinician diagnosed OA criteria in the discovery study sample. These were used in verification analysis and were genotyped using a different genotyping platform (**Table 4**, L).

#### Verification sample: Clinical non-knee OA controls

Altoghter 449 individuals from Spain, older than 55 years of age and undergoing pre-operative work-up for elective surgeries other than joint surgery, were used as knee OA controls in the verification analysis of Study II (**Table 4**, M). They did not have OA based on clinical diagnosis.

#### Clinical non-hip OA controls

In total, 251 hip OA controls (Study III) (**Table 4**, N) were selected from the individuals participating in the hip OA study of the Finnish Twin Spine study sample. The controls had healthy hip joints based on the MRI grading.

# 4.2 Marker selection and genotyping

# 4.2.1 Marker selection

A total of 166 SNPs in 25 structural, degenerative and inflammatory candidate genes were selected for Study III. The studied genes were ACAN, COLIA1, COLIA2, COL2A1, COL3A1, COL5A1, COL5A2, COL9A1, COL9A2, COL9A3, COL10A1, COL11A1, COL11A1, MMP3, MMP8, MMP9, MMP13, IL1R1, IL1R2, IL1RL1, IL1RL2, IL18R1, IL1RAP, IL1A and IL1B. The criteria for SNP selection was, a minimum heterozygosity of 20 % in the Caucasian population and 10 kb spacing between SNPs. Two different databases were used to select SNPs. Initially, the SNPper program was used (Snpper CHIP Bioinformatics Tools © 2001-2008, University of Florida, Gainesville Florida, USA; http://snpper.chip.org (Riva et al. 2001; 2002; 2004)), which utilizes the UCSC Human Genome Browser database (University of California, Santa Cruz Santa Cruz. California. USA: http://genome.ucsc.edu (Lander et al. 2001; Kent 2002; Fujita et al. 2010)). Secondly, the SeattleSNPs database was used (SeattleSNPs. NHLBI Program for Genomic Applications. SeattleSNPs. Seattle. WA. USA: http://pga.gs.washington.edu). Five of the 166 SNPs were selected based on previous association findings: rs7533552 in COL9A2 (Annunen et al. 1999) (Noponen-Hietala et al. 2003), rs2857401 flanking COLIA1 (Garcia-Giralt et al. 2002), rs1800012 in COL1A1 (Grant et al. 1996), rs412777 in COL1A2 (Suuriniemi et al. 2003), and rs9277933 in COL11A2 (Maeda et al. 2001).

The same *IL1* SNPs analysed in Study I were studied in Study III. For Study II, tag SNPs for *MMP8* and *MM9* genes were selected as presented in the Illumina HumanHap 610 GWA chip (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA).

# 4.2.2 DNA extraction and genotyping of the study samples

DNA was extracted from peripheral blood leukocytes using standard methods of phenol DNA extraction, salt precipitation extraction, silica-membrane-based purification (DNA Blood Maxi Kit, Qiagen, Venlo, The Netherlands) and Chemagen MSMI magnetic bead technology (PerkinElmer, Inc. Waltham, MA, USA).

Genotype data was obtained using the following methods: the homogeneous MassEXTEND<sup>TM</sup> (hME) and iPLEX Gold platforms in the Sequenom MassARRAY system (Sequenom Inc., San Diego, California, USA), the Microarray based allele

specific primer extension method (Silander *et al.* 2005), by capillary sequencing (ABI3730x1 DNA Analyzer, BigDye Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit, Life Technologies Corp., Carlsbad, CA, USA), the Illumina HumanHap 610 GWA chip (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA), and the SNaPshot Multiplex Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) with the Abi-Prism 3130x1 Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems).

The Sequenom MassARRAY system is discussed in more detail here, since the other methods were run, at least partly, through a core-facility.

# The Sequenom MassARRAY system

The 99 SNPs in studies I and III were genotyped using hME and iPLEX Gold technologies on the Sequenom MassARRAY platforms (Sequenom Inc., San Diego, California, USA) as recommended by the manufacturer with additional quality control steps (Silander *et al.* 2003). These systems are based on allele-specific primer extension and separation of different alleles, by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight (MALDI-TOF) mass spectrometry (Sequenom Inc. 2002; Sequenom Inc. 2005).

Assays were designed into multiplexes using the SpectroDESIGNER 1.3 (Sequenom Inc., San Diego, California, USA) and MassARRAY Assay Design v3.1 (Sequenom Inc., San Diego, California, USA) programs. These design PCR and extension primers, arranging the SNPs into multiplexes, of 2-6 SNPs for the hME technology, and 13-20 SNPs for the iPLEX technology. Genotyping of the samples was done in 384 well plates and the mass spectrums were analyzed by the SpectroTYPER RT 2.0 software (Sequenom Inc., San Diego, California, USA) for the hME technology and by the MassARRAY Typer software when using the iPLEX technology (Sequenom Inc., San Diego, California, USA).

Prior to OA sample genotyping, the SNPs that comprised a multiplex for the hME technology were validated by genotyping them singularly on 12 test samples. In order to determine that the SNPs are polymorphic in the studied population, and to confirm that the assays performed acceptably. Next, the hME and iPLEX multiplexes were optimized. This is perfomed by genotyping them as multiplexes on test samples, so that adjustments to the amounts of PCR and extension primers for each SNP assay in the multiplex can be made. For the hME system, 23 test samples and 1 empty well was used while for the iPLEX system 47 test samples and 1 empty well was used.

Sample plates included 8 empty wells and 8 duplicate samples for quality control. In the hME technology, all genotypes were manually read using the spectrograms of the SpectroTYPER RT 2.0 software (Sequenom Inc., San Diego, California, USA). SNP was excluded from the study if; there were alleles in empty sample wells, the allele peaks of the SNPs were consistently low (less than 2, when normally between 3 - 120), the allele peaks were significantly lower compared to extension primer peaks (less than 20 % of the height of extension primer), or if the allele peak was approximately 50 % higher in some of the samples and 50 % lower in others). Afterwards, the clustering option of the MassARRAY Typer software was used to verify the reliability of the hME assays.

In the iPLEX technology, MassARRAY Typer was used to perform genotype reading. Mainly the genotype clustering was used to assess the reliability of the SNP assays, while spectrograms were used as supportive information. Genotypes were clustered according to their signal intensity and their signal intensity ratio to the extension primer peak intensity. Outlier genotypes were set to unknown. Also, if more than half of the assays were unsuccessfully readable in a well, all genotypes of that well were set to missing. In the iPLEX technology observing allele spectrums in empty wells is not an uncommon phenomenon, therefore only if an assay showed alleles in all of the empty wells was it excluded from the study.

Additionally, 30 trio families consisting of mother, father and child, were added to the sample plates for quality control purposes. The trio samples were used to test if any of the SNP alleles were transmitted from the parents to the child against the Mendelian laws of inheritance using the PedCheck 1.1 Program. In a case of several families showing inheritance against the Mendelian laws, the SNP was excluded (O'Connell *et al.* 1998).

Only SNPs with a call rate over 90 % were included in the association analysis. Deviation from the Hardy-Weinberg (HW) equilibrium was tested using Pearson's chi-square test (Purcell *et al.* 2007). SNPs passing the quality control in validation, optimization, and sample genotyping were taken into the association analyses.

#### **Capillary sequencing**

Two SNPs in the *COL9A2* gene (Study III) were genotyped by sequencing the region harboring the SNPs, since they were both in the same codon (ABI3730xl DNA Analyzer, BigDye Terminator v3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit, Life Technologies Corp., Carlsbad, CA, USA). Sequence chromatograms were manually read. Two empty wells in each 96 well plate were used as a quality control.

#### Illumina HumanHap 610 GWA chip

Two genes, *MMP8* and *MMP9*, were selected for analysis (Study II). Genotypes for the controls in the Finnish knee OA discovery study sample (**Table 4**, E, K) were obtained from the Illumina HumanHap 610 GWA chip (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). The quality control criteria used for exclusion were; MAF less than 1 %, genotyping success rate less than 95 % for a marker or individual, HWE less than p =  $10^{-6}$ , piHat value more than 0.1 (on a scale 0-1), and no discrepencies between reported and genetic gender. Chromosome Y and mitochondrial DNA were not a part of this study.

The remaining portion of the genotypes were obtained using The Sequenom MassARRAY iPLEX system as described above (**Table 4**, D, F, L) or with the SNaPshot Multiplex Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) and Abi-Prism 3130xl Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems) (**Table 4**, G, M).

# 4.3 Statistical analyses

To analyze which of the selected candidate genes play a role in OA, association analyses were performed in all three studies. The LD pattern of the studied areas, gene tagging, and haplotypes were also studied.

# 4.3.1 Heritability

Heritability estimates were performed in the twin sample (Study III) (Professor Jaakko Kaprio's laboratory, Department of Public Health, University of Helsinki). First, polychoric correlations for MZ and DZ twins were calculated separately and then heritability was estimated using the Mx software (Neale, M.C., Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, Virginia, USA). Quantitative genetic models allowing for additive genetic, common, and unique environmental variance in the liability were used.

# 4.3.2 Statistical power

Statistical power calculations were done in Study I, in order to evaluate the power to detect similar association in another study sample as was detected in Study I. The aim was also to calculate the amount of cases required for another study sample to

have 90 % power of detecting a similar association as in Study I (Purcell *et al.* 2003).

#### 4.3.3 Gene tagging

The Tagger program (de Bakker *et al.* 2005) was used in order to reveal what percentage of the ungenotyped SNPs in the studied gene region are captured by the used SNP panels (Studies II and III). The program is based on HapMap data (The International HapMap Consortium *et al.* 2003). An  $r^2$  threshold of 50 % and 80 % between two markers was used (Study III and II respectively). In other words, when a SNP is in  $r^2$  correlation of more than 80 % with another SNP, the SNPs are tagged by one another and are representing similar genotypic information

### 4.3.4 Correction for multiple testing

After obtaining the genotype data, and due to forthcoming multiple testing, the next step was to evaluate p-value threshold for 5 % significance in the association analysis (Studies I-III). The Single Nucleotide Polymorphism Spectral Decomposition (SNPSpD) method (Nyholt 2004) with modifications by Li and Ji (Li *et al.* 2005) was used to calculate the p-value threshold for 5 % significance. This method took into account the LD between studied SNPs and thus is not as conservative as performing Bonferroni correction.

# 4.3.5 Association analysis

#### SNP association analysis

A  $\chi^2$  test was conducted using either Plink (Purcell *et al.* 2007) or Haploview (Barrett *et al.* 2005). If 5 or less individuals carried a genotype, either in the case or in the control group, the 2-Tail Fisher's exact test ((Agresti 1992) © Øyvind Langsrud) was used instead. The analysis methods assume indivduals to be unrelated. Therefore only one person per family was included in the familial (Study I) and in the twin study samples (Study III).

For all three studies (I-III), familial association was calculated using the Pseudomarker program 0.9.7 beta, which can utilize combined data of individual cases, sib pairs, families and healthy controls and separate the linkage evidence from evidence for association (Hiekkalinna *et al.* 2011a; Hiekkalinna *et al.* 2011b). Both

dominant and recessive modes of inheritance were used. The association was calculated taking into account the possible presence of linkage.

In Study II, the meta-analysis option of Cochran-Mantel-Haenszel was used in Plink to assess the overall effect size of the SNP combining different populations and phenotypes (Purcell *et al.* 2007).

#### LD structure and haplotype association analysis

The Haploview program (Barrett *et al.* 2005) was used to determine the pair-wise LD between SNPs ( $r^2$  and D' value) within the studied gene regions (Studies I-III), and to identify LD block structures using the  $r^2$  measure and the solid spine of LD algorithm implemented in the Haploview program. D' allows correlation between markers with different allele frequencies (Lewontin 1964). The solid spine of LD defines the block in such a manner that the first and last marker in a block are in strong LD with all markers between them, but the intermediate markers need not to be in LD with each other (Barrett *et al.* 2005).

In Study I, haplotype association analysis was performed using the Haploview program (Barrett *et al.* 2005) for the haplotypes containing the best individual associated SNPs. The SNPs located in *IL1R1* formed one LD block based on the  $r^2$  measure. Haplotypes were also formed for a larger SNP panel forming one LD block based on the "solid spine of LD" measure.

To calculate odds ratios (OR), individual haplotypes for each study subjects were estimated using the Phase2 program (Stephens *et al.* 2001; Stephens *et al.* 2003). A minimum probability of  $\geq 60$  % was requested for each haplotype. Alleles with a frequency of over 5 % in the control sample were each analyzed separately with the less common haplotype alleles being grouped together. Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium was calculated for the tested haplotypes to confirm the correctness of the haplotype allele distribution (p > 0.05).

# **5 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

# 5.1 IL1R1 associated with hand OA (I)

The *IL1* gene region was originally selected for the study due to a suggestive linkage finding at chromosome 2q12 (Z = 2.34 at recombination fraction 0) in a previous DIP OA study by Leppävuori *et al.* (1999) with a partly overlapping study sample to Study I. Further, other findings have shown evidence for the relevance of this region in knee and hip OA (Moos *et al.* 2000; Meulenbelt *et al.* 2004; Smith *et al.* 2004). Of the 16 genes in the 2 Mb linkage region, the *IL1* gene family of six genes was selected for further study, based on their biological relevance and the fact that the *IL1R1* gene is located at the highest Z<sub>max</sub> linkage peak. The *IL1R2, IL1R1, IL1RL2, IL1R1, IL18R1*, and *IL18RAP* genes are located in a 470 kb cluster on chromosome 2q12-14.

IL-1 is a pleiotropic cytokine involved in inflammatory and immune responses. A complex of either IL-1 $\alpha$  or IL-1 $\beta$  in combination with IL-1R1 and IL-1RAcP activates NF- $\kappa$ B (Bomsztyk *et al.* 1990; Beg *et al.* 1993). This pathway leads to the inflammatory and immune response (Sen *et al.* 1986).

In Study I, a total of 168 familial subjects were genotyped, of which 134 were mainly radiologically diagnosed to have DIP OA. Additionally, 435 healthy controls were included in the study. In total, 32 SNPs were analyzed (**Table 4** A, B, I).

# 5.1.1 Significant association with SNP rs2287047

The *IL1R1* region was fine-mapped in the current association study to reveal variants underlying hand OA. The Pseudomarker program (Hiekkalinna *et al.* 2011a; Hiekkalinna *et al.* 2011b) was used for family based association analysis. The  $\chi 2$  and Fisher's exact tests were used to confirm the finding in unrelated individuals excluding one individual from each per twin (85 hand OA cases, 435 controls). Altogether 32 SNPs were analyzed. Association with severe hand OA was concentrated on the region harboring the long promoter and coding region of the *IL1R1* gene (**Table 5**).

Association was seen for SNP rs2287047 to severe hand OA (OR for AA vs. GG = 0.16, 95% CI = 0.06 - 0.45; OR for AA vs. AG = 0.26, 95% CI = 0.09 - 0.73;
protective A allele being the minor allele; p = 0.00091 dominant mode of inheritance). This association was statistically significant after correction for multiple testing. The p-value threshold that corresponds to significance at the 5 % level was 0.0021, based on SNPSpD (Nyholt 2004; Li *et al.* 2005). Based on this results, the *IL1R1* gene region was studied further.

Gene	SNP id	MAF		p-value			
		Controls	Hand OA	$\chi^2$	Dominant		
IL1R1	rs1465325	0.195	0.119	$0.022^{a}$	0.005		
	rs956730	0.260	0.204	$0.140^{a}$	0.026		
	rs3917225	0.396	0.309	0.043	0.078		
	rs2287047	0.249	0.159	0.013 <sup>a</sup>	0.00091		
	rs3771200	0.411	0.453	0.312	0.539		
IL1RL2	rs2241132	0.158	0.141	$0.644^{a}$	0.491		
	rs870684	0.378	0.394	0.690	0.781		
	rs1922290	0.377	0.420	0.304	0.495		
	rs1922295	0.379	0.400	0.613	0.696		
	rs1997502	0.353	0.318	0.375	0.681		
	rs2302612	0.119	0.157	0.199 <sup>a</sup>	0.505		

**Table 5**. Single SNP association results between *IL1R1* gene area and hand OA.

a = Fisher's exact test; Dominant = association p-value with dominant model of the Pseudomarker program (Hiekkalinna *et al.* 2011a, Hiekkalinna *et al.* 2001b).

For confirmation of the original linkage observed, linkage of the region was analyzed using the Pseudomarker program (Hiekkalinna *et al.* 2011a; Hiekkalinna *et al.* 2011b) in the hand OA families. SNP rs956730 showed the strongest evidence for linkage to hand OA (LOD = 1.34, p = 0.006, two-point linkage, dominant model).

## 5.1.2 Haplotype tagged by rs1465325 associated with hand OA

The LD block of the promising region was studied in controls using the Haploview program (Barrett *et al.* 2005). Associated SNPs seemed to be in LD with each other (D'  $\text{LD} \ge 94$  %;  $r^2 \text{LD} \ge 34$  %) (**Figure 6**). Next, SNPs in LD with each other were selected for haplotyping.



**Figure 6.** The LD block structure of IL1R1 and IL1RL2 genes in the control sample. Above the  $r^2$  measure of LD, below the D' measure of LD. The pair-wise LD is shown as different shadings of grey ( $r^2$ ) and red (D'). The LD blocks selected for haplotyping are marked with black triangle (Barrett et al. 2005).

Haplotypes were analyzed to gain further understanding of the allelic background in the *IL1R1* area. First, SNPs in the *IL1R1* gene were selected for haplotyping (rs1465325, rs956730, rs3917225, rs2287047, rs3771200; D' LD > 83 %,  $r^2 > 15$ %). Haplotype CAAAG was observed to be the protecting allele as it was rarer in cases (0.104) than in controls (0.188) [OR for "heterozygous for CAAAG" vs. "homozygous for others" = 0.54; 95% CI = 0.41 to 0.72; p = 0.0079 based on the

Phase2 (Stephens *et al.* 2001; Stephens *et al.* 2003) and the Haploview programs (Barrett *et al.* 2005)].

**Table 6**. *IL1R1* haplotype frequencies and the p-value for the association (one haplotype versus all other haplotypes) based on the Haploview program (Barrett *et al.* 2005).

Haplotype	Allele frequencies	p-value				
	Controls	Hand OA <sup>a</sup>				
TGGGA	0.381	0.440	0.147			
TGGGG	0.218	0.212	0.865			
CAAAG	0.188	0.104	0.0079			
TGAGG	0.115	0.123	0.772			
TAAAG	0.053	0.048	0.796			

a = one individual per family

Secondly, the solid spine of LD algorithm, as used in the Haploview program, was used to select SNPs for confirmatory haplotype association analysis (Barrett *et al.* 2005). SNPs rs1465325, rs956730, rs3917225, rs2287047, rs3771200, rs2241132, rs870684, rs1922290, and rs1922295 were used (D' LD  $\geq$  94 % for rs1465325 with other markers; D' LD  $\geq$  86 % for rs1922295 with other markers). Based on this confirmatory analysis, the CAAAGCTGC haplotype seemed to protect from hand OA as it was rarer in the hand OA cases (0.101) than in controls (0.190) (p = 0.0058).

The rs1465325 SNP appears to tag the protective allele (OR CT vs. TT = 0.59, CI = 0.45 to 0.78; p = 0.022).

# 5.1.3 Power in the knee OA sample

Based on the Genetic power calculator (Purcell *et al.* 2003), at least 503 knee OA cases would have been required to have 90% power to detect this association, when assuming a similar effect size as observed in the family-based severe hand OA, with an allele frequency of 0.84 and prevalence of 7 %. The power to detect association with the 113 knee OA cases used in Study I was only 12 %.

The effect size of the studied SNP (rs2287047) might have been an over-estimate due to the limited sample size. Since, assuming an effect size typically seen in complex diseases (risk ratios for a single SNP 1.15 - 1.20), approximately 4000

cases are required to detect similar association with 80% power (allele frequency of 0.75 and prevalence of 10 %).

#### 5.1.4 The role of *IL1R1* in OA

To conclude, association was detected between severe hand OA and four SNPs in the *IL1R1* gene. The strongest evidence for association was observed with the rs2287047 SNP (p = 0.00091) located in intron 1 of the *IL1R1* gene. The other three associated SNPs are located in the long promoter region of the gene.



**Figure 7.** Flowchart of the two studies on IL1R1 and hand OA. Suggestive evidence of linkage between hand OA and chromosome 2q11-q21 was observed in a genome-wide scan by Leppävuori et al. (1999). Association fine-mepping was performed in an extended hand OA study sample in Study I and variants in IL1R1were observed to "associate" with hand OA.

One hypothesis for the role of this finding in OA is that the associated SNP region affects the gene expression of *IL1R1* gene. Altered expression levels of *IL1R1* could further affect NF- $\kappa$ B signaling, resulting in elevated expression levels of other inflammatory components leading to an increased tendency to inflammatory reactions in hand joints. However, the *IL1R1* gene variants could affect OA in a number of other ways, due to the complexity of NF- $\kappa$ B signaling.

IL-1 $\beta$  binds to the IL-1R1 protein that is widely expressed in different tissues on the cell surface. The roles of the *IL1* gene family members in this pathway are presented in **Figure 8**. The IL-1 – IL-1R1 – IL1RAcP complex starts the pathway, leading to the phosphorylation of inhibitory  $\kappa$ B (I $\kappa$ B) with the help of inhibitory  $\kappa$ B kinase (IKK). The release of I $\kappa$ B enables NF $\kappa$ B to promote the expression of corresponding genes, including *IL1A* and *IL1B*. The *IL1RN* gene codes for the IL-1Ra protein which inhibits the binding of IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  to their receptor IL-1R1. (O'Neill *et al.* 1998; Debets *et al.* 2001; Subramaniam *et al.* 2004; Towne *et al.* 2004; Roman-Blas *et al.* 2006).



**Figure 8.** *IL1 gene family memebers and activation of NFKB. Green color indicates a proinflammatory and red color an anti-inflammatory molecule (O'Neill et al. 1998; Debets et al. 2001; Subramaniam et al. 2004; Towne et al. 2004; Roman-Blas et al. 2006).* 

The role of the IL-1 pathway in OA has been previously studied. Firstly, the production of the IL-1 $\beta$  (by the *IL1B* gene) and the IL-1Ra (by the *IL1RN* gene) proteins was shown to be high in OA patient blood samples stimulated with LPS when compared to control blood samples stimulated with LPS (Riyazi *et al.* 2005).

Secondly, a study by Fernandes *et al.* (1999) showed that injection of the IL-1Ra (*IL1RN*) plasmid gene, into menisectomized rabbit knee, reduced the progression of OA. Thirdly, anakinra, a recombinant IL-1Ra protein, has been shown to decrease the symptoms in erosive OA patients (Bacconnie *et al.* 2009). However the results have not been unequivocal (Chevalier *et al.* 2009), this is possibly due to the short half life of anakinra (a few hours) and thus therapeutically too low concentrations were attained in the study (Martel-Pelletier *et al.* 2009) or because of a low affect in OA. Anakinra was approved for use in the treatment of RA by the European Commission European union in 2002.

The four associated SNPs of this study were located in the non-coding region of *IL1R1*. Three of them were in the long, highly polymorphic promoter region (rs1465325, rs956730, rs3917225) (Smith *et al.* 2004). It is possible that the studied SNPs, or other SNPs in high LD with the studied ones, affect the expression of the *IL1R1* gene or other genes in the same region. Three SNPs (rs1465325, rs3917225, rs2287047) co-localized with predicted transcription factor binding sites. In all three cases the conserved allele matched with the consensus sequence of a transcription factor binding site, while the other allele changed the site either to another transcription factor binding site or caused a loss of the binding site (Computational Biology Research Center CBRC, http://www.cbrc.jp/index.eng.html).

The role of the pathway from IL-1 $\beta$  to NF- $\kappa$ B activation is important for microbial defense. Mice deficient in IL-1 $\beta$  are more susceptible to several microbial infections compared to wild type mice (Netea *et al.* 2010). Survival from microbial infections has been, and still is, likely to be one of the many key issues for survival of a species. In comparison, joint wellbeing in later age is probably one of the least important characteristics for evolutionary survival.

Study I was the first study to show an association between *IL1R1* and OA. The *IL1R1* gene did not show significant association with knee OA, possibly due to either lack of importance in knee OA or lack of power in the knee OA study group. The *IL1R1* gene has been associated with other diseases like AIDS progression (Do *et al.* 2006) and endometriosis (D'Amora *et al.* 2006).

# 5.2 MMP8 associated with knee OA

The aim of Study II was to investigate if there were allelic variants of *MMP8* and *MMP9* genes that would associate with knee OA. A Finnish discovery sample of 185 knee OA cases, with either clinical (n=75) or radiological (n=110) diagnosis, and 895 controls were analyzed (**Table 4**, D, E, K). Based on the results, one SNP in *MMP8* gene was further genotyped in a Finnish knee OA verification sample of 302 clinical knee OA cases and 1700 controls (**Table 4**, F, L) and in a Spanish knee OA verification sample of 254 knee OA cases and 449 controls (**Table 4**, G, M). Furthermore, a Finnish hand OA verification sample 1, consisting of 132 familial radiological hand OA cases and 435 controls, was analyzed (**Table 4**, A, I) as along with a second Finnish hand OA verification sample, consisting of 524 visually evaluated hand OA cases and 970 controls (**Table 4**, C, J). Meta-analysis was performed analyzing all knee OA and hand OA cases as two separate phenotypes and jointly as one OA phenotype.

#### 5.2.1 Significant SNP association with only one study sample

Altogether, 13 tag SNPs were studied in the *MMP8* and *MMP9* genes and analyzed using Plink (Purcell *et al.* 2007). The main finding of Study II was for the SNP rs1940475 located in the *MMP8* gene (**Table 7**). The initial finding was observed with the Finnish knee OA discovery sample (OR = 0.721 95 % CI 0.575 - 0.906; p = 0.0049). A similar trend was seen in the Finnish knee OA verification sample, the Spanish knee OA verification sample, and the Finnish hand OA verification samples, but without statistical significance. Meta-analysis combining all study samples yielded a p-value of 0.028 (OR = 0.904, 95 % CI 0.827 - 0.989) (1369 OA cases, 4445 controls). The p-value threshold for 5 % significance was 0.0057 for the initial finding (Nyholt 2004; Li *et al.* 2005). The effect was stronger in the Finnish study sample than in the Spanish.

The same magnitude of significance was seen with another SNP (OR = 0.710, 95 % CI 0.562 - 0.895; p = 0.004; rs3765620). Both SNPs are non-synonymous. The SNP rs1940475 changes a positively charged OA protecting lysine to a negatively charged OA predisposing glutamic acid (Lys87 to Glu), while the SNP rs3765620 changes a protective polar threonine to a predisposing non-polar isoleucine (Thr32 to Ile). For both SNPs, the predisposing allele was the common, ancestral allele.

SND (allala)	Freq	Freq	$\chi^2$	OB	1.05	1105
SINP (allele)	ctris	cases	p-value	UK	L93	095
rs12274992 (T)	0.051	0.074	0.088	1.470	0.942	2.293
rs3740938 (A)	0.074	0.068	0.688	0.913	0.587	1.422
rs2012390 (C)	0.205	0.186	0.417	0.888	0.666	1.183
rs1940475 (T)	0.493	0.413	0.0049	0.721	0.575	0.906
Finnish knee OA verification sample	0.473	0.454	0.371	0.924	0.776	1.099
Spanish knee OA verification sample	0.462	0.461	0.966	0.995	0.800	1.239
Knee OA META			0.039	0.884	0.787	0.994
Finnish hand OA verification sample 1	0.484	0.428	0.187	0.798	0.571	1.116
Finnish hand OA verification sample 2	0.474	0.465	0.639	0.965	0.830	1.121
Hand OA META			0.332	0.934	0.814	1.072
OA META			0.028	0.904	0.827	0.989
rs7123682 (C)	0.129	0.159	0.132	1.271	0.930	1.738
rs3765620 (G)	0.446	0.363	0.004	0.710	0.562	0.895
rs7943404 (G)	0.378	0.431	0.060	1.245	0.990	1.565
rs10895354 (C)	0.129	0.159	0.125	1.277	0.934	1.746

**Table 7**. Results of an association analysis on *MMP8* in the Finnish knee OA discovery sample.

(allele) = allele for which the allele frequencies are shown; OA = osteoarthritis; META = meta-analysis of study samples above; Freq = allele frequency; ctrls = controls; OR = odds ratio; L95 = lower 95 % confidence interval; U95 = upper 95 % confidence interval.

#### 5.2.2 MMP8 region is in one LD block

The LD block structure was analyzed using the Haploview program (Barrett *et al.* 2005). Controls of the Finnish knee OA discovery sample were used in this analysis. The D' measure takes into account the differences in allele frequencies allowing strong correlation for mutations occurring at different times throughout evolution. The *MMP8* gene is located in one LD block based on the D' measure. The two SNPs associating with knee OA are in high LD with each other ( $r^2 = 82 \%$ ).



**Figure 9**. The LD block structure of the MMP8 gene in the Finnish controls of the Finnish discovery knee OA sample. Above the  $r^2$  measure of LD, below the D' measure of LD. The pair-wise LD is shown as different shadings of grey ( $r^2$ ) and red (D') (Barrett et al. 2005).

#### 5.2.3 The role of MMP8 in OA

The MMP-8 protein (neutrophil collagenase, collagenase 2) cleaves collagens type I, II, III, other ECM compounds, and non-structural molecules (Barksby *et al.* 2006). A major source of MMP-8 is the neutrophils (Lazarus *et al.* 1968), which are essential cells in acute response to pathogens. Neutrophils appear in inflamed tissues within minutes to hours from contact with a pathogen. A mesenchymal form of the MMP-8 molecule is expressed by chondrocytes following a proinflammatory stimulus (Barksby *et al.* 2006), rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts and human endothelial cells (Hanemaaijer *et al.* 1997), osteoblastic progenitors, differentiated osteoblasts, osteocytes, and chondrocytes in the growth plate (Sasano *et al.* 2002), all of which might explain the connection between *MMP8* and OA.

The role of MMP-8 in OA has been suggested by the following studies: Increased expression of MMP-8 is associated with increased cleavage of type II collagen in OA in human osteoarthritic articular cartilage. *MMP8* mRNA was present in OA cartilage but absent from normal cartilage (Shlopov *et al.* 1997; Chubinskaya *et al.* 1999) and the levels were higher in chondrocytes obtained from areas surrounding OA lesion compared to other areas of the cartilage (Shlopov *et al.* 1999). The expression is not however, elevated in the synovium (Davidson *et al.* 2006). A similar trend was seen in cartilage immunostaining (Tetlow *et al.* 2001). MMP-8 levels were higher in blood of OA patients compared to controls (Tchetverikov *et al.* 2004).

TNF- $\alpha$  increases MMP-8 expression (Stannus *et al.*; Shlopov *et al.* 1999; Tetlow *et al.* 2001; Guler-Yuksel *et al.* 2010; Riepl *et al.* 2010). Inhibition of MMP-8 could be an important target in the prevention of the development of OA. Tetracycline (Suomalainen *et al.* 1992), doxycycline (Lauhio *et al.* 1994; Shlopov *et al.* 1999), and Ro 32-3555 (Trocade) (Lewis *et al.* 1997) could be potential treatments for OA due to their ability to decrease the levels of MMP-8. However, the important role of MMP-8 in other pathways including cancer related pathways (Balbin *et al.* 2003; Palavalli *et al.* 2009) raises the question of possible risks associated with this type of OA treatment.

# 5.3 COL9A2 and COL10A1 in hip OA

The heritability of the studied hip OA phenotype was 72 % (95% CI 49–87 %). Altogether 99 SNPs in 25 candidate genes were studied. The studied genes were *ACAN*, collagen genes (*COL1A1*, *COL1A2*, *COL2A1*, *COL3A1*, *COL5A1*, *COL5A2*, *COL9A1*, *COL9A2*, *COL9A3*, *COL10A1*, *COL11A1* and *COL11A1*), matrix metalloproteinase genes (*MMP3*, *MMP8*, *MMP9* and *MMP13*), and interleukin and interleukin receptor genes (*IL1A*, *IL1B IL1R1*, *IL1R2*, *IL1RL1*, *IL1RL2*, *IL18R1*, and *IL1RAP*). In total, 94 hip OA cases and 251 controls were analyzed (Table 4, H, N).

The Tagger program was used to analyze, how well the genetic variance in the studied regions, was tagged by the studied SNPs. Coverage ( $r^2 = 50$  %) was 42 % on average, varying from 0 % to 80 % (*COL9A2*).

# 5.3.1 Suggestive evidence for association

The main association findings concentrated on the *COL9A2* and *COL10A1* genes (p < 0.01) (**Table 8**). None of the findings reached the 5 % threshold for significance that was set at 0.00073, based on SNPSpD analysis (Nyholt 2004; Li *et al.* 2005).

Table 8. Asso	ociation of SNPs in COL9A2 and COL10A1 g	enes with hip OA as
analyzed using	the Pseudomarker program (Hiekkalinna et al.	2011a; Hiekkalinna et
al. 2011b) and	$\chi^2$ .test. The significance threshold was 0.00073.	

Gene	SNP id	MAF		p-value			
		Controls	Hip OA	$\chi^2$	Dominant		
COL9A2	rs449541	0.340	0.289	0.287	0.158		
	rs364281	0.397	0.386	0.817	0.920		
	rs12077871	0.010	0.014	$1.000^{a,b}$	0.215		
	rs7533552	0.130	0.308	0.0021 <sup>a,c</sup>	0.003		
COL10A1	rs549332	0.434	0.507	0.157	0.179		
	rs1064583	0.396	0.306	0.066	0.030		
	rs3812111	0.394	0.297	0.053	0.024		
	rs568725	0.383	0.250	0.006	0.0015		

a = Fisher's exact test; b = Trp versus combined Arg and Gln alleles; c = combined Arg and Trp alleles versus Gln; Dominant = dominant mode in the familial association analysis performed with Pseudomarker (Hiekkalinna *et al.* 2011a; Hiekkalinna *et al.* 2011b).

Three SNPs in moderate LD with each other  $(r^2 \ge 60 \%)$  showed a trend towards association in *COL10A1* (p = 0.0015, dominant mode of inheritance, the Pseudomarker program (Hiekkalinna *et al.* 2011a; Hiekkalinna *et al.* 2011b)).

This was the first time when a common SNP (rs7533552, alternative name rs2228564) in the *COL9A2* gene, on chromosome 1p34.2, was identified to associate with hip OA (p = 0.003). What makes this finding especially interesting, is a previous Finnish association finding between the same locus and disc degeneration (the Trp allele) in the same study sample (Videman *et al.* 2009).

The predisposing G allele changes a codon of a non-polar amino acid, glutamine (Gln326), to a positively charged arginine (Arg), or to tryptophan (Trp) when together with a rare T allele in the SNP next to it (rs12077871). The locus was sequenced with capillary sequencing to define the genotypes of both variants and, therefore, to reveal the amino acid for each individual. Eleven individuals carried a Trp allele as a combination of C/T heterozygote for SNP rs12077871 (1st base) together with A/G heterozygote or G/G homozygote for SNP rs7533552 (2nd base). This indicated that the minor alleles T and G of the two studied SNPs were inherited together (D' LD = 100 %,  $r^2$  LD = 4 %, calculated using the Haploview program (Barrett *et al.* 2005) (**Table 9**) (**Figure 10**).

1 <sup>st</sup> base rs12077871	2 <sup>nd</sup> base rs7533552	3 <sup>rd</sup> base	Corresponding amino acid	Cont (n)	trols (%)	Hip (n)	OA (%)
C C	A A	G G	Gln Gln	96	67.1	36	49.3
C C	A G	G G	Gln Arg	41	28.7	28	38.4
C T	A G	G G	Gln Trp	3	2.1	1	1.4
C C	G G	G G	Arg Arg	3	2.1	7	9.6
C T	G G	G G	Arg Trp	0	0.0	1	1.4

**Table 9.** The *COL9A2* finding in hip OA in Study III. The number of different amino acid combinations in unrelated hip OA cases and in controls for the Gln326 codon that contains two SNPs.



Figure 10. The LD patterns of the studied SNPs in COL9A2 and COL10A1 genes according to the Haploview program (Barrett et al. 2005). Above the  $r^2$  measure of LD, below the D' measure of LD. The pair-wise LD is shown as different shadings of grey  $(r^2)$  and red (D') (Barrett et al. 2005).

The Odds ratio was calculated by comparing amino acid counts of the wild-type Gln allele with the OA predisposing Arg or Trp alleles between the hip OA cases (45 predisposing alleles, 101 wild-type alleles) and controls (50 predisposing alleles, 236 wild-type alleles). The disease OR for carrying either of the predisposing variant alleles Arg or Trp versus the wild-type allele Gln was 2.10 (95% CI 1.66–2.67; p = 0.0021, Fisher's exact test). It seemed that the Trp allele was not associated with hip OA when compared with Arg and Gln alleles combined, but due to the limited number of individuals carrying the Trp allele, conclusion on its independent role cannot be drawn.

## 5.3.2 The role of COL9A2 and COL10A1 in OA

The hip OA predisposing variant in *COL9A2* (Figure 11) seemed to have a pleiotropic effect. The same predisposing G allele ( $\operatorname{Arg}^{326}$  or  $\operatorname{Trp}^{326}$ ) associated with lumbar disc degeneration (p = 0.036 after 1000 permutations; disc bulging in discs L1-L4) in a previous study of the same twin sample (Videman *et al.* 2009). In addition, a similar trend was seen in a German population. The Arg amino acid was less frequent in controls than in patients suffering from "lumbar disc disease" and in those surgically treated for intervertebral disc herniation. The association did not, however, reach statistical significance (Knoeringer *et al.* 2008).



**Figure 11.** Location of the variants in COL9A2 gene on chromosome 1p34.2.  $bp = base pair location coordinates; Gene = the COL9A2 gene, exons are marked as boxes; Cons = conservation on the area between mammals on a scale (+2)-(-3); LD is shown as the <math>r^2$  measure. Modified from UCSC Genome Browser on Human Mar. 2006 Assembly and Haploview (Barrett et al. 2005).

The rare amino acid change  $Gln^{326}$  to Trp ("the Trp2 allele") has been associated with intervertebral disc disease with associated sciatica in Finns (Annunen *et al.* 1999). The Trp2 allele has also been shown to play a role in a degenerative lumbar spinal stenosis in Finns (Noponen-Hietala *et al.* 2003). Finnish patients carrying the Trp2 allele have been shown to be more flexible according to the modified Schober

measure, and they more often have a radial tear in a non-herniated disc compared to controls (Karppinen *et al.* 2002). Surprisingly, the Trp2 allele seems to be relatively common in the Southern Chinese population, occurring in 20 % of the population. Where it is an age-dependent risk factor for the development and severity of a "degenerative disc disease" phenotype (associated with it in the age group of 40-49 years), for the development of anular tears (associated with it in the age group of 30-39 years), and Schmorl's nodes (associated with the age group of 40-49 years) (Jim *et al.* 2005). Additionally, the Trp2 allele was shown to associate with disc degeneration in Japanese patients less than 40 years of age (Higashino *et al.* 2007). The Trp2 allele was associated with the deteriorating mechanical properties of the nucleus pulposus as early as adolescence, when no other signs of disc degeneration were present (Aladin *et al.* 2007).

Of special importance to the present study, is that the SNP rs7533552, in the *COL9A2* gene and moderately associating with hip OA, is likely to be an actual disease causing variant rather than a marker in high LD with such a variant. As discussed earlier, type IX collagen contains sequences that form triple-helical domains and plays a role in balancing the type II collagen by forming cross-links with it. Based on the present results, it can be hypothesized that a change from glutamine to either arginine or tryptophan affects the triple helical structure, thereby weakening the cartilage of the hip and intervertebral discs. However, based on the PolyPhen protein structure prediction program, only the change from glutamine to tryptophan was predicted as possibly damaging (Division of Genetics, Department of Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital – Harvard Medical School, Cambridge, MA, USA; http://genetics.bwh.harvard.edu/pph/).

Other variations in *COL9A2* gene have been shown to associate with intrafamilial phenotypic diversity in multiple epiphyseal dysplasia (Takahashi *et al.* 2006). The *COL9A2* gene encodes one (alpha 2) of the three alpha chains of type IX collagen, which is usually found in tissues containing type II collagen. Type IX collagen plays a role in load bearing cartilages by organizing and stabilizing the network of collagen fibrils. Deficiency in  $\alpha 1(IX)$  chains leads to a dysfunction of type IX collagen. However, it was shown that type IX collagen is not essential for formation of the fibril network, instead the protein is required for long term tissue stability (Hagg *et al.* 1997). The other two alpha chains in type IX collagen have also been associated with disc disease and OA, the alpha 1 chain displayed an association with disc degeneration in a previous study on twins (Videman *et al.* 2009) and it has been associated with hip OA.

Three neighboring SNPs showed some level of association with hip OA in the *COL10A1* gene on chromosome 6q22.1 (Figure 12). The most significant p-value in the *COL10A1* gene was obtained for SNP rs568725 (p = 0.0015). The SNP

rs1064583, which showed only a modest association with hip OA (p = 0.0245), is located in an exon and changes the amino acid methionin to threonine (Met27 to Thr). Interestingly, there is another gene, Homo sapiens 5'-nucleotidase domain containing 1 (*NT5DC1*) in the same location, but the direction of this gene is opposite to that of the *COL10A1*.

The *COL10A1* gene (**Figure 12**) encodes three alpha 1 chains of the type X collagen homotrimer. It is expressed by hypertrophic chondrocytes during endochondral ossification, and can thus be considered as a marker for new bone formation in articular cartilage (Shen 2005). Type X collagen was found in the osteoarthritic cartilage of the hip, but was absent from normal adult cartilage (Boos *et al.* 1999).



**Figure 12.** Location of the variants in COL10A1 gene on chromosome 6q22.1.  $Bp = base pair location coordinates; Gene = genes in the area, boxes represent the exons and continuous line represent the introns; Cons = conservation on the area between mammals on a scale (+2)-(-3); LD is shown as the <math>r^2$  measure. Modified from UCSC Genome Browser on Human Mar. 2006 Assembly and Haploview (Barrett et al. 2005).

# 5.4 Limitations of the study

The three most significant limitations of the present thesis work were, the limited sample sizes, lack of replication, and the insufficient marker coverage of the genes studied.

## 5.4.1 Sample size

A small sample size reduces the power for the detection of SNPs of low-effect, which are likely to be typical in complex diseases. In the present thesis work, the number of individuals studied, and especially the number of individuals affected, was not high enough for sufficient power to detect low-effect variants, or to exclude the relevance of a gene to a phenotype. For instance in Study I, the required number of cases was 500 to have 90 % power for detection of the observed association signal, which, further, might have been an over-estimate (OR = 0.26). Genome-wide association signals of  $p < 5x10^{-8}$  with typical ORs of about 1.25 (Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2007) would require 6000 cases and 6000 controls for detection (Hirschhorn *et al.* 2005). The small sample size, therefore, increases the risk for false positive findings.

# 5.4.2 Phenotyping

Most disease phenotypes cannot be biologically divided into groups of healthy and affected individuals, but the phenotypes are usually continuous quantitative traits, as discussed earlier. In the present study, the populations were divided into two groups, healthy and affected, based on their OA grade or clinical evaluation. Some individuals in these two different groups might still be biologically very similar to each other. A pure quantitative trait could have given a better starting point for the study. However, developing a reliable quantitative measurement for OA, that is also heritable, is still a challenge.

Additionally, the grading of the hip OA using MRI was originally performed for the disc degeneration study, and only individuals imaged with the method were included in the present study. There were a few individuals excluded that had gone through joint replacement surgery, and thus, were unable to participate in the MRI grading due to the metallic object now in their body. Moreover, severe forms of OA might significantly limit physical activities such as walking, and, therefore, such individuals may not participate in these studies.

#### 5.4.3 Gene coverage

The SNP panels in studies I and III were designed before the availability of the HapMap genotyping database (The International HapMap Consortium *et al.* 2003) and thus the tagging SNP method was not used. Without such knowledge of the LD structure of the genome, revealed by the HapMap project, the SNPs were selected to cover the studied genes in terms of equal physical distance. The number of SNPs and their locations was later found not to be optimal.

Furthermore, a large number of SNPs were excluded from the study during the strict quality control stage. Therefore, the SNP panels in these studies did not cover the genes sufficiently, and variants affecting the disease may have been missed. On the other hand, the tagging system based on HapMap linkage disequilibrium data has been criticized, since a disease causing SNP could be missed even when genotyping a tag marker in high LD with it (Terwilliger *et al.* 2006).

#### 5.4.4 Studied population

The population structure of the study subjects was not taken into consideration when planning the study. However, both hand and knee OA study samples were collected from nationwide cohorts or from national hospitals specialized in rheumatic diseases. Recently published data shows that subjects originating from different parts of Finland are heterogeneous in their genetic background, even if the total amount of variance is lower than in other European populations (Jakkula *et al.* 2008). However, the GWA data of the Finnish Health 2000 sample showed relatively homogenous genetic background between the clinical knee OA cases and controls (**Table 4**, K, E), with a p-value greater than 0.1 for the difference between cases and controls for the 10 most significant principal components describing the genetic heterogeneity of the two groups.

## 5.4.5 Lack of replication

For validation of a finding the results should be replicated in a larger sample set to verify association with OA. Until then, the presented results should only be considered as a possible starting point for future studies. Future GWA and whole-genome sequencing studies will cover the studied areas and, therefore, should shed more light on these findings.

## 5.4.6 Statistical significance of the findings

In the present study, association analyses were performed using the  $\chi^2$  test and the Pseudomarker program's dominant and recessive models. Performing the association test in three different ways increases the number of statistical tests performed. However, these tests are still highly dependent on each other. That is why they were not corrected for separately, which would have decreased the p-value threshold of significance. Further, some of the SNPs were in high LD with each other. These factors were taken into account in the correction of multiple testing. With some of the SNPs considered as one test and the tests of different inheritance models also considered as one test.

Today, the emerging technology of whole-genome sequencing in large study samples enables positive findings with p-values of several magnitudes larger in size. A genome-wide significance level of  $5 \times 10^{-8}$  is not obtainable with the sample sizes used here or with the number of SNPs studied. The current findings should be considered as an implication of a possible association, and therefore as a base for future studies.

## 5.4.7 Biological meaning of the findings

Clinically and diagnostically, these findings are still far from practical applications in terms of medical treatment for OA. Evidence for an eventual role of the *IL1R1* variant in OA is needed, and similarly protein structure analysis corresponding to the *MMP8* and *COL9A2* findings are needed.

# **6 CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS**

In this thesis, association between OA and SNPs in several biologically relevant candidate genes was analyzed. Association was observed between hand OA and the *IL1R1* gene (p = 0.00091, with a significance threshold of p = 0.0021), knee OA and the *MMP8* gene (p = 0.0049, with a significance threshold of 0.0057), and between hip OA and the COL9A2 and COL10A1 genes (p = 0.0021 and p = 0.0015, with a significance threshold of 0.00073). However, due to the small sample sizes and the moderate strength of the findings, these results need to be replicated in larger sample sets in order to verify their true importance in the etiology and pathogenesis of OA. Today, with the commonly used GWA methods and large sample sets of tens of thousands study subjects, p-value thresholds of  $p < 5x10^{-8}$  are considered as statistically significant, with newer technologies that will perform whole-genome sequencing likely to decrease this limit further. Compared to the newer knowledge and studies, which are possible to conduct today, the current findings are of moderate value. However, it is important to emphasize the fact that the association with the ILR1 gene was found in a region previously indicated in a linkage study on the same study sample. While, the finding for MMP8 showed a similar trend in several study samples, even if not in a statistically significant manner, and the codon in the COL9A2 gene had associated with disc degeneration in a previous study (Videman et al. 2009).

For the association findings presented in this thesis work for the *IL1R1*, *MMP8* and *COL9A2* genes, it is important to replicate them in other larger study samples, including both Finnish cohorts and cohorts of other ethnic backgrounds.

In general, extending the studied samples with new samples would be of use. Another way to proceed could be by collecting a new large OA study sample with known common ancestors from an isolated population, so as to perform exome or whole-genome sequencing in order to find rarer familial variants. A cost effective study approach would be through utilizing large population based cohorts that are currently being deep-sequenced, exome-sequenced or genotyped with GWA chips. Besides clinical and/or radiological data, applying known OA biomarker data from whole blood samples could yield interesting results. However, choosing reliable OA biomarkers might be a difficult task. However, on the other hand, their biological reliability would likely be higher than the symptom based clinical phenotype.

Moreover, an expression study assessing the role of the four associated SNPs in the expression of *IL1R1* gene itself, and other *IL1* genes, would be useful. Detailed protein structure analyses of type IX collagen and MMP-8 for the different forms, according to the associated SNPs, would also gain important information about the

true biological meaning of these findings. Based on these results, the region of *IL1R1* is currently undergoing deep sequencing in two pools of 8 and 10 individuals, selected based on their carrier status for the GG or GA genotype of the SNP rs2287047.

When these projects were initiated, one hypotheses of OA was that the disease is caused by defective protein structure of the cartilage. Another point of view was that there is an imbalance between the cartilage break down and repair by chondrocytes. Additionally, based on disease mapping of different complex traits, it is now known that in addition to common variants predisposing to common diseases, it is likely that rare variants also contribute to common diseases, with rare variants being more likely to be functional than a common one (Zhu *et al.* 2011).

With the newer technology it has been possible to perform studies without delimiting the study to a few *a priori* ideas and this will help OA research to a new level. Based on large GWA studies, it seems that both the immune system (Nakajima *et al.* 2010) and nerve growth (Day-Williams *et al.* 2011) are factors contributing to the disease. On the other hand, the role of chondrocytes is especially interesting in the development of OA. These cells are the only cells to maintain the cartilage, and while doing so they use the synovial fluid both as a source for nutrients and as a sewer system for metabolites (Corvol 2000). Another interesting view of OA relates it to obesity and cardiovascular diseases (Uchida *et al.* 2009).

All in all, it has been known for decades that radiological OA changes and OA symptoms correlate relatively poorly. This speaks for the theory that both structural proteins of the joint in addition to the inflammatory system are involved. One can have degenerative changes without inflammation and painful symptoms. On the other hand, some individuals with very few radiological changes develop very painful symptoms in early stages. Cartilage breakdown products can trigger a pro-inflammatory reaction (Monach *et al.* 2009) and immunological genes have been shown to associate with OA (Nakajima *et al.* 2010). This could indicate that some individuals have genetically the kind of host defense system that tends to react too keenly to cartilage breakdown particles and molecules. If this is the case, then also evolutionary this too keen immune system has probably had significant advantage in, for example, the defense against different microbial attacks.

Finally, even with all the presented studies and results in this thesis work, scientists are still not even unanimous whether the disease progress initiates from the cartilage, bone or synovium. Even though we have come far since the earliest studies, we can still neither confirm nor discard the hypothesis of Bennett (1942), Collins (1947) and their co-workers who concluded that the OA changes initiate from the cartilage surface and proceed to deeper layers, causing later the changes to

the bone. We still need more systematic large gene mapping studies and large familial studies, combined with proteomics, lipidomics, and genome-wide expression profiling, for a better understanding of the disease.

# 7 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out in the Public Health Genomics unit, National Institute for Health and Welfare, THL (formerly Department of Molecular Medicine, National Public Health Institute, KTL) and Institute for Molecular Medicine Finland FIMM, Nordic EMBL Partnership for Molecular Medicine, University of Helsinki. Also, Department of Public Health and Department of Medical Genetics, University of Helsinki, were involved. The Director General of THL Pekka Puska, the Director of Public Health Genomics Unit Anu Jalanko and the Director of FIMM Professor Olli Kallioniemi are acknowledged for providing excellent research facilities.

I wish to thank all those study participants, who have made it possible to conduct this study. They are the reason for conducting this study, and they are the reason why it was possible. Financial support was provided by US National Institutes of Health (grant AR-40857); the Work Environment Fund of Finland; the Academy of Finland (grants 38332 and 42044); the Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research, Canada; the European Community's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7, 2007-2013; grant HEALTH-F2-2008-201626; project GENODISC); Ministry of Education of Finland; the University of Jyväskylä; the University of Kuopio; The Academy of Finland, Centre of Excellence in Complex Disease Genetics; and ORTON Research Institute, Invalid Foundation. Personal grants have been awarded by Finnish Cultural Foundation, Taimi and Martti Ryti Funds; Otto A. Malm Foundation; University of Helsinki Funds; Biomedicum Helsinki foundation; and Finnish Concordia Fund. In addition, TBDP National Doctoral Programme of Musculoskeletal Disorders and Biomaterials (formerly TBGS National Graduate School of Musculoskeletal Disorders and Biomaterials; TULES graduate school) has given valuable financial support for this work as well as wonderful scientific community with educational and warm atmosphere. All this support is gratefully acknowledged.

I wish to express my deepest gratitude to my excellent supervisors, Docent Janna Saarela and Professor Urho Kujala. Their enthusiastic, encouraging and supportive attitude and their expertise in this field have been invaluable during these years. I am very grateful for having you as my supervisors. I owe a large debt of gratitude to the head of our lab until 2010, Academician Professor Leena Peltonen-Palotie for providing superb research environment. Her drive in science and ability to make things happen were an excellent role model for a young scientist.

Professor Jaro Karppinen is warmly thanked for accepting the role of Opponent. Professor Jaakko Kaprio is cordially thanked for acting as the custos of the dissertation as well as for his important role in this project. Professor Yrjö T. Konttinen and Docent Maija Wessman are thanked for accepting the role of preexaminer and for their valuable expert comments and great support in the revision of the thesis. William Hennah is thanked for his wonderful scientific support and excellent language check of the thesis.

My supervisory committee Docent Elisbeth Widen and Docent Minna Männikkö are gratefully acknowledged for their support and contribution during this work. Your ideas and guidance have been important to me and our meetings have given a new boost to my work.

Heidi Lönnberg and Sanna Kouhia deserve a special thank you for patiently guiding me in to these projects. I also wish to thank all co-authors and contributors in the studies I-III that have not been mentioned yet: Aki Salo, Arsi Harilainen, Päivi Leino-Arjas, Markku Heliövaara, Johan Eriksson, Kaj Tallroth, Tapio Videman, Michele Battié, Cristina Rodriguez-Fontela, Antonio Gonzalez, Martti Nissilä, Matti Suhonen, Kauko Heikkilä, Riitta Simonen, Annina Ropponen, Brad Sinclair, Kevin Gill, Hannu Manninen.

Secretaries and other personnel Huei-Ye Shen, Mika Kivimäki, Tuija Koski, Liisa Penttilä, Sanna Tossavainen, Sisko Lietola, Sari Multala, Eila Voipio, Sari Kivikko, Susanna Rosas and others are thanked for all the help with many, many practical issues. IT people Hannu Turunen, Teemu Perheentupa, Jari Raikko and others are thanked for their help. Lab technicians Arja Tapio, Minna Suvela, Elli Kempas, Liisa Arala, Anne Nyberg, Anne Vikman, Siv Knaappila and Sisko Lietola are thanked for their expert technical assistance and wonderful company. Also, the entire DNA unit with Minttu Jussila, Outi Törnwall and Päivi Laiho and others are greatly acknowledged for their technical contribution in this work.

I thank the senior scientists in our department Anu Jalanko, Vesa Olkkonen, Matti Jauhiainen, Tiina Paunio, Marjo Kestilä, Ismo Ulmanen, Samuli Ripatti, Anu Loukola, Kaisa Silander, Teppo Varilo, Samuli Ripatti, Joe Terwilliger, Iirs Hovatta, Markus Perola, Jaakko Kaprio, Elisabeth Widen, Aarno Palotie and many others for creating the enthusiastic scientific community in FIMM and THL.

All my wonderful colleagues from THL and FIMM are thanked for their help and company, especially the best possible "Coffee and other refreshments" group and the Psycho team that adopted me as their member as well as the MS team and all you cardiovascular people. I also want to thank for the company all those that I have

met in various scientific and graduate school meetings. Alfredo, Anna, Annina, Ansku, Antti, Anu K, Anu L, Diana, Elina, Emma N, Emma P, Emmi, Eveliina, Hanski, Heidi L, Heidi N, Helena H, Helena K, Heli, Himanshu, Ida. Jaakko. Jarkko, Jenni, Jenny, Jeanette, Johannes, Jonas, Joni, Jonna, Juho, Jussi, Kaisa, Kaisu, Karola, Kati, Katja, Katri, Kirsi, Krista, Liisa, Mari, Marjis, Marika, Markus, Marine, Mervi, Milja, Mikko, Minna, Minttu, Mira, Nan, Nora, Nuria, Olli, Olivier, Outi, Pekka, Peter W x2, Perttu, Pia, Pietari, PP (Pööpö), Päivi, Roxy, Saana, Sampo, Samuli, Sanna, Satu, Sussu, Suvi, Tarja, Taru, Tea, Tiia, Tintti, Teppo, Tero, Verneri, Virpi, Will, and the many others whose name I have forgotten from the list: With many of you we have had the weirdest coffee break conversations ending with googling or youtubing the most bizarre things, banged our heads against the wall with our projects, shared a room at work and/or in so many unforgettable conference trips, learned how to surf, dug deep to really understand the meaning of various things, learned Swedish in the mornings, laughed so hard so many times, cried for our big loss, had sushi-overdose, partied, and of course listened to Ripa Rotta, Dodo-sorsa and TikTak. It is hard to put in to words how lucky I have been to work with you all. You have also given me priceless help with so many scientific issues. Without that help this thesis would not have been finished.

My dear old friends from Olari and Kemma: Anna T, Maija, Jonna, Nina, Anna K, Heli, Erika, Maiju, Jenni, Sonja, Martina, Anniina, Sara, Helmi, and all others are thanked for your wonderful company during the best years of my life.

I want to thank my parents for their unconditional love and support throughout my life. I thank my sister Ulla for being my role model for 30 years. I thank little Heta for making mornings, evenings and homecomings undoubtedly the most joyful parts of each day. Finally Tero, thank you for always being there for me. Your support has been priceless. You are my hero and you mean the world to me.

Helsinki, February 3, 2012 Annu Näkki

# 8 ELECTRONIC DATABASES

#### **Databases and programs**

1000 Genomes, http://www.1000genomes.org/

International HapMap Project, http://www.hapmap.org/

Mx program, Neale, M.C., Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, Virginia, USA; http://www.vcu.edu/mx/.

National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI), http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/

SeattleSNPs data base, SeattleSNPs, NHLBI Program for Genomic Applications, SeattleSNPs, Seattle, WA; http://pga.gs.washington.edu

SNPper program, C. B. T. (2001-2008), http://snpper.chip.org/

UCSC Genome Bioinformatics, http://genome.ucsc.edu/ (Kent 2002; Kent *et al.* 2002; Karolchik *et al.* 2004; Fujita *et al.*; Rosenbloom *et al.*; Raney *et al.*)

#### Literature search databases

Pubmed, http://www.pubmed.com

Google scholar, http://scholar.google.com

Electronic databases

# **9 R**EFERENCES

Affymetrix Inc. (2009), http://www.affymetrix.com, accessed 13.3.2009.

- Agresti, A., (1992). A Survey of Exact Inference for Contegency Tables, *Statitical Science*. Vol 7, No. pp. 131-153
- Aigner, T., E. Reichenberger, W. Bertling, T. Kirsch, H. Stoss and K. von der Mark, (1993). Type X collagen expression in osteoarthritic and rheumatoid articular cartilage, *Virchows Arch B Cell Pathol Incl Mol Pathol*. Vol 63, No. 4, pp. 205-11.
- Ala-Kokko, L., C. T. Baldwin, R. W. Moskowitz and D. J. Prockop, (1990). Single base mutation in the type II procollagen gene (COL2A1) as a cause of primary osteoarthritis associated with a mild chondrodysplasia, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Vol 87, No. 17, pp. 6565-8.
- Aladin, D. M., K. M. Cheung, D. Chan, A. F. Yee, J. J. Jim, K. D. Luk and W. W. Lu, (2007). Expression of the Trp2 allele of COL9A2 is associated with alterations in the mechanical properties of human intervertebral discs, *Spine*. Vol 32, No. 25, pp. 2820-6.
- Alizadeh, B. Z., O. T. Njajou, C. Bijkerk, I. Meulenbelt, S. C. Wildt, A. Hofman, H. A. Pols, P. E. Slagboom and C. M. Duijn, (2005). Evidence for a role of the genomic region of the gene encoding for the alpha1 chain of type IX collagen (COL9A1) in hip osteoarthritis: A population-based study, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 52, No. 5, pp. 1437-42.
- Altman, R., G. Alarcon, D. Appelrouth, D. Bloch, D. Borenstein, K. Brandt, C. Brown, T. D. Cooke, W. Daniel, D. Feldman, R. Greenwald, M. Hochberg, D. Howell, R. Ike, P. Kapila, D. Kaplan, W. Koopman, C. Marino, E. McDonald, D. J. McShane, T. Medsger, B. Michel, W. A. Murphy, T. Osial, R. Ramsey-Goldman, B. Rothschild and F. Wolfe, (1991). The American College of Rheumatology criteria for the classification and reporting of osteoarthritis of the hip, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 34, No. 5, pp. 505-14.
- Altman, R., G. Alarcon, D. Appelrouth, D. Bloch, D. Borenstein, K. Brandt, C. Brown, T. D. Cooke, W. Daniel, R. Gray, R. Greenwald, M. Hochberg, D. Howell, R. Ike, P. Kapila, D. Kaplan, W. Koopman, C. Marino, E. McDonald, D. J. McShane, T. Medsger, B. Michel, W. A. Murphy, T. Osial, R. Ramsey-Goldman, B. Rothschild and F. Wolfe (1990). The American College of Rheumatology criteria for the classification and reporting of osteoarthritis of the hand, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 33, No. 11, pp. 1601-10.
- Anderson-MacKenzie, J. M., M. E. Billingham and A. J. Bailey, (1999). Collagen remodeling in the anterior cruciate ligament associated with developing spontaneous murine osteoarthritis, *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* Vol 258, No. 3, pp. 763-7.
- Annunen, S., P. Paassilta, J. Lohiniva, M. Perala, T. Pihlajamaa, J. Karppinen, O. Tervonen, H. Kroger, S. Lahde, H. Vanharanta, L. Ryhanen, H. H. Goring, J. Ott, D. J. Prockop and L. Ala-Kokko, (1999). An allele of COL9A2 associated with intervertebral disc disease, *Science*. Vol 285, No. 5426, pp. 409-12.
- Arkill, K. P. and C. P. Winlove, (2008). Solute transport in the deep and calcified zones of articular cartilage, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 16, No. 6, pp. 708-14.
- Arnett, H. A., S. S. Escobar, E. Gonzalez-Suarez, A. L. Budelsky, L. A. Steffen, N. Boiani, M. Zhang, G. Siu, A. W. Brewer and J. L. Viney, (2007). BTNL2, a butyrophilin/B7-like molecule, is a negative costimulatory molecule modulated in intestinal inflammation, J *Immunol*. Vol 178, No. 3, pp. 1523-33.
- Bacconnier, L., C. Jorgensen and S. Fabre, (2009). Erosive osteoarthritis of the hand: clinical experience with anakinra, *Ann Rheum Dis*. Vol 68, No. 6, pp. 1078-9.

- Bagge, E., A. Bjelle, S. Eden and A. Svanborg, (1991). Factors associated with radiographic osteoarthritis: results from the population study 70-year-old people in Goteborg, *J Rheumatol*. Vol 18, No. 8, pp. 1218-22.
- Balbin, M., A. Fueyo, A. M. Tester, A. M. Pendas, A. S. Pitiot, A. Astudillo, C. M. Overall, S. D. Shapiro and C. Lopez-Otin, (2003). Loss of collagenase-2 confers increased skin tumor susceptibility to male mice, *Nat Genet*. Vol 35, No. 3, pp. 252-7.
- Barker, D. J., C. Osmond, T. J. Forsen, E. Kajantie and J. G. Eriksson, (2005). Trajectories of growth among children who have coronary events as adults, *N Engl J Med*. Vol 353, No. 17, pp. 1802-9.
- Barksby, H. E., J. M. Milner, A. M. Patterson, N. J. Peake, W. Hui, T. Robson, R. Lakey, J. Middleton, T. E. Cawston, C. D. Richards and A. D. Rowan, (2006). Matrix metalloproteinase 10 promotion of collagenolysis via procollagenase activation: implications for cartilage degradation in arthritis, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 54, No. 10, pp. 3244-53.
- Barrett, J. C., B. Fry, J. Maller and M. J. Daly, (2005). Haploview: analysis and visualization of LD and haplotype maps, *Bioinformatics*. Vol 21, No. 2, pp. 263-5.
- Battié, M. C., T. Videman, E. Levälahti, K. Gill and J. Kaprio, (2007). Heritability of low back pain and the role of disc degeneration, *Pain*. Vol 131, No. 3, pp. 272-80.
- Beg, A. A., T. S. Finco, P. V. Nantermet and A. S. Baldwin, Jr., (1993). Tumor necrosis factor and interleukin-1 lead to phosphorylation and loss of I kappa B alpha: a mechanism for NF-kappa B activation, *Mol Cell Biol*. Vol 13, No. 6, pp. 3301-10.
- Bennell, K. L., M. W. Creaby, T. V. Wrigley, K. A. Bowles, R. S. Hinman, F. Cicuttini and D. J. Hunter, (2010a). Bone marrow lesions are related to dynamic knee loading in medial knee osteoarthritis, *Ann Rheum Dis.* Vol 69, No. 6, pp. 1151-4.
- Bennell, K. L., M. A. Hunt, T. V. Wrigley, D. J. Hunter, F. J. McManus, P. W. Hodges, L. Li and R. S. Hinman, (2010b). Hip strengthening reduces symptoms but not knee load in people with medial knee osteoarthritis and varus malalignment: a randomised controlled trial, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 18, No. 5, pp. 621-8.
- Bennett, G. A., H. Waine and W. Bauer, (1942). Changes in the Knee Joint at Various Ages, *Commonwealth Fund, New York*. Vol, No.
- Bohr, H., (1976). Experimental osteoarthritis in the rabbit knee joint, *Acta Orthop Scand*. Vol 47, No. 5, pp. 558-65.
- Bomsztyk, K., B. Toivola, D. W. Emery, J. W. Rooney, S. K. Dower, N. A. Rachie and C. H. Sibley, (1990). Role of cAMP in interleukin-1-induced kappa light chain gene expression in murine B cell line, *J Biol Chem.* Vol 265, No. 16, pp. 9413-7.
- Boos, N., A. G. Nerlich, I. Wiest, K. von der Mark, R. Ganz and M. Aebi, (1999). Immunohistochemical analysis of type-X-collagen expression in osteoarthritis of the hip joint, *J Orthop Res.* Vol 17, No. 4, pp. 495-502.
- Brandt, K. D., S. A. Mazzuca, B. P. Katz, K. A. Lane, K. A. Buckwalter, D. E. Yocum, F. Wolfe, T. J. Schnitzer, L. W. Moreland, S. Manzi, J. D. Bradley, L. Sharma, C. V. Oddis, S. T. Hugenberg and L. W. Heck, (2005). Effects of doxycycline on progression of osteoarthritis: results of a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 52, No. 7, pp. 2015-25.
- Brew, C. J., P. D. Clegg, R. P. Boot-Handford, J. G. Andrew and T. Hardingham, (2010). Gene expression in human chondrocytes in late osteoarthritis is changed in both fibrillated and intact cartilage without evidence of generalised chondrocyte hypertrophy, *Ann Rheum Dis.* Vol 69, No. 1, pp. 234-40.

- Chaisson, C. E., Y. Zhang, L. Sharma, W. Kannel and D. T. Felson, (1999). Grip strength and the risk of developing radiographic hand osteoarthritis: results from the Framingham Study, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 42, No. 1, pp. 33-8.
- Chapman, K., Z. Mustafa, C. Irven, A. J. Carr, K. Clipsham, A. Smith, J. Chitnavis, J. S. Sinsheimer, V. A. Bloomfield, M. McCartney, O. Cox, L. R. Cardon, B. Sykes and J. Loughlin, (1999). Osteoarthritis-susceptibility locus on chromosome 11q, detected by linkage, *Am J Hum Genet*. Vol 65, No. 1, pp. 167-74.
- Chapman, N. H. and E. M. Wijsman, (1998). Genome screens using linkage disequilibrium tests: optimal marker characteristics and feasibility, *Am J Hum Genet*. Vol 63, No. 6, pp. 1872-85.
- Chen, C. T., M. Bhargava, P. M. Lin and P. A. Torzilli, (2003). Time, stress, and location dependent chondrocyte death and collagen damage in cyclically loaded articular cartilage, J Orthop Res. Vol 21, No. 5, pp. 888-98.
- Chen, H. C., S. Shah, T. V. Stabler, Y. J. Li and V. B. Kraus, (2008). Biomarkers associated with clinical phenotypes of hand osteoarthritis in a large multigenerational family: the CARRIAGE family study, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 16, No. 9, pp. 1054-9.
- Chevalier, X., B. Giraudeau, T. Conrozier, J. Marliere, P. Kiefer and P. Goupille, (2005). Safety study of intraarticular injection of interleukin 1 receptor antagonist in patients with painful knee osteoarthritis: a multicenter study, *J Rheumatol*. Vol 32, No. 7, pp. 1317-23.
- Chevalier, X., P. Goupille, A. D. Beaulieu, F. X. Burch, W. G. Bensen, T. Conrozier, D. Loeuille, A. J. Kivitz, D. Silver and B. E. Appleton, (2009). Intraarticular injection of anakinra in osteoarthritis of the knee: a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 61, No. 3, pp. 344-52.
- Chodzko-Zajko, W. J., D. N. Proctor, M. A. Fiatarone Singh, C. T. Minson, C. R. Nigg, G. J. Salem and J. S. Skinner, (2009). American College of Sports Medicine position stand. Exercise and physical activity for older adults, *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. Vol 41, No. 7, pp. 1510-30.
- Chubinskaya, S., K. E. Kuettner and A. A. Cole, (1999). Expression of matrix metalloproteinases in normal and damaged articular cartilage from human knee and ankle joints, *Lab Invest*. Vol 79, No. 12, pp. 1669-77.
- Cicuttini, F. M., J. R. Baker and T. D. Spector, (1996). The association of obesity with osteoarthritis of the hand and knee in women: a twin study, *J Rheumatol*. Vol 23, No. 7, pp. 1221-6.
- Clements, D. N., S. D. Carter, J. F. Innes, W. E. Ollier and P. J. Day, (2006). Analysis of normal and osteoarthritic canine cartilage mRNA expression by quantitative polymerase chain reaction, *Arthritis Res Ther.* Vol 8, No. 6, pp. R158.
- Cole, A. A., S. Chubinskaya, B. Schumacher, K. Huch, G. Szabo, J. Yao, K. Mikecz, K. A. Hasty and K. E. Kuettner, (1996). Chondrocyte matrix metalloproteinase-8. Human articular chondrocytes express neutrophil collagenase, *J Biol Chem*. Vol 271, No. 18, pp. 11023-6.
- Collins, D. H. Chap. 5. In *The Pathology of Articular and Spinal Diseases*, Arnold, London, 1947, p. 74-115.
- Corvol, M. T., (2000). The chondrocyte: from cell aging to osteoarthritis, *Joint Bone Spine*. Vol 67, No. 6, pp. 557-60.
- D'Amora, P., H. Sato, M. J. Girao, I. D. Silva and E. Schor, (2006). Polymorphisms in exons 1B and 1C of the type I interleukin-1 receptor gene in patients with endometriosis, *Am J Reprod Immunol*. Vol 56, No. 3, pp. 178-184.

- Dahaghin, S., S. M. Bierma-Zeinstra, B. W. Koes, J. M. Hazes and H. A. Pols, (2007). Do metabolic factors add to the effect of overweight on hand osteoarthritis? The Rotterdam Study, *Ann Rheum Dis.* Vol 66, No. 7, pp. 916-20.
- Davidson, R. K., J. G. Waters, L. Kevorkian, C. Darrah, A. Cooper, S. T. Donell and I. M. Clark, (2006). Expression profiling of metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in synovium and cartilage, *Arthritis Res Ther.* Vol 8, No. 4, pp. R124.
- Day-Williams, A. G., L. Southam, K. Panoutsopoulou, N. W. Rayner, T. Esko, K. Estrada, H. T. Helgadottir, A. Hofman, T. Ingvarsson, H. Jonsson, A. Keis, H. J. Kerkhof, G. Thorleifsson, N. K. Arden, A. Carr, K. Chapman, P. Deloukas, J. Loughlin, A. McCaskie, W. E. Ollier, S. H. Ralston, T. D. Spector, G. A. Wallis, J. M. Wilkinson, N. Aslam, F. Birell, I. Carluke, J. Joseph, A. Rai, M. Reed, K. Walker, S. A. Doherty, I. Jonsdottir, R. A. Maciewicz, K. R. Muir, A. Metspalu, F. Rivadeneira, K. Stefansson, U. Styrkarsdottir, A. G. Uitterlinden, J. B. van Meurs, W. Zhang, A. M. Valdes, M. Doherty and E. Zeggini, (2011). A Variant in MCF2L Is Associated with Osteoarthritis, *Am J Hum Genet*. Vol, No.
- de Bakker, P. I., R. Yelensky, I. Pe'er, S. B. Gabriel, M. J. Daly and D. Altshuler, (2005). Efficiency and power in genetic association studies, *Nat Genet*. Vol 37, No. 11, pp. 1217-23.
- de Hooge, A. S., F. A. van de Loo, M. B. Bennink, O. J. Arntz, P. de Hooge and W. B. van den Berg, (2005). Male IL-6 gene knock out mice developed more advanced osteoarthritis upon aging, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 13, No. 1, pp. 66-73.
- Debets, R., J. C. Timans, B. Homey, S. Zurawski, T. R. Sana, S. Lo, J. Wagner, G. Edwards, T. Clifford, S. Menon, J. F. Bazan and R. A. Kastelein, (2001). Two novel IL-1 family members, IL-1 delta and IL-1 epsilon, function as an antagonist and agonist of NF-kappa B activation through the orphan IL-1 receptor-related protein 2, *J Immunol.* Vol 167, No. 3, pp. 1440-1446.
- Demissie, S., L. A. Cupples, R. Myers, P. Aliabadi, D. Levy and D. T. Felson, (2002). Genome scan for quantity of hand osteoarthritis: the Framingham Study, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 46, No. 4, pp. 946-52.
- Do, H., A. Vasilescu, W. Carpentier, L. Meyer, G. Diop, T. Hirtzig, C. Coulonges, T. Labib, J. L. Spadoni, A. Therwath, M. Lathrop, F. Matsuda and J. F. Zagury, (2006). Exhaustive genotyping of the interleukin-1 family genes and associations with AIDS progression in a French cohort, *J Infect Dis.* Vol 194, No. 11, pp. 1492-1504.
- Duggirala, R., J. T. Williams, S. Williams-Blangero and J. Blangero, (1997). A variance component approach to dichotomous trait linkage analysis using a threshold model, *Genet Epidemiol*. Vol 14, No. 6, pp. 987-92.
- Eger, W., B. L. Schumacher, J. Mollenhauer, K. E. Kuettner and A. A. Cole, (2002). Human knee and ankle cartilage explants: catabolic differences, *J Orthop Res.* Vol 20, No. 3, pp. 526-34.
- Erlacher, L., J. McCartney, E. Piek, P. ten Dijke, M. Yanagishita, H. Oppermann and F. P. Luyten, (1998). Cartilage-derived morphogenetic proteins and osteogenic protein-1 differentially regulate osteogenesis, *J Bone Miner Res.* Vol 13, No. 3, pp. 383-92.
- Evangelou, E., K. Chapman, I. Meulenbelt, F. B. Karassa, J. Loughlin, A. Carr, M. Doherty, S. Doherty, J. J. Gomez-Reino, A. Gonzalez, B. V. Halldorsson, V. B. Hauksson, A. Hofman, D. J. Hart, S. Ikegawa, T. Ingvarsson, Q. Jiang, I. Jonsdottir, H. Jonsson, H. J. Kerkhof, M. Kloppenburg, N. E. Lane, J. Li, R. J. Lories, J. B. van Meurs, A. Nakki, M. C. Nevitt, J. Rodriguez-Lopez, D. Shi, P. E. Slagboom, K. Stefansson, A. Tsezou, G. A. Wallis, C. M. Watson, T. D. Spector, A. G. Uitterlinden, A. M. Valdes and J. P. Ioannidis, (2009). Large-scale analysis of association between GDF5 and FRZB variants and osteoarthritis of the hip, knee, and hand, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 60, No. 6, pp. 1710-21.

- Evangelou, E., A. M. Valdes, H. J. Kerkhof, U. Styrkarsdottir, Y. Zhu, I. Meulenbelt, R. J. Lories, F. B. Karassa, P. Tylzanowski, S. D. Bos, T. Akune, N. K. Arden, A. Carr, K. Chapman, L. A. Cupples, J. Dai, P. Deloukas, M. Doherty, S. Doherty, G. Engstrom, A. Gonzalez, B. V. Halldorsson, C. L. Hammond, D. J. Hart, H. Helgadottir, A. Hofman, S. Ikegawa, T. Ingvarsson, Q. Jiang, H. Jonsson, J. Kaprio, H. Kawaguchi, K. Kisand, M. Kloppenburg, U. M. Kujala, L. S. Lohmander, J. Loughlin, F. P. Luyten, A. Mabuchi, A. McCaskie, M. Nakajima, P. M. Nilsson, N. Nishida, W. E. Ollier, K. Panoutsopoulou, T. van de Putte, S. H. Ralston, F. Rivadeneira, J. Saarela, S. Schulte-Merker, D. Shi, P. E. Slagboom, A. Sudo, A. Tamm, G. Thorleifsson, U. Thorsteinsdottir, A. Tsezou, G. A. Wallis, J. M. Wilkinson, N. Yoshimura, E. Zeggini, G. Zhai, F. Zhang, I. Jonsdottir, A. G. Uitterlinden, D. T. Felson, J. B. van Meurs, K. Stefansson, J. P. Ioannidis and T. D. Spector, (2011). Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies confirms a susceptibility locus for knee osteoarthritis on chromosome 7q22, *Ann Rheum Dis*. Vol 70, No. 2, pp. 349-55.
- Eyre, D., (2002). Collagen of articular cartilage, Arthritis Res. Vol 4, No. 1, pp. 30-5.
- Felson, D. T., A. Naimark, J. Anderson, L. Kazis, W. Castelli and R. F. Meenan, (1987). The prevalence of knee osteoarthritis in the elderly. The Framingham Osteoarthritis Study, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 30, No. 8, pp. 914-8.
- Fernandes, J., G. Tardif, J. Martel-Pelletier, V. Lascau-Coman, M. Dupuis, F. Moldovan, M. Sheppard, B. R. Krishnan and J. P. Pelletier, (1999). In vivo transfer of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist gene in osteoarthritic rabbit knee joints: prevention of osteoarthritis progression, *Am J Pathol.* Vol 154, No. 4, pp. 1159-1169.
- Forster, T., K. Chapman, L. Marcelline, Z. Mustafa, L. Southam and J. Loughlin, (2004). Finer linkage mapping of primary osteoarthritis susceptibility loci on chromosomes 4 and 16 in families with affected women, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 50, No. 1, pp. 98-102.
- Fujita, P. A., B. Rhead, A. S. Zweig, A. S. Hinrichs, D. Karolchik, M. S. Cline, M. Goldman, G. P. Barber, H. Clawson, A. Coelho, M. Diekhans, T. R. Dreszer, B. M. Giardine, R. A. Harte, J. Hillman-Jackson, F. Hsu, V. Kirkup, R. M. Kuhn, K. Learned, C. H. Li, L. R. Meyer, A. Pohl, B. J. Raney, K. R. Rosenbloom, K. E. Smith, D. Haussler and W. J. Kent, (2010). The UCSC Genome Browser database: update 2011, *Nucleic Acids Res.* Vol 39, No. Database issue, pp. D876-82.
- Gabriel, S. B., S. F. Schaffner, H. Nguyen, J. M. Moore, J. Roy, B. Blumenstiel, J. Higgins, M. DeFelice, A. Lochner, M. Faggart, S. N. Liu-Cordero, C. Rotimi, A. Adeyemo, R. Cooper, R. Ward, E. S. Lander, M. J. Daly and D. Altshuler, (2002). The structure of haplotype blocks in the human genome, *Science*. Vol 296, No. 5576, pp. 2225-9.
- Gaffen, J. D., M. T. Bayliss and R. M. Mason, (1997). Elevated aggrecan mRNA in early murine osteoarthritis, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 5, No. 4, pp. 227-33.
- Garcia-Giralt, N., X. Nogues, A. Enjuanes, J. Puig, L. Mellibovsky, A. Bay-Jensen, R. Carreras, S. Balcells, A. Diez-Perez and D. Grinberg, (2002). Two new single-nucleotide polymorphisms in the COL1A1 upstream regulatory region and their relationship to bone mineral density, J Bone Miner Res. Vol 17, No. 3, pp. 384-93.
- Gkretsi, V., T. Simopoulou and A. Tsezou, (2011). Lipid metabolism and osteoarthritis: Lessons from atherosclerosis, *Prog Lipid Res.* Vol 50, No. 2, pp. 133-40.
- Goldring, M. B., M. Otero, K. Tsuchimochi, K. Ijiri and Y. Li, (2008). Defining the roles of inflammatory and anabolic cytokines in cartilage metabolism, *Ann Rheum Dis.* Vol 67 Suppl 3, No. pp. iii75-82.

- Grant, S. F., D. M. Reid, G. Blake, R. Herd, I. Fogelman and S. H. Ralston, (1996). Reduced bone density and osteoporosis associated with a polymorphic Sp1 binding site in the collagen type I alpha 1 gene, *Nat Genet*. Vol 14, No. 2, pp. 203-5.
- Greig, C., K. Spreckley, R. Aspinwall, E. Gillaspy, M. Grant, W. Ollier, S. John, M. Doherty and G. Wallis, (2006). Linkage to nodal osteoarthritis: quantitative and qualitative analyses of data from a whole-genome screen identify trait-dependent susceptibility loci, *Ann Rheum Dis*. Vol 65, No. 9, pp. 1131-8.
- Guler-Yuksel, M., C. F. Allaart, I. Watt, Y. P. Goekoop-Ruiterman, J. K. de Vries-Bouwstra, D. van Schaardenburg, M. V. van Krugten, B. A. Dijkmans, T. W. Huizinga, W. F. Lems and M. Kloppenburg, (2010). Treatment with TNF-alpha inhibitor infliximab might reduce hand osteoarthritis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 18, No. 10, pp. 1256-62.
- Haara, M. M., P. Manninen, H. Kroger, J. P. Arokoski, A. Karkkainen, P. Knekt, A. Aromaa and M. Heliovaara, (2003). Osteoarthritis of finger joints in Finns aged 30 or over: prevalence, determinants, and association with mortality, *Ann Rheum Dis*. Vol 62, No. 2, pp. 151-158.
- Hagg, R., E. Hedbom, U. Mollers, A. Aszodi, R. Fassler and P. Bruckner, (1997). Absence of the alpha1(IX) chain leads to a functional knock-out of the entire collagen IX protein in mice, J *Biol Chem.* Vol 272, No. 33, pp. 20650-4.
- Hämäläinen, S. H., S. Solovieva, A. Hirvonen, T. Vehmas, E. P. Takala, H. Riihimaki and P. Leino-Arjas, (2008). COL2A1 gene polymorphisms and susceptibility to hand osteoarthritis in Finnish women, *Ann Rheum Dis.* Vol, No.
- Han, E., S. S. Chen, S. M. Klisch and R. L. Sah, (2011). Contribution of proteoglycan osmotic swelling pressure to the compressive properties of articular cartilage, *Biophys J*. Vol 101, No. 4, pp. 916-24.
- Hanemaaijer, R., T. Sorsa, Y. T. Konttinen, Y. Ding, M. Sutinen, H. Visser, V. W. van Hinsbergh, T. Helaakoski, T. Kainulainen, H. Ronka, H. Tschesche and T. Salo, (1997). Matrix metalloproteinase-8 is expressed in rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts and endothelial cells. Regulation by tumor necrosis factor-alpha and doxycycline, *J Biol Chem*. Vol 272, No. 50, pp. 31504-9.
- Happonen, K. E., T. Saxne, A. Aspberg, M. Morgelin, D. Heinegard and A. M. Blom, (2010). Regulation of complement by cartilage oligomeric matrix protein allows for a novel molecular diagnostic principle in rheumatoid arthritis, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 62, No. 12, pp. 3574-83.
- Hart, L. E., D. A. Haaland, D. A. Baribeau, I. M. Mukovozov and T. F. Sabljic, (2008). The relationship between exercise and osteoarthritis in the elderly, *Clin J Sport Med.* Vol 18, No. 6, pp. 508-21.
- Haywood, L., D. F. McWilliams, C. I. Pearson, S. E. Gill, A. Ganesan, D. Wilson and D. A. Walsh, (2003). Inflammation and angiogenesis in osteoarthritis, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 48, No. 8, pp. 2173-7.
- Heinegård, D. and T. Saxne, (2011). The role of the cartilage matrix in osteoarthritis, *Nat Rev Rheumatol*. Vol 7, No. 1, pp. 50-6.
- Heliövaara, M., (2008). Nivelrikon esiintyvyys ja kustannukset, *Aikakausikirja Duodecim*. Vol 124, No. 16, pp. 1869-1874.
- Hiekkalinna, T., H. H. Goring, B. Lambert, K. M. Weiss, P. Norrgrann, A. A. Schaffer and J. D. Terwilliger, (2011a). On the statistical properties of family-based association tests in datasets containing both pedigrees and unrelated case-control samples, *Eur J Hum Genet*. Vol, No.
- Hiekkalinna, T., A. A. Schaffer, B. Lambert, P. Norrgrann, H. H. Goring and J. D. Terwilliger, (2011b). PSEUDOMARKER: A Powerful Program for Joint Linkage and/or Linkage

Disequilibrium Analysis on Mixtures of Singletons and Related Individuals, *Hum Hered*. Vol 71, No. 4, pp. 256-66.

- Higashino, K., Y. Matsui, S. Yagi, Y. Takata, T. Goto, T. Sakai, S. Katoh and N. Yasui, (2007). The alpha2 type IX collagen tryptophan polymorphism is associated with the severity of disc degeneration in younger patients with herniated nucleus pulposus of the lumbar spine, *Int Orthop.* Vol 31, No. 1, pp. 107-11.
- Hirschhorn, J. N. and M. J. Daly, (2005). Genome-wide association studies for common diseases and complex traits, *Nat Rev Genet*. Vol 6, No. 2, pp. 95-108.
- Hoeksma, H. L., J. Dekker, H. K. Ronday, A. Heering, N. van der Lubbe, C. Vel, F. C. Breedveld and C. H. van den Ende, (2004). Comparison of manual therapy and exercise therapy in osteoarthritis of the hip: a randomized clinical trial, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 51, No. 5, pp. 722-9.
- Hollander, A. P., I. Pidoux, A. Reiner, C. Rorabeck, R. Bourne and A. R. Poole, (1995). Damage to type II collagen in aging and osteoarthritis starts at the articular surface, originates around chondrocytes, and extends into the cartilage with progressive degeneration, *J Clin Invest*. Vol 96, No. 6, pp. 2859-69.
- Horton, W. E., Jr., M. Lethbridge-Cejku, M. C. Hochberg, R. Balakir, P. Precht, C. C. Plato, J. D. Tobin, L. Meek and K. Doege, (1998). An association between an aggrecan polymorphic allele and bilateral hand osteoarthritis in elderly white men: data from the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging (BLSA), *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 6, No. 4, pp. 245-51.
- Huber, M., S. Trattnig and F. Lintner, (2000). Anatomy, biochemistry, and physiology of articular cartilage, *Invest Radiol.* Vol 35, No. 10, pp. 573-80.
- Hunter, D. J., S. Demissie, L. A. Cupples, P. Aliabadi and D. T. Felson, (2004). A genome scan for joint-specific hand osteoarthritis susceptibility: The Framingham Study, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 50, No. 8, pp. 2489-96.
- Häkkinen, U. and P. Alha (2006). Terveyspalvelujen käyttö ja sen väestöryhmittäiset erot. Terveys 2000 -tutkimus. Helsinki, Kansanterveyslaitoksen julkaisuja. B 10.
- Ikeda, T., A. Mabuchi, A. Fukuda, A. Kawakami, Y. Ryo, S. Yamamoto, K. Miyoshi, N. Haga, H. Hiraoka, Y. Takatori, H. Kawaguchi, K. Nakamura and S. Ikegawa, (2002). Association analysis of single nucleotide polymorphisms in cartilage-specific collagen genes with knee and hip osteoarthritis in the Japanese population, *J Bone Miner Res.* Vol 17, No. 7, pp. 1290-6.
- IlluminaInc (2009), http://www.illumina.com/, accessed 12.3.2009.
- Ingvarsson, T., G. Hagglund and L. S. Lohmander, (1999). Prevalence of hip osteoarthritis in Iceland, Ann Rheum Dis. Vol 58, No. 4, pp. 201-7.
- Ingvarsson, T., S. E. Stefansson, J. R. Gulcher, H. H. Jonsson, H. Jonsson, M. L. Frigge, E. Palsdottir, G. Olafsdottir, T. Jonsdottir, G. B. Walters, L. S. Lohmander and K. Stefansson, (2001). A large Icelandic family with early osteoarthritis of the hip associated with a susceptibility locus on chromosome 16p, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 44, No. 11, pp. 2548-55.
- Jakkula, E., M. Melkoniemi, I. Kiviranta, J. Lohiniva, S. S. Raina, M. Perala, M. L. Warman, K. Ahonen, H. Kroger, H. H. Goring and L. Ala-Kokko, (2005). The role of sequence variations within the genes encoding collagen II, IX and XI in non-syndromic, early-onset osteoarthritis, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 13, No. 6, pp. 497-507.
- Jakkula, E., K. Rehnstrom, T. Varilo, O. P. Pietilainen, T. Paunio, N. L. Pedersen, U. deFaire, M. R. Jarvelin, J. Saharinen, N. Freimer, S. Ripatti, S. Purcell, A. Collins, M. J. Daly, A. Palotie and L. Peltonen, (2008). The genome-wide patterns of variation expose significant substructure in a founder population, *Am J Hum Genet*. Vol 83, No. 6, pp. 787-94.
- James, I. E., S. Kumar, M. R. Barnes, C. J. Gress, A. T. Hand, R. A. Dodds, J. R. Connor, B. R. Bradley, D. A. Campbell, S. E. Grabill, K. Williams, S. M. Blake, M. Gowen and M. W. Lark,

(2000). FrzB-2: a human secreted frizzled-related protein with a potential role in chondrocyte apoptosis, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 8, No. 6, pp. 452-63.

- Jiang, Q., D. Shi, L. Yi, S. Ikegawa, Y. Wang, T. Nakamura, D. Qiao, C. Liu and J. Dai, (2006). Replication of the association of the aspartic acid repeat polymorphism in the asporin gene with knee-osteoarthritis susceptibility in Han Chinese, *J Hum Genet*. Vol 51, No. 12, pp. 1068-72.
- Jim, J. J., N. Noponen-Hietala, K. M. Cheung, J. Ott, J. Karppinen, A. Sahraravand, K. D. Luk, S. P. Yip, P. C. Sham, Y. Q. Song, J. C. Leong, K. S. Cheah, L. Ala-Kokko and D. Chan, (2005). The TRP2 allele of COL9A2 is an age-dependent risk factor for the development and severity of intervertebral disc degeneration, *Spine*. Vol 30, No. 24, pp. 2735-42.
- Jordan, K. M., N. K. Arden, M. Doherty, B. Bannwarth, J. W. Bijlsma, P. Dieppe, K. Gunther, H. Hauselmann, G. Herrero-Beaumont, P. Kaklamanis, S. Lohmander, B. Leeb, M. Lequesne, B. Mazieres, E. Martin-Mola, K. Pavelka, A. Pendleton, L. Punzi, U. Serni, B. Swoboda, G. Verbruggen, I. Zimmerman-Gorska and M. Dougados, (2003). EULAR Recommendations 2003: an evidence based approach to the management of knee osteoarthritis: Report of a Task Force of the Standing Committee for International Clinical Studies Including Therapeutic Trials (ESCISIT), Ann Rheum Dis. Vol 62, No. 12, pp. 1145-55.
- Kaneko, S., T. Satoh, J. Chiba, C. Ju, K. Inoue and J. Kagawa, (2000). Interleukin-6 and interleukin-8 levels in serum and synovial fluid of patients with osteoarthritis, *Cytokines Cell Mol Ther.* Vol 6, No. 2, pp. 71-9.
- Kanoh, T., Y. Hasegawa, T. Masui, J. Yamaguchi, N. Ishiguro and N. Hamajima, (2008). Interleukin-1beta gene polymorphism associated with radiographic signs of osteoarthritis of the knee, *J Orthop Sci.* Vol 13, No. 2, pp. 97-100.
- Kaprio, J. and M. Koskenvuo, (2002). Genetic and environmental factors in complex diseases: the older Finnish Twin Cohort, *Twin Res.* Vol 5, No. 5, pp. 358-65.
- Karlsson, C., T. Dehne, A. Lindahl, M. Brittberg, A. Pruss, M. Sittinger and J. Ringe, (2010). Genome-wide expression profiling reveals new candidate genes associated with osteoarthritis, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 18, No. 4, pp. 581-92.
- Karolchik, D., A. S. Hinrichs, T. S. Furey, K. M. Roskin, C. W. Sugnet, D. Haussler and W. J. Kent, (2004). The UCSC Table Browser data retrieval tool, *Nucleic Acids Res.* Vol 32, No. Database issue, pp. D493-6.
- Karppinen, J., E. Paakko, S. Raina, O. Tervonen, M. Kurunlahti, P. Nieminen, L. Ala-Kokko, A. Malmivaara and H. Vanharanta, (2002). Magnetic resonance imaging findings in relation to the COL9A2 tryptophan allele among patients with sciatica, *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)*. Vol 27, No. 1, pp. 78-83.
- Kawaguchi, Y., R. Osada, M. Kanamori, H. Ishihara, K. Ohmori, H. Matsui and T. Kimura, (1999). Association between an aggrecan gene polymorphism and lumbar disc degeneration, *Spine*. Vol 24, No. 23, pp. 2456-60.
- Kawasaki, T., K. Inoue, T. Ushiyama and S. Fukuda, (1998). Assessment of the American College of Rheumatology criteria for the classification and reporting of osteoarthritis of the knee, *Ryumachi*. Vol 38, No. 1, pp. 2-5.
- Kearney, P. M., C. Baigent, J. Godwin, H. Halls, J. R. Emberson and C. Patrono, (2006). Do selective cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitors and traditional non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs increase the risk of atherothrombosis? Meta-analysis of randomised trials, *BMJ*. Vol 332, No. 7553, pp. 1302-8.
- Kellgren, J. H. Atlas of standard radiographs. In *The epidemiology of chronic rheumatism*, ed. M. R. Jeffrey and J. Ball, Blackwell Scientific publications, Oxford 1963, p. 1-9.

- Kellgren, J. H. and J. S. Lawrence, (1957). Radiological assessment of osteo-arthrosis, Ann Rheum Dis. Vol 16, No. 4, pp. 494-502.
- Kempthorne, O. and R. H. Osborne, (1961). The interpretation of twin data, *Am J Hum Genet*. Vol 13, No. pp. 320-39.
- Kent, W. J., (2002). BLAT--the BLAST-like alignment tool, *Genome Res.* Vol 12, No. 4, pp. 656-64.
- Kent, W. J., C. W. Sugnet, T. S. Furey, K. M. Roskin, T. H. Pringle, A. M. Zahler and D. Haussler, (2002). The human genome browser at UCSC, *Genome Res.* Vol 12, No. 6, pp. 996-1006.
- Kerkhof, H. J., M. Doherty, N. K. Arden, S. B. Abramson, M. Attur, S. D. Bos, C. Cooper, E. M. Dennison, S. A. Doherty, E. Evangelou, D. J. Hart, A. Hofman, K. Javaid, I. Kerna, K. Kisand, M. Kloppenburg, S. Krasnokutsky, R. A. Maciewicz, I. Meulenbelt, K. R. Muir, F. Rivadeneira, J. Samuels, M. Sezgin, E. Slagboom, A. J. Smith, T. D. Spector, A. Tamm, A. G. Uitterlinden, M. Wheeler, G. Zhai, W. Zhang, J. B. van Meurs and A. M. Valdes, (2011). Large-scale meta-analysis of interleukin-1 beta and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist polymorphisms on risk of radiographic hip and knee osteoarthritis and severity of knee osteoarthritis, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 19, No. 3, pp. 265-71.
- Kerkhof, H. J., R. J. Lories, I. Meulenbelt, I. Jonsdottir, A. M. Valdes, P. Arp, T. Ingvarsson, M. Jhamai, H. Jonsson, L. Stolk, G. Thorleifsson, G. Zhai, F. Zhang, Y. Zhu, R. van der Breggen, A. Carr, M. Doherty, S. Doherty, D. T. Felson, A. Gonzalez, B. V. Halldorsson, D. J. Hart, V. B. Hauksson, A. Hofman, J. P. Ioannidis, M. Kloppenburg, N. E. Lane, J. Loughlin, F. P. Luyten, M. C. Nevitt, N. Parimi, H. A. Pols, F. Rivadeneira, E. P. Slagboom, U. Styrkarsdottir, A. Tsezou, T. van de Putte, J. Zmuda, T. D. Spector, K. Stefansson, A. G. Uitterlinden and J. B. van Meurs, (2010). A genome-wide association study identifies an osteoarthritis susceptibility locus on chromosome 7q22, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 62, No. 2, pp. 499-510.
- Keysor, J. J. and A. Brembs, (2011). Exercise: necessary but not sufficient for improving function and preventing disability?, *Curr Opin Rheumatol*. Vol 23, No. 2, pp. 211-8.
- Kirk, K. M., K. J. Doege, J. Hecht, N. Bellamy and N. G. Martin, (2003). Osteoarthritis of the hands, hips and knees in an Australian twin sample--evidence of association with the aggrecan VNTR polymorphism, *Twin Res.* Vol 6, No. 1, pp. 62-6.
- Kizawa, H., I. Kou, A. Iida, A. Sudo, Y. Miyamoto, A. Fukuda, A. Mabuchi, A. Kotani, A. Kawakami, S. Yamamoto, A. Uchida, K. Nakamura, K. Notoya, Y. Nakamura and S. Ikegawa, (2005). An aspartic acid repeat polymorphism in asporin inhibits chondrogenesis and increases susceptibility to osteoarthritis, *Nat Genet*. Vol 37, No. 2, pp. 138-44.
- Klatt, A. R., G. Klinger, B. Paul-Klausch, G. Kuhn, J. H. Renno, R. Wagener, M. Paulsson, J. Schmidt, G. Malchau and K. Wielckens, (2009). Matrilin-3 activates the expression of osteoarthritis-associated genes in primary human chondrocytes, *FEBS Lett.* Vol 583, No. 22, pp. 3611-7.
- Knoeringer, M., A. Reinke, A. E. Trappe and J. Schlegel, (2008). Absence of the mutated Trp2 allele but a common polymorphism of the COL9A2 collagen gene is associated with early recurrence after lumbar discectomy in a German population, *Eur Spine J*. Vol 17, No. 3, pp. 463-7.
- Konttinen, Y. T., J. Mandelin, T. F. Li, J. Salo, J. Lassus, M. Liljestrom, M. Hukkanen, M. Takagi, I. Virtanen and S. Santavirta, (2002). Acidic cysteine endoproteinase cathepsin K in the degeneration of the superficial articular hyaline cartilage in osteoarthritis, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 46, No. 4, pp. 953-60.
- Konttinen, Y. T., T. Sillat, G. Barreto, M. Ainola and D. C. E. Nordström, (2012). Osteoarthritis as an Autoinflammatory Disease Caused by Chondrocyte-Mediated Inflammatory Responses, *Arthritis and Rheumatism*. Vol 64 In press.
- Koskinen A, S. Juslin, R. Nieminen, T. Moilanen, K. Vuolteenaho, E. Moilanen (2011): Adiponectin associates with markers of cartilage degradation in osteoarthritis and induces production of proinflammatory and catabolic factors through mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways, *Arthritis Res Ther.* Vol 11; No. 6.
- Kraus, V. B., T. V. Stabler, S. Y. Kong, G. Varju and G. McDaniel, (2007). Measurement of synovial fluid volume using urea, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 15, No. 10, pp. 1217-20.
- Kruglyak, L., (1997). The use of a genetic map of biallelic markers in linkage studies, *Nat Genet*. Vol 17, No. 1, pp. 21-4.
- Kuivaniemi, H., G. Tromp and D. J. Prockop, (1997). Mutations in fibrillar collagens (types I, II, III, and XI), fibril-associated collagen (type IX), and network-forming collagen (type X) cause a spectrum of diseases of bone, cartilage, and blood vessels, *Hum Mutat*. Vol 9, No. 4, pp. 300-15.
- Kujala, U. M., J. Leppavuori, J. Kaprio, J. Kinnunen, L. Peltonen and M. Koskenvuo, (1999). Joint-specific twin and familial aggregation of recalled physician diagnosed osteoarthritis, *Twin Res.* Vol 2, No. 3, pp. 196-202.
- Kämäräinen, O. P. The search for susceptibility genes in osteoarthritis, PhD thesis. Faculty of Medicine, University of Oulu, Acta Univ. Oul. D 1018, Oulu, Finland (2009) 112 p.
- Kärkkäinen, A., (1985). Osteoarthrosis of the hand in the Finnish population aged 30 years and over, *Publications of the Social Insurance Institution, Finland*. Vol ML:52, Turku, No. pp. 1– 110.
- Kääb, M. J., R. G. Richards, K. Ito, I. ap Gwynn and H. P. Notzli, (2003). Deformation of chondrocytes in articular cartilage under compressive load: a morphological study, *Cells Tissues Organs*. Vol 175, No. 3, pp. 133-9.
- Lai, W. M., J. S. Hou and V. C. Mow, (1991). A triphasic theory for the swelling and deformation behaviors of articular cartilage, *J Biomech Eng*. Vol 113, No. 3, pp. 245-58.
- Lander, E. and L. Kruglyak, (1995). Genetic dissection of complex traits: guidelines for interpreting and reporting linkage results, *Nat Genet*. Vol 11, No. 3, pp. 241-7.
- Lander, E. S., L. M. Linton, B. Birren, C. Nusbaum, M. C. Zody, J. Baldwin, K. Devon, K. Dewar, M. Doyle, W. FitzHugh, R. Funke, D. Gage, K. Harris, A. Heaford, J. Howland, L. Kann, J. Lehoczky, R. LeVine, P. McEwan, K. McKernan, J. Meldrim, J. P. Mesirov, C. Miranda, W. Morris, J. Naylor, C. Raymond, M. Rosetti, R. Santos, A. Sheridan, C. Sougnez, N. Stange-Thomann, N. Stojanovic, A. Subramanian, D. Wyman, J. Rogers, J. Sulston, R. Ainscough, S. Beck, D. Bentley, J. Burton, C. Clee, N. Carter, A. Coulson, R. Deadman, P. Deloukas, A. Dunham, I. Dunham, R. Durbin, L. French, D. Grafham, S. Gregory, T. Hubbard, S. Humphray, A. Hunt, M. Jones, C. Lloyd, A. McMurray, L. Matthews, S. Mercer, S. Milne, J. C. Mullikin, A. Mungall, R. Plumb, M. Ross, R. Shownkeen, S. Sims, R. H. Waterston, R. K. Wilson, L. W. Hillier, J. D. McPherson, M. A. Marra, E. R. Mardis, L. A. Fulton, A. T. Chinwalla, K. H. Pepin, W. R. Gish, S. L. Chissoe, M. C. Wendl, K. D. Delehaunty, T. L. Miner, A. Delehaunty, J. B. Kramer, L. L. Cook, R. S. Fulton, D. L. Johnson, P. J. Minx, S. W. Clifton, T. Hawkins, E. Branscomb, P. Predki, P. Richardson, S. Wenning, T. Slezak, N. Doggett, J. F. Cheng, A. Olsen, S. Lucas, C. Elkin, E. Uberbacher, M. Frazier, R. A. Gibbs, D. M. Muzny, S. E. Scherer, J. B. Bouck, E. J. Sodergren, K. C. Worley, C. M. Rives, J. H. Gorrell, M. L. Metzker, S. L. Naylor, R. S. Kucherlapati, D. L. Nelson, G. M. Weinstock, Y. Sakaki, A. Fujiyama, M. Hattori, T. Yada, A. Toyoda, T. Itoh, C. Kawagoe, H. Watanabe, Y.

Totoki, T. Taylor, J. Weissenbach, R. Heilig, W. Saurin, F. Artiguenave, P. Brottier, T. Bruls, E. Pelletier, C. Robert, P. Wincker, D. R. Smith, L. Doucette-Stamm, M. Rubenfield, K. Weinstock, H. M. Lee, J. Dubois, A. Rosenthal, M. Platzer, G. Nyakatura, S. Taudien, A. Rump, H. Yang, J. Yu, J. Wang, G. Huang, J. Gu, L. Hood, L. Rowen, A. Madan, S. Qin, R. W. Davis, N. A. Federspiel, A. P. Abola, M. J. Proctor, R. M. Myers, J. Schmutz, M. Dickson, J. Grimwood, D. R. Cox, M. V. Olson, R. Kaul, N. Shimizu, K. Kawasaki, S. Minoshima, G. A. Evans, M. Athanasiou, R. Schultz, B. A. Roe, F. Chen, H. Pan, J. Ramser, H. Lehrach, R. Reinhardt, W. R. McCombie, M. de la Bastide, N. Dedhia, H. Blocker, K. Hornischer, G. Nordsiek, R. Agarwala, L. Aravind, J. A. Bailey, A. Bateman, S. Batzoglou, E. Birney, P. Bork, D. G. Brown, C. B. Burge, L. Cerutti, H. C. Chen, D. Church, M. Clamp, R. R. Copley, T. Doerks, S. R. Eddy, E. E. Eichler, T. S. Furey, J. Galagan, J. G. Gilbert, C. Harmon, Y. Hayashizaki, D. Haussler, H. Hermjakob, K. Hokamp, W. Jang, L. S. Johnson, T. A. Jones, S. Kasif, A. Kaspryzk, S. Kennedy, W. J. Kent, P. Kitts, E. V. Koonin, I. Korf, D. Kulp, D. Lancet, T. M. Lowe, A. McLysaght, T. Mikkelsen, J. V. Moran, N. Mulder, V. J. Pollara, C. P. Ponting, G. Schuler, J. Schultz, G. Slater, A. F. Smit, E. Stupka, J. Szustakowski, D. Thierry-Mieg, J. Thierry-Mieg, L. Wagner, J. Wallis, R. Wheeler, A. Williams, Y. I. Wolf, K. H. Wolfe, S. P. Yang, R. F. Yeh, F. Collins, M. S. Guyer, J. Peterson, A. Felsenfeld, K. A. Wetterstrand, A. Patrinos, M. J. Morgan, P. de Jong, J. J. Catanese, K. Osoegawa, H. Shizuya, S. Choi and Y. J. Chen, (2001). Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome, Nature. Vol 409, No. 6822, pp. 860-921.

- Lane, N. E., K. Lian, M. C. Nevitt, J. M. Zmuda, L. Lui, J. Li, J. Wang, M. Fontecha, N. Umblas, M. Rosenbach, P. de Leon and M. Corr, (2006). Frizzled-related protein variants are risk factors for hip osteoarthritis, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 54, No. 4, pp. 1246-54.
- Lane, N. E., T. J. Schnitzer, C. A. Birbara, M. Mokhtarani, D. L. Shelton, M. D. Smith and M. T. Brown, (2010). Tanezumab for the treatment of pain from osteoarthritis of the knee, *N Engl J Med.* Vol 363, No. 16, pp. 1521-31.
- Lauhio, A., T. Salo, Y. Ding, Y. T. Konttinen, D. Nordstrom, H. Tschesche, J. Lahdevirta, L. M. Golub and T. Sorsa, (1994). In vivo inhibition of human neutrophil collagenase (MMP-8) activity during long-term combination therapy of doxycycline and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAID) in acute reactive arthritis, *Clin Exp Immunol*. Vol 98, No. 1, pp. 21-8.
- Lawrence, J. S., J. M. Bremner and F. Bier, (1966). Osteo-arthrosis. Prevalence in the population and relationship between symptoms and x-ray changes, *Ann Rheum Dis.* Vol 25, No. 1, pp. 1-24.
- Lazarus, G. S., R. S. Brown, J. R. Daniels and H. M. Fullmer, (1968). Human granulocyte collagenase, *Science*. Vol 159, No. 3822, pp. 1483-5.
- Lee, Y. H., Y. H. Rho, S. J. Choi, J. D. Ji and G. G. Song, (2006). Osteoarthritis susceptibility loci defined by genome scan meta-analysis, *Rheumatol Int*. Vol 26, No. 11, pp. 959-63.
- Leppävuori, J., U. Kujala, J. Kinnunen, J. Kaprio, M. Nissila, M. Heliövaara, N. Klinger, J. Partanen, J. D. Terwilliger and L. Peltonen, (1999). Genome scan for predisposing loci for distal interphalangeal joint osteoarthritis: evidence for a locus on 2q, *Am J Hum Genet*. Vol 65, No. 4, pp. 1060-7.
- Lewis, E. J., J. Bishop, K. M. Bottomley, D. Bradshaw, M. Brewster, M. J. Broadhurst, P. A. Brown, J. M. Budd, L. Elliott, A. K. Greenham, W. H. Johnson, J. S. Nixon, F. Rose, B. Sutton and K. Wilson, (1997). Ro 32-3555, an orally active collagenase inhibitor, prevents cartilage breakdown in vitro and in vivo, *Br J Pharmacol*. Vol 121, No. 3, pp. 540-6.

- Lewontin, R. C., (1964). The Interaction of Selection and Linkage. I. General Considerations; Heterotic Models, *Genetics*. Vol 49, No. 1, pp. 49-67.
- Li, J. and L. Ji, (2005). Adjusting multiple testing in multilocus analyses using the eigenvalues of a correlation matrix, *Heredity*. Vol 95, No. 3, pp. 221-227.
- Li, K. C., J. Higgs, A. M. Aisen, K. A. Buckwalter, W. Martel and W. J. McCune, (1988). MRI in osteoarthritis of the hip: gradations of severity, *Magn Reson Imaging*. Vol 6, No. 3, pp. 229-36.
- Lian, K., J. M. Zmuda, M. C. Nevitt, L. Lui, M. C. Hochberg, D. Greene, J. Li, J. Wang and N. E. Lane, (2005). Type I collagen alpha1 Sp1 transcription factor binding site polymorphism is associated with reduced risk of hip osteoarthritis defined by severe joint space narrowing in elderly women, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 52, No. 5, pp. 1431-6.
- Liu, J., A. R. Shikhman, M. K. Lotz and C. H. Wong, (2001). Hexosaminidase inhibitors as new drug candidates for the therapy of osteoarthritis, *Chem Biol.* Vol 8, No. 7, pp. 701-11.
- Liu, Z., H. C. Adams, 3rd and I. P. Whitehead, (2009). The rho-specific guanine nucleotide exchange factor Dbs regulates breast cancer cell migration, *J Biol Chem.* Vol 284, No. 23, pp. 15771-80.
- Livshits, G., B. S. Kato, G. Zhai, D. J. Hart, D. Hunter, A. J. MacGregor, F. M. Williams and T. D. Spector, (2007). Genomewide linkage scan of hand osteoarthritis in female twin pairs showing replication of quantitative trait loci on chromosomes 2 and 19, *Ann Rheum Dis.* Vol 66, No. 5, pp. 623-627.
- Lorenzo, P., M. T. Bayliss and D. Heinegard, (2004). Altered patterns and synthesis of extracellular matrix macromolecules in early osteoarthritis, *Matrix Biol.* Vol 23, No. 6, pp. 381-91.
- Loughlin, J., B. Dowling, K. Chapman, L. Marcelline, Z. Mustafa, L. Southam, A. Ferreira, C. Ciesielski, D. A. Carson and M. Corr, (2004). Functional variants within the secreted frizzled-related protein 3 gene are associated with hip osteoarthritis in females, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Vol 101, No. 26, pp. 9757-62.
- Loughlin, J., B. Dowling, Z. Mustafa and K. Chapman, (2002a). Association of the interleukin-1 gene cluster on chromosome 2q13 with knee osteoarthritis, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 46, No. 6, pp. 1519-1527.
- Loughlin, J., B. Dowling, Z. Mustafa, L. Southam and K. Chapman, (2002b). Refined linkage mapping of a hip osteoarthritis susceptibility locus on chromosome 2q, *Rheumatology* (*Oxford*). Vol 41, No. 8, pp. 955-6.
- Loughlin, J., Z. Mustafa, C. Irven, A. Smith, A. J. Carr, B. Sykes and K. Chapman, (1999). Stratification analysis of an osteoarthritis genome screen-suggestive linkage to chromosomes 4, 6, and 16, *Am J Hum Genet*. Vol 65, No. 6, pp. 1795-8.
- Loughlin, J., Z. Mustafa, A. Smith, C. Irven, A. J. Carr, K. Clipsham, J. Chitnavis, V. A. Bloomfield, M. McCartney, O. Cox, J. S. Sinsheimer, B. Sykes and K. E. Chapman, (2000). Linkage analysis of chromosome 2q in osteoarthritis, *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. Vol 39, No. 4, pp. 377-381.
- Lu, X. L. and V. C. Mow, (2008). Biomechanics of articular cartilage and determination of material properties, *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. Vol 40, No. 2, pp. 193-9.
- Mabuchi, A., S. Nakamura, Y. Takatori and S. Ikegawa, (2006). Familial osteoarthritis of the hip joint associated with acetabular dysplasia maps to chromosome 13q, *Am J Hum Genet*. Vol 79, No. 1, pp. 163-8.

- MacGregor, A. J., L. Antoniades, M. Matson, T. Andrew and T. D. Spector, (2000). The genetic contribution to radiographic hip osteoarthritis in women: results of a classic twin study, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 43, No. 11, pp. 2410-6.
- Maeda, S., H. Koga, S. Matsunaga, T. Numasawa, K. Ikari, K. Furushima, S. Harata, J. Takeda, T. Sakou, S. Komiya and I. Inoue, (2001). Gender-specific haplotype association of collagen alpha2 (XI) gene in ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament of the spine, J Hum Genet. Vol 46, No. 1, pp. 1-4.
- Mahtani, M. M., E. Widen, M. Lehto, J. Thomas, M. McCarthy, J. Brayer, B. Bryant, G. Chan, M. Daly, C. Forsblom, T. Kanninen, A. Kirby, L. Kruglyak, K. Munnelly, M. Parkkonen, M. P. Reeve-Daly, A. Weaver, T. Brettin, G. Duyk, E. S. Lander and L. C. Groop, (1996). Mapping of a gene for type 2 diabetes associated with an insulin secretion defect by a genome scan in Finnish families, *Nat Genet*. Vol 14, No. 1, pp. 90-4.
- Manolio, T. A., F. S. Collins, N. J. Cox, D. B. Goldstein, L. A. Hindorff, D. J. Hunter, M. I. McCarthy, E. M. Ramos, L. R. Cardon, A. Chakravarti, J. H. Cho, A. E. Guttmacher, A. Kong, L. Kruglyak, E. Mardis, C. N. Rotimi, M. Slatkin, D. Valle, A. S. Whittemore, M. Boehnke, A. G. Clark, E. E. Eichler, G. Gibson, J. L. Haines, T. F. Mackay, S. A. McCarroll and P. M. Visscher, (2009). Finding the missing heritability of complex diseases, *Nature*. Vol 461, No. 7265, pp. 747-53.
- Martel-Pelletier, J. and J. P. Pelletier, (2009). Osteoarthritis: A single injection of anakinra for treating knee OA?, *Nat Rev Rheumatol*. Vol 5, No. 7, pp. 363-4.
- Martel-Pelletier, J. and J. P. Pelletier, (2010). Is osteoarthritis a disease involving only cartilage or other articular tissues?, *Eklem Hastalik Cerrahisi*. Vol 21, No. 1, pp. 2-14.
- McCarthy, M. I., G. R. Abecasis, L. R. Cardon, D. B. Goldstein, J. Little, J. P. Ioannidis and J. N. Hirschhorn, (2008). Genome-wide association studies for complex traits: consensus, uncertainty and challenges, *Nat Rev Genet*. Vol 9, No. 5, pp. 356-69.
- Meachim, G., F. N. Ghadially and D. H. Collins, (1965). Regressive Changes in the Superficial Layer of Human Articular Cartilage, *Ann Rheum Dis*. Vol 24, No. pp. 23-30.
- Meulenbelt, I., K. Chapman, R. Dieguez-Gonzalez, D. Shi, A. Tsezou, J. Dai, K. N. Malizos, M. Kloppenburg, A. Carr, M. Nakajima, R. van der Breggen, N. Lakenberg, J. J. Gomez-Reino, Q. Jiang, S. Ikegawa, A. Gonzalez, J. Loughlin and E. P. Slagboom, (2009). Large Replication Study and Meta-Analyses of Dvwa as an Osteoarthritis Susceptibility Locus in European and Asian Populations, *Hum Mol Genet*. Vol, No.
- Meulenbelt, I., J. L. Min, S. Bos, N. Riyazi, J. J. Houwing-Duistermaat, H. J. van der Wijk, H. M. Kroon, M. Nakajima, S. Ikegawa, A. G. Uitterlinden, J. B. van Meurs, W. M. van der Deure, T. J. Visser, A. B. Seymour, N. Lakenberg, R. van der Breggen, D. Kremer, C. M. van Duijn, M. Kloppenburg, J. Loughlin and P. E. Slagboom, (2008). Identification of DIO2 as a new susceptibility locus for symptomatic osteoarthritis, *Hum Mol Genet*. Vol 17, No. 12, pp. 1867-75.
- Meulenbelt, I., J. L. Min, C. M. van Duijn, M. Kloppenburg, F. C. Breedveld and P. E. Slagboom, (2006). Strong linkage on 2q33.3 to familial early-onset generalized osteoarthritis and a consideration of two positional candidate genes, *Eur J Hum Genet*. Vol 14, No. 12, pp. 1280-7.
- Meulenbelt, I., A. B. Seymour, M. Nieuwland, T. W. Huizinga, C. M. van Duijn and P. E. Slagboom, (2004). Association of the interleukin-1 gene cluster with radiographic signs of osteoarthritis of the hip, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 50, No. 4, pp. 1179-1186.
- Min, J. L., I. Meulenbelt, M. Kloppenburg, C. M. van Duijn and P. E. Slagboom, (2007). Mutation analysis of candidate genes within the 2q33.3 linkage area for familial early-onset generalised osteoarthritis, *Eur J Hum Genet*. Vol 15, No. 7, pp. 791-9.

- Min, J. L., I. Meulenbelt, N. Riyazi, M. Kloppenburg, J. J. Houwing-Duistermaat, A. B. Seymour, H. A. Pols, C. M. van Duijn and P. E. Slagboom, (2005). Association of the Frizzled-related protein gene with symptomatic osteoarthritis at multiple sites, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 52, No. 4, pp. 1077-80.
- Min, J. L., I. Meulenbelt, N. Riyazi, M. Kloppenburg, J. J. Houwing-Duistermaat, A. B. Seymour, C. M. van Duijn and P. E. Slagboom, (2006). Association of matrilin-3 polymorphisms with spinal disc degeneration and osteoarthritis of the first carpometacarpal joint of the hand, *Ann Rheum Dis.* Vol 65, No. 8, pp. 1060-6.
- Miyamoto, Y., A. Mabuchi, D. Shi, T. Kubo, Y. Takatori, S. Saito, M. Fujioka, A. Sudo, A. Uchida, S. Yamamoto, K. Ozaki, M. Takigawa, T. Tanaka, Y. Nakamura, Q. Jiang and S. Ikegawa, (2007). A functional polymorphism in the 5' UTR of GDF5 is associated with susceptibility to osteoarthritis, *Nat Genet*. Vol 39, No. 4, pp. 529-33.
- Miyamoto, Y., D. Shi, M. Nakajima, K. Ozaki, A. Sudo, A. Kotani, A. Uchida, T. Tanaka, N. Fukui, T. Tsunoda, A. Takahashi, Y. Nakamura, Q. Jiang and S. Ikegawa, (2008). Common variants in DVWA on chromosome 3p24.3 are associated with susceptibility to knee osteoarthritis, *Nat Genet*. Vol 40, No. 8, pp. 994-8.
- Monach, P. A., W. Hueber, B. Kessler, B. H. Tomooka, M. BenBarak, B. P. Simmons, J. Wright, T. S. Thornhill, M. Monestier, H. Ploegh, W. H. Robinson, D. Mathis and C. Benoist, (2009). A broad screen for targets of immune complexes decorating arthritic joints highlights deposition of nucleosomes in rheumatoid arthritis, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. Vol 106, No. 37, pp. 15867-72.
- Moos, V., M. Rudwaleit, V. Herzog, K. Hohlig, J. Sieper and B. Muller, (2000). Association of genotypes affecting the expression of interleukin-1beta or interleukin-1 receptor antagonist with osteoarthritis, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 43, No. 11, pp. 2417-2422.
- Morton, N. E., (1955). Sequential tests for the detection of linkage, *Am J Hum Genet*. Vol 7, No. 3, pp. 277-318.
- Mototani, H., A. Mabuchi, S. Saito, M. Fujioka, A. Iida, Y. Takatori, A. Kotani, T. Kubo, K. Nakamura, A. Sekine, Y. Murakami, T. Tsunoda, K. Notoya, Y. Nakamura and S. Ikegawa, (2005). A functional single nucleotide polymorphism in the core promoter region of CALM1 is associated with hip osteoarthritis in Japanese, *Hum Mol Genet*. Vol 14, No. 8, pp. 1009-17.
- Moxley, G., J. Han, A. G. Stern and B. P. Riley, (2007). Potential influence of IL1B haplotype and IL1A-IL1B-IL1RN extended haplotype on hand osteoarthritis risk, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 15, No. 10, pp. 1106-12.
- Muehleman, C., A. Berzins, H. Koepp, W. Eger, A. A. Cole, K. E. Kuettner and D. R. Sumner, (2002). Bone density of the human talus does not increase with the cartilage degeneration score, *Anat Rec.* Vol 266, No. 2, pp. 81-6.
- Mustafa, Z., B. Dowling, K. Chapman, J. S. Sinsheimer, A. Carr and J. Loughlin, (2005). Investigating the aspartic acid (D) repeat of asporin as a risk factor for osteoarthritis in a UK Caucasian population, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 52, No. 11, pp. 3502-6.
- Mutabaruka, M. S., M. Aoulad Aissa, A. Delalandre, M. Lavigne and D. Lajeunesse, (2010). Local leptin production in osteoarthritis subchondral osteoblasts may be responsible for their abnormal phenotypic expression, *Arthritis Res Ther.* Vol 12, No. 1, pp. R20.
- Muthuri, S. G., M. Hui, M. Doherty and W. Zhang, (2011). What if we prevent obesity? Risk reduction in knee osteoarthritis estimated through a meta-analysis of observational studies, *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)*. Vol, No.

- Mäkinen, T. J., J. J. Alm, H. Laine, E. Svedstrom and H. T. Aro, (2007). The incidence of osteopenia and osteoporosis in women with hip osteoarthritis scheduled for cementless total joint replacement, *Bone*. Vol 40, No. 4, pp. 1041-7.
- Nakajima, M., A. Takahashi, I. Kou, C. Rodriguez-Fontenla, J. J. Gomez-Reino, T. Furuichi, J. Dai, A. Sudo, A. Uchida, N. Fukui, M. Kubo, N. Kamatani, T. Tsunoda, K. N. Malizos, A. Tsezou, A. Gonzalez, Y. Nakamura and S. Ikegawa, (2010). New sequence variants in HLA class II/III region associated with susceptibility to knee osteoarthritis identified by genome-wide association study, *PLoS One*. Vol 5, No. 3, pp. e9723.
- Neame, R. L., K. Muir, S. Doherty and M. Doherty, (2004). Genetic risk of knee osteoarthritis: a sibling study, *Ann Rheum Dis*. Vol 63, No. 9, pp. 1022-7.
- Netea, M. G., A. Simon, F. van de Veerdonk, B. J. Kullberg, J. W. Van der Meer and L. A. Joosten, (2010). IL-1beta processing in host defense: beyond the inflammasomes, *PLoS Pathog.* Vol 6, No. 2, pp. e1000661.
- Ng, S. B., E. H. Turner, P. D. Robertson, S. D. Flygare, A. W. Bigham, C. Lee, T. Shaffer, M. Wong, A. Bhattacharjee, E. E. Eichler, M. Bamshad, D. A. Nickerson and J. Shendure, (2009). Targeted capture and massively parallel sequencing of 12 human exomes, *Nature*. Vol 461, No. 7261, pp. 272-6.
- Noponen-Hietala, N., E. Kyllonen, M. Mannikko, E. Ilkko, J. Karppinen, J. Ott and L. Ala-Kokko, (2003). Sequence variations in the collagen IX and XI genes are associated with degenerative lumbar spinal stenosis, *Ann Rheum Dis.* Vol 62, No. 12, pp. 1208-14.
- Nousiainen, H. O., M. Kestila, N. Pakkasjarvi, H. Honkala, S. Kuure, J. Tallila, K. Vuopala, J. Ignatius, R. Herva and L. Peltonen, (2008). Mutations in mRNA export mediator GLE1 result in a fetal motoneuron disease, *Nat Genet*. Vol 40, No. 2, pp. 155-7.
- Nuesch, E., P. Dieppe, S. Reichenbach, S. Williams, S. Iff and P. Juni, (2011). All cause and disease specific mortality in patients with knee or hip osteoarthritis: population based cohort study, *BMJ*. Vol 342, No. pp. d1165.
- Nyholt, D. R., (2004). A simple correction for multiple testing for single-nucleotide polymorphisms in linkage disequilibrium with each other, *Am J Hum Genet*. Vol 74, No. 4, pp. 765-9.
- Näkki, A. Association study on 25 candidate genes with hip osteoarthritis, Master's thesis. Faculty of Chemistry and Materials Sciences, Degree programme of Chemical Technology, Helsinki university of technology, Espoo (2009) 90 p.
- Näkki, A., M. Männikkö and J. Saarela. Genetic association and linkage studies in osteoarthritis. In *Osteoarthritis / Book 1*, ed. B. Rothschild, InTech Open Access Publisher, Rijeka In press, p.
- O'Connell, J. R. and D. E. Weeks, (1998). PedCheck: a program for identification of genotype incompatibilities in linkage analysis, *Am J Hum Genet*. Vol 63, No. 1, pp. 259-66.
- O'Neill, L. A. and C. Greene, (1998). Signal transduction pathways activated by the IL-1 receptor family: ancient signaling machinery in mammals, insects, and plants, *J Leukoc Biol*. Vol 63, No. 6, pp. 650-657.
- Ott, J., Analysis of Human Genetic LinkageThe John Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, USA 1991, p.
- Ott, J., Y. Kamatani and M. Lathrop, (2011). Family-based designs for genome-wide association studies, *Nat Rev Genet*. Vol 12, No. 7, pp. 465-74.
- Palavalli, L. H., T. D. Prickett, J. R. Wunderlich, X. Wei, A. S. Burrell, P. Porter-Gill, S. Davis, C. Wang, J. C. Cronin, N. S. Agrawal, J. C. Lin, W. Westbroek, S. Hoogstraten-Miller, A. A. Molinolo, P. Fetsch, A. C. Filie, M. P. O'Connell, C. E. Banister, J. D. Howard, P. Buckhaults,

A. T. Weeraratna, L. C. Brody, S. A. Rosenberg and Y. Samuels, (2009). Analysis of the matrix metalloproteinase family reveals that MMP8 is often mutated in melanoma, *Nat Genet*. Vol 41, No. 5, pp. 518-20.

- Panoutsopoulou, K., L. Southam, K. S. Elliott, N. Wrayner, G. Zhai, C. Beazley, G. Thorleifsson, N. K. Arden, A. Carr, K. Chapman, P. Deloukas, M. Doherty, A. McCaskie, W. E. Ollier, S. H. Ralston, T. D. Spector, A. M. Valdes, G. A. Wallis, J. M. Wilkinson, E. Arden, K. Battley, H. Blackburn, F. J. Blanco, S. Bumpstead, L. A. Cupples, A. G. Day-Williams, K. Dixon, S. A. Doherty, T. Esko, E. Evangelou, D. Felson, J. J. Gomez-Reino, A. Gonzalez, A. Gordon, R. Gwilliam, B. V. Halldorsson, V. B. Hauksson, A. Hofman, S. E. Hunt, J. P. Ioannidis, T. Ingvarsson, I. Jonsdottir, H. Jonsson, R. Keen, H. J. Kerkhof, M. G. Kloppenburg, N. Koller, N. Lakenberg, N. E. Lane, A. T. Lee, A. Metspalu, I. Meulenbelt, M. C. Nevitt, F. O'Neill, N. Parimi, S. C. Potter, I. Rego-Perez, J. A. Riancho, K. Sherburn, P. E. Slagboom, K. Stefansson, U. Styrkarsdottir, M. Sumillera, D. Swift, U. Thorsteinsdottir, A. Tsezou, A. G. Uitterlinden, J. B. van Meurs, B. Watkins, M. Wheeler, S. Mitchell, Y. Zhu, J. M. Zmuda, E. Zeggini and J. Loughlin, (2011). Insights into the genetic architecture of osteoarthritis from stage 1 of the arcOGEN study, *Ann Rheum Dis.* Vol 70, No. 5, pp. 864-7.
- Paquet, M. E., M. Cohen-Doyle, G. C. Shore and D. B. Williams, (2004). Bap29/31 influences the intracellular traffic of MHC class I molecules, *J Immunol*. Vol 172, No. 12, pp. 7548-55.
- Pasztoi, M., G. Nagy, P. Geher, T. Lakatos, K. Toth, K. Wellinger, P. Pocza, B. Gyorgy, M. C. Holub, A. Kittel, K. Paloczy, M. Mazan, P. Nyirkos, A. Falus and E. I. Buzas, (2009). Gene expression and activity of cartilage degrading glycosidases in human rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis synovial fibroblasts, *Arthritis Res Ther*. Vol 11, No. 3, pp. R68.
- Patterson, K., (2011). 1000 GENOMES: A World of Variation, *Circ Res.* Vol 108, No. 5, pp. 534-6.
- Pearson, J. R. and D. M. Riddell, (1962). Idiopathic osteo-arthritis of the hip, *Ann Rheum Dis*. Vol 21, No. pp. 31-9.
- Pelletier, J. P., J. C. Fernandes, J. Brunet, F. Moldovan, D. Schrier, C. Flory and J. Martel-Pelletier, (2003). In vivo selective inhibition of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase 1/2 in rabbit experimental osteoarthritis is associated with a reduction in the development of structural changes, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 48, No. 6, pp. 1582-93.
- Perttilä, J., K. Merikanto, J. Naukkarinen, I. Surakka, N. W. Martin, K. Tanhuanpaa, V. Grimard, M. R. Taskinen, C. Thiele, V. Salomaa, A. Jula, M. Perola, I. Virtanen, L. Peltonen and V. M. Olkkonen, (2009). OSBPL10, a novel candidate gene for high triglyceride trait in dyslipidemic Finnish subjects, regulates cellular lipid metabolism, *J Mol Med (Berl)*. Vol 87, No. 8, pp. 825-35.
- Plomin, R., C. M. Haworth and O. S. Davis, (2009). Common disorders are quantitative traits, *Nat Rev Genet*. Vol 10, No. 12, pp. 872-8.
- Pullig, O., G. Weseloh, A. R. Klatt, R. Wagener and B. Swoboda, (2002). Matrilin-3 in human articular cartilage: increased expression in osteoarthritis, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 10, No. 4, pp. 253-63.
- Puranen, J., L. Ala-Ketola, P. Peltokallio and J. Saarela, (1975). Running and primary osteoarthritis of the hip, *Br Med J.* Vol 2, No. 5968, pp. 424-5.
- Purcell, S., S. S. Cherny and P. C. Sham, (2003). Genetic Power Calculator: design of linkage and association genetic mapping studies of complex traits, *Bioinformatics*. Vol 19, No. 1, pp. 149-50.
- Purcell, S., B. Neale, K. Todd-Brown, L. Thomas, M. A. Ferreira, D. Bender, J. Maller, P. Sklar, P. I. de Bakker, M. J. Daly and P. C. Sham, (2007). PLINK: a tool set for whole-genome

association and population-based linkage analyses, Am J Hum Genet. Vol 81, No. 3, pp. 559-75.

- Raney, B. J., M. S. Cline, K. R. Rosenbloom, T. R. Dreszer, K. Learned, G. P. Barber, L. R. Meyer, C. A. Sloan, V. S. Malladi, K. M. Roskin, B. B. Suh, A. S. Hinrichs, H. Clawson, A. S. Zweig, V. Kirkup, P. A. Fujita, B. Rhead, K. E. Smith, A. Pohl, R. M. Kuhn, D. Karolchik, D. Haussler and W. J. Kent, (2011). ENCODE whole-genome data in the UCSC genome browser (2011 update), *Nucleic Acids Res.* Vol 39, No. Database issue, pp. D871-5.
- Rechtman, A. M. and M. W. Yarrow, (1954). Osteoporosis, *Am Pract Dig Treat*. Vol 5, No. 9, pp. 691-6.
- Recnik, G., V. Kralj-Iglic, A. Iglic, V. Antolic, S. Kramberger, I. Rigler, B. Pompe and R. Vengust, (2008). The role of obesity, biomechanical constitution of the pelvis and contact joint stress in progression of hip osteoarthritis, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol, No.
- Remes, V., M. Peltola, U. Häkkinen, H. Kröger, J. Leppilahti, M. Linna, A. Malmivaara, K. Mäkelä, O. Nelimarkka, I. Parvinen, S. Seitsalo and J. Vuorinen (2007). PERFECT Tekonivelkirurgia. Lonkan ja polven tekonivelkirurgian kustannukset ja vaikuttavuus. Työpapereita 29, Helsinki 29/2007, Stakes: 1-58.
- Rhon, D., (2008). Re: Zhang W, Moskowitz RW, Nuki G, et al. OARSI recommendations for the management of hip and knee osteoarthritis, Part II: OARSI evidence-based, expert consensus guidelines. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2008;16:137-62, Osteoarthritis Cartilage. Vol 16, No. 12, pp. 1585; author reply 1589.
- Riepl, B., S. Grassel, R. Wiest, M. Fleck and R. H. Straub, (2010). Tumor necrosis factor and norepinephrine lower the levels of human neutrophil peptides 1-3 secretion by mixed synovial tissue cultures in osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis, *Arthritis Res Ther.* Vol 12, No. 3, pp. R110.
- Riva, A. and I. S. Kohane, (2001). A web-based tool to retrieve human genome polymorphisms from public databases, *Proc AMIA Symp.* Vol, No. pp. 558-62.
- Riva, A. and I. S. Kohane, (2002). SNPper: retrieval and analysis of human SNPs, *Bioinformatics*. Vol 18, No. 12, pp. 1681-5.
- Riva, A. and I. S. Kohane, (2004). A SNP-centric database for the investigation of the human genome, *BMC Bioinformatics*. Vol 5, No. pp. 33.
- Riyazi, N., E. Slagboom, A. J. de Craen, I. Meulenbelt, J. J. Houwing-Duistermaat, H. M. Kroon, D. van Schaardenburg, F. R. Rosendaal, F. C. Breedveld, T. W. Huizinga and M. Kloppenburg, (2005). Association of the risk of osteoarthritis with high innate production of interleukin-1beta and low innate production of interleukin-10 ex vivo, upon lipopolysaccharide stimulation, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 52, No. 5, pp. 1443-50.
- Robbins, J. R., B. Thomas, L. Tan, B. Choy, J. L. Arbiser, F. Berenbaum and M. B. Goldring, (2000). Immortalized human adult articular chondrocytes maintain cartilage-specific phenotype and responses to interleukin-1beta, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 43, No. 10, pp. 2189-201.
- Roddy, E., W. Zhang, M. Doherty, N. K. Arden, J. Barlow, F. Birrell, A. Carr, K. Chakravarty, J. Dickson, E. Hay, G. Hosie, M. Hurley, K. M. Jordan, C. McCarthy, M. McMurdo, S. Mockett, S. O'Reilly, G. Peat, A. Pendleton and S. Richards, (2005). Evidence-based recommendations for the role of exercise in the management of osteoarthritis of the hip or knee--the MOVE consensus, *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. Vol 44, No. 1, pp. 67-73.
- Rodriguez-Lopez J, Pombo-Suarez M, Liz M, Gomez-Reino JJ, Gonzalez A, (2007). Further evidence of the role of frizzled-related protein gene polymorphisms in osteoarthritis, *Ann Rheum Dis.* Vol 66, No. 8, pp. 1052-5.

- Roman-Blas, J. A. and S. A. Jimenez, (2006). NF-kappaB as a potential therapeutic target in osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 14, No. 9, pp. 839-848.
- Rosenbloom, K. R., T. R. Dreszer, M. Pheasant, G. P. Barber, L. R. Meyer, A. Pohl, B. J. Raney, T. Wang, A. S. Hinrichs, A. S. Zweig, P. A. Fujita, K. Learned, B. Rhead, K. E. Smith, R. M. Kuhn, D. Karolchik, D. Haussler and W. J. Kent, (2010). ENCODE whole-genome data in the UCSC Genome Browser, *Nucleic Acids Res.* Vol 38, No. Database issue, pp. D620-5.
- Sampson, E. M., Z. K. Haque, M. C. Ku, S. G. Tevosian, C. Albanese, R. G. Pestell, K. E. Paulson and A. S. Yee, (2001). Negative regulation of the Wnt-beta-catenin pathway by the transcriptional repressor HBP1, *EMBO J*. Vol 20, No. 16, pp. 4500-11.
- Samuels, J., S. Krasnokutsky and S. B. Abramson, (2008). Osteoarthritis: a tale of three tissues, Bull NYU Hosp Jt Dis. Vol 66, No. 3, pp. 244-50.
- Saxena, R., B. F. Voight, V. Lyssenko, N. P. Burtt, P. I. de Bakker, H. Chen, J. J. Roix, S. Kathiresan, J. N. Hirschhorn, M. J. Daly, T. E. Hughes, L. Groop, D. Altshuler, P. Almgren, J. C. Florez, J. Meyer, K. Ardlie, K. Bengtsson Bostrom, B. Isomaa, G. Lettre, U. Lindblad, H. N. Lyon, O. Melander, C. Newton-Cheh, P. Nilsson, M. Orho-Melander, L. Rastam, E. K. Speliotes, M. R. Taskinen, T. Tuomi, C. Guiducci, A. Berglund, J. Carlson, L. Gianniny, R. Hackett, L. Hall, J. Holmkvist, E. Laurila, M. Sjogren, M. Sterner, A. Surti, M. Svensson, R. Tewhey, B. Blumenstiel, M. Parkin, M. Defelice, R. Barry, W. Brodeur, J. Camarata, N. Chia, M. Fava, J. Gibbons, B. Handsaker, C. Healy, K. Nguyen, C. Gates, C. Sougnez, D. Gage, M. Nizzari, S. B. Gabriel, G. W. Chirn, Q. Ma, H. Parikh, D. Richardson, D. Ricke and S. Purcell, (2007). Genome-wide association analysis identifies loci for type 2 diabetes and triglyceride levels, *Science*. Vol 316, No. 5829, pp. 1331-6.
- Saxne, T. and D. Heinegard, (1992). Cartilage oligomeric matrix protein: a novel marker of cartilage turnover detectable in synovial fluid and blood, *Br J Rheumatol*. Vol 31, No. 9, pp. 583-91.
- Segal, R., E. Avrahami, E. Lebdinski, B. Habut, A. Leibovitz, I. Gil, M. Yaron and D. Caspi, (1998). The impact of hemiparalysis on the expression of osteoarthritis, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 41, No. 12, pp. 2249-56.
- Seguin, C. A. and S. M. Bernier, (2003). TNFalpha suppresses link protein and type II collagen expression in chondrocytes: Role of MEK1/2 and NF-kappaB signaling pathways, J Cell Physiol. Vol 197, No. 3, pp. 356-69.
- Sen, R. and D. Baltimore, (1986). Multiple nuclear factors interact with the immunoglobulin enhancer sequences, *Cell*. Vol 46, No. 5, pp. 705-16.
- Shen, G., (2005). The role of type X collagen in facilitating and regulating endochondral ossification of articular cartilage, *Orthod Craniofac Res.* Vol 8, No. 1, pp. 11-7.
- Shi, D., T. Nakamura, J. Dai, L. Yi, J. Qin, D. Chen, Z. Xu, Y. Wang, S. Ikegawa and Q. Jiang, (2007). Association of the aspartic acid-repeat polymorphism in the asporin gene with age at onset of knee osteoarthritis in Han Chinese population, *J Hum Genet*. Vol 52, No. 8, pp. 664-7.
- Shi, D., Q. Zheng, D. Chen, L. Zhu, A. Qin, J. Fan, J. Liao, Z. Xu, Z. Lin, P. Norman, J. Xu, T. Nakamura, K. Dai, M. Zheng and Q. Jiang, (2010). Association of single-nucleotide polymorphisms in HLA class II/III region with knee osteoarthritis, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 18, No. 11, pp. 1454-7.
- Shlopov, B. V., W. R. Lie, C. L. Mainardi, A. A. Cole, S. Chubinskaya and K. A. Hasty, (1997). Osteoarthritic lesions: involvement of three different collagenases, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 40, No. 11, pp. 2065-74.
- Shlopov, B. V., G. N. Smith, Jr., A. A. Cole and K. A. Hasty, (1999). Differential patterns of response to doxycycline and transforming growth factor beta1 in the down-regulation of

collagenases in osteoarthritic and normal human chondrocytes, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 42, No. 4, pp. 719-27.

- Silander, K., T. Axelsson, E. Widen, A. Dahlgren, A. Palotie and A. C. Syvanen, (2003). Analysis of genetic variation in the GenomEUtwin project, *Twin Res.* Vol 6, No. 5, pp. 391-8.
- Silander, K., K. Komulainen, P. Ellonen, M. Jussila, M. Alanne, M. Levander, P. Tainola, K. Kuulasmaa, V. Salomaa, M. Perola, L. Peltonen and J. Saarela, (2005). Evaluating whole genome amplification via multiply-primed rolling circle amplification for SNP genotyping of samples with low DNA yield, *Twin Res Hum Genet*. Vol 8, No. 4, pp. 368-75.
- Silventoinen, K., S. Sammalisto, M. Perola, D. I. Boomsma, B. K. Cornes, C. Davis, L. Dunkel, M. De Lange, J. R. Harris, J. V. Hjelmborg, M. Luciano, N. G. Martin, J. Mortensen, L. Nistico, N. L. Pedersen, A. Skytthe, T. D. Spector, M. A. Stazi, G. Willemsen and J. Kaprio, (2003). Heritability of adult body height: a comparative study of twin cohorts in eight countries, *Twin Res.* Vol 6, No. 5, pp. 399-408.
- Sjöberg, A., P. Onnerfjord, M. Morgelin, D. Heinegard and A. M. Blom, (2005). The extracellular matrix and inflammation: fibromodulin activates the classical pathway of complement by directly binding C1q, *J Biol Chem.* Vol 280, No. 37, pp. 32301-8.
- Sjöberg, A. P., G. A. Manderson, M. Morgelin, A. J. Day, D. Heinegard and A. M. Blom, (2009). Short leucine-rich glycoproteins of the extracellular matrix display diverse patterns of complement interaction and activation, *Mol Immunol*. Vol 46, No. 5, pp. 830-9.
- Sladek, R., G. Rocheleau, J. Rung, C. Dina, L. Shen, D. Serre, P. Boutin, D. Vincent, A. Belisle, S. Hadjadj, B. Balkau, B. Heude, G. Charpentier, T. J. Hudson, A. Montpetit, A. V. Pshezhetsky, M. Prentki, B. I. Posner, D. J. Balding, D. Meyre, C. Polychronakos and P. Froguel, (2007). A genome-wide association study identifies novel risk loci for type 2 diabetes, *Nature*. Vol 445, No. 7130, pp. 881-5.
- Smith, A. J., L. J. Keen, M. J. Billingham, M. J. Perry, C. J. Elson, J. R. Kirwan, J. E. Sims, M. Doherty, T. D. Spector and J. L. Bidwell, (2004). Extended haplotypes and linkage disequilibrium in the IL1R1-IL1A-IL1B-IL1RN gene cluster: association with knee osteoarthritis, *Genes Immun.* Vol 5, No. 6, pp. 451-460.
- Smith, M. D., S. Triantafillou, A. Parker, P. P. Youssef and M. Coleman, (1997). Synovial membrane inflammation and cytokine production in patients with early osteoarthritis, J *Rheumatol.* Vol 24, No. 2, pp. 365-71.
- Solovieva, S., O.-P. Kämäräinen, A. Hirvonen, S. Hämäläinen, M. Laitala, T. Vehmas, K. Luoma, A. Näkki, H. Riihimäki, L. Ala-Kokko, M. Männikkö and P. Leino-Arjas, (2009). Association between interleukin 1 gene cluster polymorphisms and bilateral dip osteoarthritis, *The Journal* of *Rheumatology*. Vol 36, No. 9, pp. 1977-1986.
- Solovieva, S., N. Noponen, M. Mannikko, P. Leino-Arjas, K. Luoma, R. Raininko, L. Ala-Kokko and H. Riihimaki, (2007). Association between the aggrecan gene variable number of tandem repeats polymorphism and intervertebral disc degeneration, *Spine*. Vol 32, No. 16, pp. 1700-5.
- Southam, L., B. Dowling, A. Ferreira, L. Marcelline, Z. Mustafa, K. Chapman, G. Bentham, A. Carr and J. Loughlin, (2004). Microsatellite association mapping of a primary osteoarthritis susceptibility locus on chromosome 6p12.3-q13, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 50, No. 12, pp. 3910-4.
- Spector, T. D., F. Cicuttini, J. Baker, J. Loughlin and D. Hart, (1996). Genetic influences on osteoarthritis in women: a twin study, *Bmj*. Vol 312, No. 7036, pp. 940-3.
- Spector, T. D., D. J. Hart, D. Nandra, D. V. Doyle, N. Mackillop, J. R. Gallimore and M. B. Pepys, (1997). Low-level increases in serum C-reactive protein are present in early osteoarthritis of the knee and predict progressive disease, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 40, No. 4, pp. 723-7.

- Spielman, R. S., R. E. McGinnis and W. J. Ewens, (1993). Transmission test for linkage disequilibrium: the insulin gene region and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (IDDM), Am J Hum Genet. Vol 52, No. 3, pp. 506-16.
- Stannus, O., G. Jones, F. Cicuttini, V. Parameswaran, S. Quinn, J. Burgess and C. Ding, Circulating levels of IL-6 and TNF-alpha are associated with knee radiographic osteoarthritis and knee cartilage loss in older adults, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol, No.
- Stefansson, S. E., H. Jonsson, T. Ingvarsson, I. Manolescu, H. H. Jonsson, G. Olafsdottir, E. Palsdottir, G. Stefansdottir, G. Sveinbjornsdottir, M. L. Frigge, A. Kong, J. R. Gulcher and K. Stefansson, (2003). Genomewide scan for hand osteoarthritis: a novel mutation in matrilin-3, *Am J Hum Genet*. Vol 72, No. 6, pp. 1448-59.
- Steinmeyer, J. and Y. T. Konttinen, (2006). Oral treatment options for degenerative joint disease-presence and future, Adv Drug Deliv Rev. Vol 58, No. 2, pp. 168-211.
- Steinthorsdottir, V., G. Thorleifsson, I. Reynisdottir, R. Benediktsson, T. Jonsdottir, G. B. Walters, U. Styrkarsdottir, S. Gretarsdottir, V. Emilsson, S. Ghosh, A. Baker, S. Snorradottir, H. Bjarnason, M. C. Ng, T. Hansen, Y. Bagger, R. L. Wilensky, M. P. Reilly, A. Adeyemo, Y. Chen, J. Zhou, V. Gudnason, G. Chen, H. Huang, K. Lashley, A. Doumatey, W. Y. So, R. C. Ma, G. Andersen, K. Borch-Johnsen, T. Jorgensen, J. V. van Vliet-Ostaptchouk, M. H. Hofker, C. Wijmenga, C. Christiansen, D. J. Rader, C. Rotimi, M. Gurney, J. C. Chan, O. Pedersen, G. Sigurdsson, J. R. Gulcher, U. Thorsteinsdottir, A. Kong and K. Stefansson, (2007). A variant in CDKAL1 influences insulin response and risk of type 2 diabetes, *Nat Genet*. Vol 39, No. 6, pp. 770-5.
- Stephens, M. and P. Donnelly, (2003). A comparison of bayesian methods for haplotype reconstruction from population genotype data, *Am J Hum Genet*. Vol 73, No. 5, pp. 1162-9.
- Stephens, M., N. J. Smith and P. Donnelly, (2001). A new statistical method for haplotype reconstruction from population data, Am J Hum Genet. Vol 68, No. 4, pp. 978-89.
- Stern, A. G., M. R. de Carvalho, G. A. Buck, R. A. Adler, T. P. Rao, D. Disler and G. Moxley, (2003). Association of erosive hand osteoarthritis with a single nucleotide polymorphism on the gene encoding interleukin-1 beta, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 11, No. 6, pp. 394-402.
- Storm, E. E., T. V. Huynh, N. G. Copeland, N. A. Jenkins, D. M. Kingsley and S. J. Lee, (1994). Limb alterations in brachypodism mice due to mutations in a new member of the TGF betasuperfamily, *Nature*. Vol 368, No. 6472, pp. 639-43.
- Su, P., R. Li, S. Liu, Y. Zhou, X. Wang, N. Patil, C. S. Mow, J. C. Mason, D. Huang and Y. Wang, (2008). Age at onset-dependent presentations of premature hip osteoarthritis, avascular necrosis of the femoral head, or Legg-Calve-Perthes disease in a single family, consequent upon a p.Gly1170Ser mutation of COL2A1, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 58, No. 6, pp. 1701-6.
- Subramaniam, S., C. Stansberg and C. Cunningham, (2004). The interleukin 1 receptor family, *Dev Comp Immunol*. Vol 28, No. 5, pp. 415-428.
- Suomalainen, K., T. Sorsa, L. M. Golub, N. Ramamurthy, H. M. Lee, V. J. Uitto, H. Saari and Y. T. Konttinen, (1992). Specificity of the anticollagenase action of tetracyclines: relevance to their anti-inflammatory potential, *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. Vol 36, No. 1, pp. 227-9.
- Suuriniemi, M., A. Mahonen, V. Kovanen, M. Alen and S. Cheng, (2003). Relation of PvuII site polymorphism in the COL1A2 gene to the risk of fractures in prepubertal Finnish girls, *Physiol Genomics*. Vol 14, No. 3, pp. 217-24.
- Takahashi, M., Y. Matsui, T. Goto, G. Nishimura, S. Ikegawa, H. Ohashi and N. Yasui, (2006). Intrafamilial phenotypic diversity in multiple epiphyseal dysplasia associated with a COL9A2 mutation (EDM2), *Clin Rheumatol.* Vol 25, No. 4, pp. 591-5.

- Tchetverikov, I., H. K. Ronday, B. Van El, G. H. Kiers, N. Verzijl, J. M. TeKoppele, T. W. Huizinga, J. DeGroot and R. Hanemaaijer, (2004). MMP profile in paired serum and synovial fluid samples of patients with rheumatoid arthritis, *Ann Rheum Dis.* Vol 63, No. 7, pp. 881-3.
- Tegeder, I., E. Niederberger, R. Schmidt, S. Kunz, H. Guhring, O. Ritzeler, M. Michaelis and G. Geisslinger, (2004). Specific Inhibition of IkappaB kinase reduces hyperalgesia in inflammatory and neuropathic pain models in rats, *J Neurosci*. Vol 24, No. 7, pp. 1637-45.
- Terwilliger, J. D. and T. Hiekkalinna, (2006). An utter refutation of the "Fundamental Theorem of the HapMap", *Eur J Hum Genet*. Vol 14, No. 4, pp. 426-37.
- Terwilliger, J. D. and K. M. Weiss, (1998). Linkage disequilibrium mapping of complex disease: fantasy or reality?, *Curr Opin Biotechnol*. Vol 9, No. 6, pp. 578-94.
- Tetlow, L. C., D. J. Adlam and D. E. Woolley, (2001). Matrix metalloproteinase and proinflammatory cytokine production by chondrocytes of human osteoarthritic cartilage: associations with degenerative changes, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 44, No. 3, pp. 585-94.
- The 1000 Genomes Project Consortium, (2010). A map of human genome variation from population-scale sequencing, *Nature*. Vol 467, No. 7319, pp. 1061-73.
- The International HapMap Consortium, (2003). The International HapMap Project, *Nature*. Vol 426, No. 6968, pp. 789-96.
- The International HapMap Consortium, (2005). A haplotype map of the human genome, *Nature*. Vol 437, No. 7063, pp. 1299-320.
- The International HapMap Consortium, R. A. Gibbs, J. W. Belmont, P. Hardenbol, T. D. Willis, F. Yu, H. Yang, L. Ch'ang, W. Huang, B. Liu, Y. Shen, P. K. Tam, L. Tsui, M. M. Y. Waye and J. Tze-Fei, (2003). The International HapMap Project, *Nature*. Vol 426, No. 6968, pp. 789-96.
- Thomas, J. T., K. Lin, M. Nandedkar, M. Camargo, J. Cervenka and F. P. Luyten, (1996). A human chondrodysplasia due to a mutation in a TGF-beta superfamily member, *Nat Genet*. Vol 12, No. 3, pp. 315-7.
- Toivanen, A. T., M. Heliövaara, O. Impivaara, J. P. Arokoski, P. Knekt, H. Lauren and H. Kroger, (2010). Obesity, physically demanding work and traumatic knee injury are major risk factors for knee osteoarthritis--a population-based study with a follow-up of 22 years, *Rheumatology* (*Oxford*). Vol 49, No. 2, pp. 308-14.
- Towheed, T. E. and M. C. Hochberg, (1996). Health-related quality of life after total hip replacement, *Semin Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 26, No. 1, pp. 483-91.
- Towne, J. E., K. E. Garka, B. R. Renshaw, G. D. Virca and J. E. Sims, (2004). Interleukin (IL)-1F6, IL-1F8, and IL-1F9 signal through IL-1Rrp2 and IL-1RAcP to activate the pathway leading to NF-kappaB and MAPKs, *J Biol Chem*. Vol 279, No. 14, pp. 13677-13688.
- Treppo, S., H. Koepp, E. C. Quan, A. A. Cole, K. E. Kuettner and A. J. Grodzinsky, (2000). Comparison of biomechanical and biochemical properties of cartilage from human knee and ankle pairs, *J Orthop Res.* Vol 18, No. 5, pp. 739-48.
- Uchida, K., K. Urabe, K. Naruse, Z. Ogawa, K. Mabuchi and M. Itoman, (2009). Hyperlipidemia and hyperinsulinemia in the spontaneous osteoarthritis mouse model, STR/Ort, *Exp Anim*. Vol 58, No. 2, pp. 181-7.
- Ungar, D., T. Oka, E. E. Brittle, E. Vasile, V. V. Lupashin, J. E. Chatterton, J. E. Heuser, M. Krieger and M. G. Waters, (2002). Characterization of a mammalian Golgi-localized protein complex, COG, that is required for normal Golgi morphology and function, *J Cell Biol*. Vol 157, No. 3, pp. 405-15.
- Wagener, R., S. K. Gara, B. Kobbe, M. Paulsson and F. Zaucke, (2009). The knee osteoarthritis susceptibility locus DVWA on chromosome 3p24.3 is the 5' part of the split COL6A4 gene, *Matrix Biol.* Vol 28, No. 6, pp. 307-10.

- Valdes, A. M., R. J. Lories, J. B. van Meurs, H. Kerkhof, S. Doherty, A. Hofman, D. J. Hart, F. Zhang, F. P. Luyten, A. G. Uitterlinden, M. Doherty and T. D. Spector, (2009a). Variation at the ANP32A gene is associated with risk of hip osteoarthritis in women, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 60, No. 7, pp. 2046-54.
- Valdes, A. M., J. Loughlin, M. V. Oene, K. Chapman, G. L. Surdulescu, M. Doherty and T. D. Spector, (2007). Sex and ethnic differences in the association of ASPN, CALM1, COL2A1, COMP, and FRZB with genetic susceptibility to osteoarthritis of the knee, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 56, No. 1, pp. 137-46.
- Valdes, A. M., T. D. Spector, S. Doherty, M. Wheeler, D. J. Hart and M. Doherty, (2009b). Association of the DVWA and GDF5 polymorphisms with osteoarthritis in UK populations, *Ann Rheum Dis.* Vol 68, No. 12, pp. 1916-20.
- Valdes, A. M., T. D. Spector, A. Tamm, K. Kisand, S. A. Doherty, E. M. Dennison, M. Mangino, I. Kerna, D. J. Hart, M. Wheeler, C. Cooper, R. J. Lories, N. K. Arden and M. Doherty, (2010). Genetic variation in the SMAD3 gene is associated with hip and knee osteoarthritis, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 62, No. 8, pp. 2347-52.
- Wang, Q., A. L. Rozelle, C. M. Lepus, C. R. Scanzello, J. J. Song, D. M. Larsen, J. F. Crish, G. Bebek, S. Y. Ritter, T. M. Lindstrom, I. Hwang, H. H. Wong, L. Punzi, A. Encarnacion, M. Shamloo, S. B. Goodman, T. Wyss-Coray, S. R. Goldring, N. K. Banda, J. M. Thurman, R. Gobezie, M. K. Crow, V. M. Holers, D. M. Lee and W. H. Robinson, (2011). Identification of a central role for complement in osteoarthritis, *Nat Med.* Vol 17, No. 12, pp. 1674-9.
- Wang, Q., Y. P. Zheng, G. Leung, W. L. Lam, X. Guo, H. B. Lu, L. Qin and A. F. Mak, (2008). Altered osmotic swelling behavior of proteoglycan-depleted bovine articular cartilage using high frequency ultrasound, *Phys Med Biol*. Vol 53, No. 10, pp. 2537-52.
- Watters, J. W., C. Cheng, M. Pickarski, G. A. Wesolowski, Y. Zhuo, T. Hayami, W. Wang, J. Szumiloski, R. L. Phillips and T. Duong le, (2007). Inverse relationship between matrix remodeling and lipid metabolism during osteoarthritis progression in the STR/Ort mouse, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 56, No. 9, pp. 2999-3009.
- Vaxillaire, M., V. Boccio, A. Philippi, C. Vigouroux, J. Terwilliger, P. Passa, J. S. Beckmann, G. Velho, G. M. Lathrop and P. Froguel, (1995). A gene for maturity onset diabetes of the young (MODY) maps to chromosome 12q, *Nat Genet*. Vol 9, No. 4, pp. 418-23.
- Weedon, M. N., H. Lango, C. M. Lindgren, C. Wallace, D. M. Evans, M. Mangino, R. M. Freathy, J. R. Perry, S. Stevens, A. S. Hall, N. J. Samani, B. Shields, I. Prokopenko, M. Farrall, A. Dominiczak, T. Johnson, S. Bergmann, J. S. Beckmann, P. Vollenweider, D. M. Waterworth, V. Mooser, C. N. Palmer, A. D. Morris, W. H. Ouwehand, J. H. Zhao, S. Li, R. J. Loos, I. Barroso, P. Deloukas, M. S. Sandhu, E. Wheeler, N. Soranzo, M. Inouye, N. J. Wareham, M. Caulfield, P. B. Munroe, A. T. Hattersley, M. I. McCarthy and T. M. Frayling, (2008). Genome-wide association analysis identifies 20 loci that influence adult height, *Nat Genet*. Vol 40, No. 5, pp. 575-83.
- Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium, (2007). Genome-wide association study of 14,000 cases of seven common diseases and 3,000 shared controls, *Nature*. Vol 447, No. 7145, pp. 661-78.
- Venter, J. C., M. D. Adams, E. W. Myers, P. W. Li, R. J. Mural, G. G. Sutton, H. O. Smith, M. Yandell, C. A. Evans, R. A. Holt, J. D. Gocayne, P. Amanatides, R. M. Ballew, D. H. Huson, J. R. Wortman, Q. Zhang, C. D. Kodira, X. H. Zheng, L. Chen, M. Skupski, G. Subramanian, P. D. Thomas, J. Zhang, G. L. Gabor Miklos, C. Nelson, S. Broder, A. G. Clark, J. Nadeau, V. A. McKusick, N. Zinder, A. J. Levine, R. J. Roberts, M. Simon, C. Slayman, M. Hunkapiller, R. Bolanos, A. Delcher, I. Dew, D. Fasulo, M. Flanigan, L. Florea, A. Halpern, S.

Hannenhalli, S. Kravitz, S. Levy, C. Mobarry, K. Reinert, K. Remington, J. Abu-Threideh, E. Beasley, K. Biddick, V. Bonazzi, R. Brandon, M. Cargill, I. Chandramouliswaran, R. Charlab, K. Chaturvedi, Z. Deng, V. Di Francesco, P. Dunn, K. Eilbeck, C. Evangelista, A. E. Gabrielian, W. Gan, W. Ge, F. Gong, Z. Gu, P. Guan, T. J. Heiman, M. E. Higgins, R. R. Ji, Z. Ke, K. A. Ketchum, Z. Lai, Y. Lei, Z. Li, J. Li, Y. Liang, X. Lin, F. Lu, G. V. Merkulov, N. Milshina, H. M. Moore, A. K. Naik, V. A. Narayan, B. Neelam, D. Nusskern, D. B. Rusch, S. Salzberg, W. Shao, B. Shue, J. Sun, Z. Wang, A. Wang, X. Wang, J. Wang, M. Wei, R. Wides, C. Xiao, C. Yan, A. Yao, J. Ye, M. Zhan, W. Zhang, H. Zhang, Q. Zhao, L. Zheng, F. Zhong, W. Zhong, S. Zhu, S. Zhao, D. Gilbert, S. Baumhueter, G. Spier, C. Carter, A. Cravchik, T. Woodage, F. Ali, H. An, A. Awe, D. Baldwin, H. Baden, M. Barnstead, I. Barrow, K. Beeson, D. Busam, A. Carver, A. Center, M. L. Cheng, L. Curry, S. Danaher, L. Davenport, R. Desilets, S. Dietz, K. Dodson, L. Doup, S. Ferriera, N. Garg, A. Gluecksmann, B. Hart, J. Haynes, C. Haynes, C. Heiner, S. Hladun, D. Hostin, J. Houck, T. Howland, C. Ibegwam, J. Johnson, F. Kalush, L. Kline, S. Koduru, A. Love, F. Mann, D. May, S. McCawley, T. McIntosh, I. McMullen, M. Moy, L. Moy, B. Murphy, K. Nelson, C. Pfannkoch, E. Pratts, V. Puri, H. Qureshi, M. Reardon, R. Rodriguez, Y. H. Rogers, D. Romblad, B. Ruhfel, R. Scott, C. Sitter, M. Smallwood, E. Stewart, R. Strong, E. Suh, R. Thomas, N. N. Tint, S. Tse, C. Vech, G. Wang, J. Wetter, S. Williams, M. Williams, S. Windsor, E. Winn-Deen, K. Wolfe, J. Zaveri, K. Zaveri, J. F. Abril, R. Guigo, M. J. Campbell, K. V. Sjolander, B. Karlak, A. Kejariwal, H. Mi, B. Lazareva, T. Hatton, A. Narechania, K. Diemer, A. Muruganujan, N. Guo, S. Sato, V. Bafna, S. Istrail, R. Lippert, R. Schwartz, B. Walenz, S. Yooseph, D. Allen, A. Basu, J. Baxendale, L. Blick, M. Caminha, J. Carnes-Stine, P. Caulk, Y. H. Chiang, M. Coyne, C. Dahlke, A. Mays, M. Dombroski, M. Donnelly, D. Ely, S. Esparham, C. Fosler, H. Gire, S. Glanowski, K. Glasser, A. Glodek, M. Gorokhov, K. Graham, B. Gropman, M. Harris, J. Heil, S. Henderson, J. Hoover, D. Jennings, C. Jordan, J. Jordan, J. Kasha, L. Kagan, C. Kraft, A. Levitsky, M. Lewis, X. Liu, J. Lopez, D. Ma, W. Majoros, J. McDaniel, S. Murphy, M. Newman, T. Nguyen, N. Nguyen, M. Nodell, S. Pan, J. Peck, M. Peterson, W. Rowe, R. Sanders, J. Scott, M. Simpson, T. Smith, A. Sprague, T. Stockwell, R. Turner, E. Venter, M. Wang, M. Wen, D. Wu, M. Wu, A. Xia, A. Zandieh and X. Zhu, (2001). The sequence of the human genome, Science. Vol 291, No. 5507, pp. 1304-51.

- Videman, T., J. Leppävuori, J. Kaprio, M. C. Battie, L. E. Gibbons, L. Peltonen and M. Koskenvuo, (1998). Intragenic polymorphisms of the vitamin D receptor gene associated with intervertebral disc degeneration, *Spine*. Vol 23, No. 23, pp. 2477-85.
- Videman, T., J. Saarela, J. Kaprio, A. Näkki, E. Levalahti, K. Gill, L. Peltonen and M. C. Battie, (2009). Associations of 25 structural, degradative, and inflammatory candidate genes with lumbar disc desiccation, bulging, and height narrowing, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 60, No. 2, pp. 470-81.
- Vignon, E., J. P. Valat, M. Rossignol, B. Avouac, S. Rozenberg, P. Thoumie, J. Avouac, M. Nordin and P. Hilliquin, (2006). Osteoarthritis of the knee and hip and activity: a systematic international review and synthesis (OASIS), *Joint Bone Spine*. Vol 73, No. 4, pp. 442-55.
- Vikkula, M., M. Nissila, E. Hirvensalo, P. Nuotio, A. Palotie, K. Aho and L. Peltonen, (1993). Multiallelic polymorphism of the cartilage collagen gene: no association with osteoarthrosis, *Ann Rheum Dis.* Vol 52, No. 10, pp. 762-4.
- Wilkinson, L. S., A. A. Pitsillides, J. G. Worrall and J. C. Edwards, (1992). Light microscopic characterization of the fibroblast-like synovial intimal cell (synoviocyte), *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 35, No. 10, pp. 1179-84.

- Yao, W., M. Chao, Z. R. Wasserman, R. Q. Liu, M. B. Covington, R. Newton, D. Christ, R. R. Wexler and C. P. Decicco, (2002). Potent P1' biphenylmethyl substituted aggrecanase inhibitors, *Bioorg Med Chem Lett.* Vol 12, No. 1, pp. 101-4.
- Zhai, G., D. J. Hart, B. S. Kato, A. MacGregor and T. D. Spector, (2007). Genetic influence on the progression of radiographic knee osteoarthritis: a longitudinal twin study, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 15, No. 2, pp. 222-5.
- Zhai, G., J. B. van Meurs, G. Livshits, I. Meulenbelt, A. M. Valdes, N. Soranzo, D. Hart, F. Zhang, B. S. Kato, J. B. Richards, F. M. Williams, M. Inouye, M. Kloppenburg, P. Deloukas, E. Slagboom, A. Uitterlinden and T. D. Spector, (2009). A genome-wide association study suggests that a locus within the ataxin 2 binding protein 1 gene is associated with hand osteoarthritis: the Treat-OA consortium, *J Med Genet*. Vol 46, No. 9, pp. 614-6.
- Zhai, G., R. Wang-Sattler, D. J. Hart, N. K. Arden, A. J. Hakim, T. Illig and T. D. Spector, (2010). Serum branched-chain amino acid to histidine ratio: a novel metabolomic biomarker of knee osteoarthritis, *Ann Rheum Dis*. Vol 69, No. 6, pp. 1227-31.
- Zhang, W., M. Doherty, B. F. Leeb, L. Alekseeva, N. K. Arden, J. W. Bijlsma, F. Dincer, K. Dziedzic, H. J. Hauselmann, G. Herrero-Beaumont, P. Kaklamanis, S. Lohmander, E. Maheu, E. Martin-Mola, K. Pavelka, L. Punzi, S. Reiter, J. Sautner, J. Smolen, G. Verbruggen and I. Zimmermann-Gorska, (2007). EULAR evidence based recommendations for the management of hand osteoarthritis: report of a Task Force of the EULAR Standing Committee for International Clinical Studies Including Therapeutics (ESCISIT), Ann Rheum Dis. Vol 66, No. 3, pp. 377-88.
- Zhang, W., R. W. Moskowitz, G. Nuki, S. Abramson, R. D. Altman, N. Arden, S. Bierma-Zeinstra, K. D. Brandt, P. Croft, M. Doherty, M. Dougados, M. Hochberg, D. J. Hunter, K. Kwoh, L. S. Lohmander and P. Tugwell, (2008). OARSI recommendations for the management of hip and knee osteoarthritis, Part II: OARSI evidence-based, expert consensus guidelines, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 16, No. 2, pp. 137-62.
- Zhang, W., G. Nuki, R. W. Moskowitz, S. Abramson, R. D. Altman, N. K. Arden, S. Bierma-Zeinstra, K. D. Brandt, P. Croft, M. Doherty, M. Dougados, M. Hochberg, D. J. Hunter, K. Kwoh, L. S. Lohmander and P. Tugwell, (2010). OARSI recommendations for the management of hip and knee osteoarthritis: part III: Changes in evidence following systematic cumulative update of research published through January 2009, *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. Vol 18, No. 4, pp. 476-99.
- Zhang, Y., L. Xu, M. C. Nevitt, P. Aliabadi, W. Yu, M. Qin, L. Y. Lui and D. T. Felson, (2001). Comparison of the prevalence of knee osteoarthritis between the elderly Chinese population in Beijing and whites in the United States: The Beijing Osteoarthritis Study, *Arthritis Rheum*. Vol 44, No. 9, pp. 2065-71.
- Zhu, Q., D. Ge, J. M. Maia, M. Zhu, S. Petrovski, S. P. Dickson, E. L. Heinzen, K. V. Shianna and D. B. Goldstein, (2011). A Genome-wide Comparison of the Functional Properties of Rare and Common Genetic Variants in Humans, *Am J Hum Genet*. Vol, No.